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Core Values

Banklslami is strongly commited towards its core values of:
* Product authenticity

* Customer focus

* Meritocracy

* Integrity

+ Team work

*  Humility
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Script and
Calligrapher:

We opted for the Arabic script for its
versatility and beauty. 'Khat-Sulus', a script
which has graced the Islamic monuments
from the subcontinent to Turkey and Arabia,
including the two most sacred mosques was
opted for. It stands for timeless traditions and
values that Muslims in these regions have
shared for centuries - trade and commerce
included. Ustad Shafig-uz-Zaman, the only
person chosen to do calligraphy in the
Masjid-e-Nabwi after 500 years, is behind
crafting of the logo.

A simple and Authentic name that leaves no confusion about
what we do - only Islamic Banking!

The Crescent:

A rising crescent in the traditional green
encircles the motif and calligraphy. The
Crescent has deep association with
contemporary and modern Islam. In our
logo, it stands for Shariah encompassing
everything that we do at Banklslami.
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Profile of Shariah Supervisory Board

Mufti Irshad Ahmad Aijaz (Chairman, Shariah Supervisory Board)

Mufti Irshad Ahmad Aijaz is graduated from Jamiat-ul-Uloom Islamiyyah, Binnori Town, Karachi and obtained
his Shahadat-ul-Aalamia (Masters in Arabic and Islamic Studies) from there. Afterwards, he completed his
Takhassus fil-Iftaa (Specialization in Islamic Jurisprudence and Fatwa) from Jamia Dar-ul-Uloom, Karachi. He has
also completed his MBA program from a leading private university in Karachi, Pakistan.

He currently holds advisory position in following Institutions/ Committees:

¢ Chairman, Shariah Advisory Committee of State Bank of Pakistan
Member, AAOIFI Shariah Standard Committee — Karachi
Member, AAOIFI Ethics Committee

Member, Sub-committee on Legal and Regulatory Framework by Ministry of Finance, Government of
Pakistan

Member, Working Group on Islamic Alternatives for Liquidity Management, by State Bank of Pakistan
Consultant, Shariah Review Bureau - Bahrain

Member, ICAP- Committee on Accounting & Auditing Standards for Interest Free Modes of Financing and
Investments

e Member of Shariah Board in different Islamic Financial Institutions

He is actively involved in providing consultation for development of policies and regulations for regulatory
authorities and different Islamic financial institutions. He also regularly delivers lectures on Islamic Economics
and Finance at different forums and educational institutions including National Institute of Banking and Finance
(State Bank of Pakistan) and Centre for Islamic Economics (a division of Jamia Dar-ul-Uloom, Karachi).

Mufti Muhammad Hussain Khaleel Khail (Member, Shariah Supervisory Board)

Mufti Muhammad Hussain is a prominent scholar in the field of Islamic jurisprudence. He graduated from Jamia
Dar-ul- Uloom, Karachi and obtained his Shahadat-ul-Aalamia (Masters in Arabic and Islamic Studies) from
there. Afterwards, he completed his Takhassus fil-Iftaa (Specialization in Islamic Jurisprudence and Fatwa) from
Jamia -tur-Rasheed, Karachi.

He has been teaching Islamic studies including Figh and Fatwa for years. He has undertaken research work in
various topics including economic thoughts in Islam, financial markets, modern economic and financial issues
and Islamic banking and finance. His research works include Ushr obligation, Takaful on the basis of Waqf,
Shariah rules of wealth earned through impermissible sources and rulings on status of juristic person in Islam. He
is the author of famous book on Islamic Commercial Law, named “Asan Figh ul Muamalat”. He has also authored
several articles and issued verdicts (Fatwas) on various issues. He is associated with Jamia-tur-Rasheed, Karachi
as a senior Mufti in Darul Iftaa and lecturer in department of Fighul Muaamlaat.

Mufti Javed Ahmad (Resident Shariah Board Member)

Mufti Javed Ahmad has completed his Shahadat-ul-Alamia (Masters in Arabic and Islamic Studies) from Jamia
Dar-ul-Uloom, Karachi, and Takhassus fi Figh-el-Muamlat (Specialization in Islamic Jurisprudence of trade and
finance) from Jamia-tur-Rasheed, Karachi. He is also a Certified Shariah Advisor and Auditor (CSAA) from
AAOIF], Bahrain and Chartered Islamic Finance Professional (CIFP) from INCEIF, Malaysia. He has completed
M.A. Economics from Karachi University. He has undertaken research work in numerous topics including Islamic
Banking and Finance. He is also a member of AAOIFI Editorial Committee for Urdu translation of AAOIFI
Shariah Standard, which has successfully completed urdu translation of all Standards, and which has been
published recently. Prior to joining BankIslami, he was associated with Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes as 'Senior
Shariah Consultant' where he was engaged in Shariah Advisory, Shariah Review, Shariah Audit and Shariah
Compliance activities for more than four years.

He regularly delivers lectures on Islamic Economics and Finance at different forums and educational institutions
including National Institute of Banking and Finance (State Bank of Pakistan).
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Statement of Value Added

2018 2017
Rupees in million
Value Added
Net Spread earned 6,034 5,104
Other income 1,264 965

Operating expenses excluding staff cost,
depreciation, amortisation, donations,
defined benefit plan and defined

contribution plan, etc. (3,368) (2,815)
Provision against advances, investments & others (37) 392
Value added available for distribution 3,393 3,646

Distribution of value added

To Employees
Remuneration, defined benefit plan and
define contribution plan 2,758 2,711
To Government
Worker welfare fund 8 -
Taxation 190 (1,406)
198 (1,406)
To Society
Donations - -
To Shareholders
Depreciation 657 715
Amortisation 67 63
Retained during the year 213 1,563
937 2,341
3,893 3,646
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Six Years' Financial Summary 2013-2018

Rupees in million

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Profit & Loss Account
Profit/return Earned 12,204 10,353 10,127 8,834 7,812 6,289
Profit/return Expensed 6,170 5,250 5,791 5119 4,459 3,790
Net Spread earned 6,034 5,103 4,336 3,715 3,353 2,500
Fee,commission,brokerage & exchange Income 1,073 735 404 490 560 368
Dividend and capital gains 109 151 122 15 32 7
Other Income 82 78 111 65 40 79
Total Other Income 1,264 964 638 570 632 454
Total Income 7,298 6,068 4973 4,285 3,985 2,953
Other expenses 6,859 6,303 6,160 5,039 3,475 2,518
Profit/ (loss) before tax and provisions 439 (235)  (1,187) (754) 510 435
Provisions 37 (392)  (2,030) (482) 40 127
Profit/ (loss) before tax 403 157 844 (273) 470 308
Profit/ (loss) after tax 213 1,563 452 (196) 314 185
Statement of Finanacial Position
Paid up capital 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 5,680 5,280
Reserves 969 926 614 523 273 210
Unappropriated profit/ (loss) 1,695 1,474 213 (171) 267 25
Shareholders' equity 12,664 12,400 10,827 10,352 6,220 5,515
Surplus on revaluation of assets-net of tax 1,851 1,276 1,618 834 647 727
Net Assets 14,515 13,676 12,445 11,186 6,867 6,242
Total Assets 215,743 217,791 182,474 174,231 101,984 86,856
Earning Assets 176,410 183,421 152,493 146,200 90,629 77,398
Gross Financings 129,734 130,829 89,949 82,361 41,698 38,932
Financings-net of provisions 118,571 119,155 77,817 68,709 41,097 38,309
Non-performing Loans (NPLs) 15,403 15,837 14,534 15,684 1,062 1,109
Investments - net 38,832 42,092 46,317 35,886 30,655 31,610
Total Liabilities 201,228 204,115 170,029 163,045 95,117 80,613
Deposits & other accounts 184,693 178,310 153,736 153,058 90,331 75,226
Current & Saving Deposits (CASA) 127,102 134,741 111,037 102,491 55,234 40,556
Borrowing 7,820 15,570 6,066 3,198 561 2,538
Cost bearing Liabilities 132,767 136,010 110,912 110,800 73,688 65,141
Contingencies and commitments 23,135 23,041 25,557 29,022 9,538 10,308
Financial Ratios
Profit before Tax ratio (PBT/total income) 5.52% 2.58%  16.96% -6.36% 11.79% 10.43%
Net Spread earned / Profit Earned 49.44%, 49.29%  42.82% 42.05% 42.92% 39.74%
Other Income to Total Income 17.32% 15.88%  12.82% 13.30% 15.86% 15.36%
Total income/ Other expense ratio (excl. provisions) Times 1.06 0.96 0.81 0.85 115 117
Return on Average Equity (ROE) 1.69% 13.46% 4.27% -2.37% 5.35% 3.38%
Return on Average Assets (ROA) 0.10% 0.78% 0.25% -0.14% 0.33% 0.23%
Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) 0.27% 0.10%  0.68% -0.22% 0.58% 0.43%
Earning per Share (EPS after tax) Rs. 0.2110 1.5509 0.4487 (0.2437) 0.5777 0.3467
Gross Financings/ Deposit ratio 70.24% 73.37%  5851% 53.81% 46.16% 51.75%
Net Financings /Deposit ratio 64.20% 66.83%  50.62% 44.89% 45.50% 50.92%
Breakup value per Share (excl.surplus on rev. of assets) Rs. 12.56 12.30 10.74 10.27 10.80 10.44
Breakup value per Share (incl.surplus on rev. of assets) Rs. 14.40 13.57 12.35 11.10 11.92 11.82
Earning Assets to Total Assets ratio 81.77% 84.22%  83.57% 83.91% 88.87% 89.11%
Earning Assets to Profit bearing Liabilities Times 1.33 1.35 1.37 1.32 1.23 1.19
CASA to Total Deposits 68.82% 75.57%  72.23% 66.96% 61.15% 53.91%
NPLs to Gross Financings ratio 11.87% 1211%  16.16% 19.04% 2.55% 2.85%
Total Assets to Equity Times 17.04 17.56 16.85 16.83 16.40 15.75
Deposit to Shareholders' equity Times 14.58 14.38 14.20 14.79 14.52 13.64
Capital Adequacy Ratio 15.10% 14.68%  13.43% 12.34% 16.70% 15.37%
Market value per share-Dec 31 Rs. 12.00 9.29 13.36 11.50 9.81 6.94
Non Financial Information
Number of branches 330 330 321 317 213 201
Total number of employees 3,052 3,350 3,206 2,929 2,150 1,520
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Chairman’s Message

It brings me immense pleasure to present the Annual Report of BankIslami Pakistan Limited (the ‘Bank’ or
‘BankIslami’) for the year 2018.

BanklIslami initiated its journey in the year 2004 and is on the course of completing its 15 years in 2019 as a
full-fledge Islamic Bank in Pakistan, InshaAllah. This journey has been filled with both challenges and successes
which aimed to provide seamless Shariah compliant financial products and innovative technology based banking
solutions for its growing customer base. Likewise, the year 2018 also proved to be another exciting year, wherein
your Bank witnessed transition in its leadership with appointment of Syed Amir Ali as the President and CEO. Mr.
Amir Ali is a seasoned professional with over 20 years of experience in diversified fields of Corporate Banking,
Investment Banking, Oil & Gas and Professional Auditing. His appointment is a testament to Bank’s commitment
to serve its customers and stakeholders the right way by bringing the best possible people aboard. On behalf of
the Board and Shareholders, I would like to thank Mr. Hasan A. Bilgrami for his utmost dedication and passionate
contribution towards the growth of the Bank as the founding President and CEO and wish him success for his
future endeavors.

With change at the helm of the Organization, the Bank underwent an internal reorganization to optimize its
management structure and operational platform. This reorganization was carried out to (i) promote business
transformation and innovation, (ii) enhance service and performance standards, (iii) strengthen the Bank’s
financial profile to counter potential economic shocks, and (iv) generate healthy returns for its stakeholders.

Going forward, we will endeavor to grow the asset base covering all segments, namely Corporate, SME,
Agriculture, Consumer and Public Sector. A special focus is being made on growing deposit base through offering
innovative products and excellent customer service through its network of 330 branches covering 113 cities. It
gives me immense pride to share that during the year, BankIslami was awarded ‘Most Innovative Banking
Solution Provider - Bio metric’ at International Finance Banking Awards 2018, for its Bio Banking service. This
service has now been branded as ‘One Touch Banking’ and formally launched in February 2019, Alhamdullilah. The
customers of BankIslami can carry out transactions by using their thumb impression.

At BanklIslami, the protection of customers’ data is our utmost priority. Accordingly, given increasing threats on
Cyber Security, the Bank is making substantial investment towards improvement in its information technology
and information security structure to ensure safety of its customer’s data and financial transactions.

During the outgoing year, the Board carried out formal process of evaluation of its performance and its
sub-committees. The overall performance of the Board and its sub-committees measured on the defined
parameters was satisfactory. An action plan was also devised to enable the Board and its sub-committees to
further improve going forward.

I would like to take this opportunity to convey our deep appreciation to the State Bank of Pakistan, Ministry of
Finance and the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan for their continuous commitment and support
towards the growth of Islamic financial system.

I would also like to express my acknowledgement to our valuable customers, shareholders, members of the

Shariah Supervisory Board and Board Members as well as employees of the Bank, who have built their trust in us
and have supported the cause of BankIslami to promote Islamic Banking in Pakistan.

ol
! )\M
Ali Hussain
Chairman of the Board of Directors

February 28, 2019
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Directors” Report

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, we would like to present the Directors' Report of BankIslami Pakistan Limited
(‘the Bank' or “BanklIslami') along with the Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Principal Activities

BanklIslami principally operates as a licensed and full-fledged Scheduled Islamic Commercial Bank.
The Bank is operating with 330 branches including 81 sub-branches as at December 31, 2018 and offers
various Shariah compliant services to its clients which includes:

- Corporate and Commercial financing
- SME and Agriculture financing

- Consumer financing

- Trade finance

- Retail banking

- Investment banking

- Treasury services

Macroeconomic Overview & Business Outlook
Macroeconomic Overview

Pakistan's economy continues to grow despite the persistent challenges of current account deficit,
fiscal deficit and high core inflation. During FY18, Pakistan achieved its highest GDP growth rate of
5.8% in eleven years, however real economic activity witnessed a slowdown in the first half of FY19
mainly due to rising demand pressure, rupee depreciation and rising interest rates. Moreover, increase
in average CPI inflation to 6% as compared to 3.8% recorded during the same period last year and
imbalances on the fiscal front coupled with large trade & current account deficit have created certain
weaknesses in economic landscape that could slow down the expected future growth.

SBP tightened the monetary policy and reversed its accommodative stance during CY18 which
resulted in an increase in policy rate by 425 basis points to 10% between January and November of year
2018 to address the pressure on the demand side.

The widening current account and fiscal deficits resulted in an increase in the public debt-to-GDP ratio
to 73.5 % at the end of FY18. Owing to increase in the oil import bill on account of higher international
oil prices during FY18, imports rose by 15% to USD 56.1 billion. In contrast, as a result of the impact of
recent tightening measures, import growth rate decelerated to 3.2% during July-December FY19 from
growth rate of 18.6 % registered in the same period last year. Reduction in non-oil imports, increase in
exports and workers' remittances tapered the current account deficit from USD 8.4 billion in 1HY18 to
USD 8 billion in THY19. However, foreign exchange reserves remained under pressure falling to USD
13.7 billion at the end of December 2018 from USD 20.1 billion at the end of December 2017.
Nevertheless, realization of bilateral official flows in January 2019 has helped in increasing foreign
exchange reserves to USD 14.8 billion in January 2019.

Going forward, impacts on inflation from exchange rate depletion during first half of FY19, escalation

in gas and electricity tariffs, and higher government borrowings from SBP are expected to get off-set
by impacts ensuing from increase in policy rates and the decline in international oil prices.
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Accordingly, the projected rate of inflation is expected to range between 6.5% to 7.5%. However,
bearing in mind that stabilizing measure will gradually bring in its effect on macro front, high level of
current account deficit and underlying inflationary pressures; policy rate was further increased by 25
basis points to 10.25% by the apex authority in January 2019.

According to World Bank’s Report on Pakistan (issued in October 2018), growing macroeconomic
imbalances are expected to bring downward impact on the growth outlook for FY19. GDP growth is
projected to register at 4.8% for FY19; nonetheless, the same is forecasted to reach 5.2% in FY20 which
will be conditional upon macroeconomic stability, conducive external environment, favorable
exchange rates, recovery in exports and stable international oil prices. The institute has also pressed for
immediate macroeconomic adjustments to correct twin deficits otherwise diminished foreign currency
reserves and elevated debt ratio may weaken Pakistan’s capacity to withstand any external shocks.
Medium term structural reforms are also essential for growth based on investment and productivity.

Banking Industry Outlook

Given the upward trend in interest rates and weakening of Pakistan rupee, demand for consumer
lending, corporate financing and import business is expected to remain stressed during the year 2019.
However, factors such as reduction in global oil prices and other seasonal factors combined with
increasing inflation and higher Rupee Dollar parity are likely to translate into more demand for
working capital and export related financings.

The banks’ investment may shift from short term to medium-long term government securities given
that the policy rate has increased to 10.25%. Deposit inflow will remain dependent upon banks'
business strategy and depositors’ preferences which will be driven by macroeconomic conditions and
their saving requirements.

In the near future, increasing interest rate is likely to have a positive impact on the banking sector’s net
spread, however, banks may experience surge in delinquencies in their financing portfolio.
Additionally, banks are also likely to maintain adequate solvency profile considering the firm
regulatory requirements under Basel-III.

FINANCIAL PEREORMANCE 31-Dec-18  31-Dec-17 Variance

Rs. in million

Profit and Loss Account

Profit / return earned 12,204 10,354 179 %
Profit / return expensed 6,170 5,250 17.5 %
Net Spread Earned 6,034 5,104 182 %
Operating Profit / (loss) 439 (235) 2.9 times
Profit after taxation 213 1,563 -86.4%
Earnings per share (in Rupees) 0.211 1.551 -86.4%

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 Variance

Rs. in Milli
Statement of Financial Position i —

Net Assets 14,515 13,676 6.1 %
Deposits 184,693 178,310 3.6 %
Financing and related assets - net 118,571 119,155 -0.5%
Investments — net 38,832 42,092 7.7 %
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The Bank continued the momentum of depicting growth. During the year 2018, its deposit base grew
by 3.6% and closed the position at Rs. 184.7 billion. With emphasis on mobilization of core deposits,
other than FI deposits, Current and Saving accounts (CASA) mix of the Bank increased from Rs. 113.9
billion as at December 2017 to Rs. 119.4 billion as at December 2018. In line with Bank’s aggressive
strategy to increase its deposit base with an enhanced focus towards core deposits and planned launch
of competitive products, CASA mix together with overall deposits of the Bank are expected to improve
in the years ahead.

Deposits No. of Depository Account
200000 8310 184693 800,000 706,887 /47,882
]l 153,058 153,736 700,000 1 549,047 523,633
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While there was a slight dip in Bank’s net financing, consumer finance being the flagship business line
of Banklslami, grew by 21.6% to Rs. 24.2 billion in December 2018 from Rs. 19.9 billion in December
2017. Going forward, though the Bank envisions growing trend in its consumer segment, increase in
benchmark rates and prevailing inflationary pressure may put some constraints for the Bank and it
may adapt a cautious approach to extend consumer financing particularly in housing sector. However,
the Bank will be making strides in the year 2019 to increase its exposure towards rated corporate
clients, SME sector, Agriculture financing and public sector entities anticipating an overall
improvement in its assets base and credit risk profile.

80 —

Net Spread Margin
70 —
60 —
50 —
el e — 49% 49%
40 — —
43¢ 429 9
0% b % 43%
30 —
20 —
10 —
0 | | |
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With gradual inflow of funds through deposits together with an increase in policy rate, the Bank was
able to improve return on its average earning assets throughout the year, resulting in an increase of
18.2% in its net spread earned. However, on the other side its net spread margins remained at the same
level of 49%. This was mainly due to certain non-earning investments/assets on the balance sheet for
which the Bank has formulated a strategy to address the same. The net spread earned is expected to
improve in the year 2019 through gradual repricing of Bank’s current Islamic financing portfolio and
fresh disbursements on new profit rates.

Non-funded income earned through trade business, alternative distribution channels, investment
banking and general banking also grew by a massive 30% during the year 2018 as the Bank operated
with a strategy to enhance its fee based revenue streams through these segments. During the year 2019,
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the Bank has introduced free of charge general banking services for its customers. While this may have
a downward impact on Bank’s fee income, it will create a positive impact on Bank’s topline
profitability and balance sheet profile as this measure is expected to attract new retail and corporate

customers.
140 — .
Expense to Income Ratio
123%
124 — 118%
108 —
94
104% %
92 -
87%
76
60 ‘
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Despite the challenging business environment and rising inflation rate, the Bank's operating expenses
grew by 8.2% only. The cost control remained a pivotal point of the Bank's strategy. Accordingly,
measures were undertaken during the year to optimize cost, including evaluation of added costs and
new vendors by running cost and benefit analysis. The cost increase over the last year primarily
represents the impact of inflation and induction of staff at critical vacant positions in line with the
planned re-organization and expansion plans of the Bank.

Operating Profit / ( Loss)

Rs in million

400 |
200 aj 510 439
0 |

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
(235)

600 —

-200 —

-400
(754)

-600 7 (1,186)
-800 —
-1000 —

-1200 —

-1400 —

The Bank reported profit after tax of Rs. 213 million in the year 2018 as compared to Rs. 1,563 million
of last year. This variation mainly pertains to one-off deferred tax adjustment considered in the year
2017. The operating profits of the Bank have remained under stress since its amalgamation with
defunct KASB Bank, nonetheless signs of improvement have started on the back of efforts made by the
Management of the Bank by bringing in synergy, growth in balance sheet and eradication of process
inefficiencies. Resultantly, BankIslami posted operating profits to the tune of Rs. 439 million for the
year 2018 in contrast to the operating losses amounting to Rs. 235 million and Rs. 1.19 billion posted
during the years 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Achievements and New Initiatives
Marketing and Communication

BankIslami has emerged as an award winner for International Finance Awards 2018 in the category of
— “Most Innovative Banking Solution Provider - Biometric — Pakistan 2018”. We have successfully
branded the product as One Touch Banking and have also developed an Integrated Marketing
Communication plan including a TV commercial wherein the Bank will be promoting the product
with its newly inducted brand ambassador, Mr. Moin Khan (former Captain of Pakistan Cricket Team).

As a digital marketing activity, the Bank placed its banners on the renowned website of ESPN Cricinfo
during the Asia-Cup event. These banners were strategically placed to capture cricket followers for the
purposes of lead generation. This led to positive impression towards our potential customers.

Investment Banking

Investment Banking services of the Bank depicted stellar growth, generating fee income of Rs. 150
million during the year 2018, wherein it closed 3 mandates including issuance of Rs. 7.0 billion Islamic
Commercial Paper (CP) of K — Electric Ltd (KE), being one of the largest transactions of this nature. The
role of Banklslami’s Shariah Department is also commendable for their contribution towards
structuring and issuance of the aforementioned CP based on ‘Wakala-tul-Istismar’ model. The Bank
also served as a facility adviser and arranger for the structured GoP backed Diminishing Musharakah
finance facility for Pakistan International Airline.

Consumer Finance

The Bank successfully entered into Strategic Alliances with Audi Pakistan, Indus Motor Company,
Honda Atlas and Al-Haj FAW for its Islami Auto Finance. These alliances have been arranged in such
a manner that the Bank can gain mileage through promotional and co-branding activities together
with exclusive feature of priority delivery for its customers.

In Housing Finance, the Bank made disbursements to the tune of Rs. 4.3 billion during the year 2018
and is leading in overall Banking Industry with a landmark portfolio of Rs. 13.5 billion. During the
year, BankIslami also entered into partnership with DHA Multan to offer financing solutions to its
customers.

Retail Banking

On the cross sell and wealth management front, the Bank Initiated Referral Family Takaful Sales with
Jubilee Life (Takaful Window) which is at present the largest private sector life assurance company of
Pakistan. Moreover, to bring in efficiency in its cross sell model, the Bank has launched an interactive
Takaful Portal to issue cover note within its premises in partnership with Pak Qatar and Jubilee life.
In 2019, the Bank also introduced free of charge Inter Bank Fund Transfer services. Through this,
BanklIslami’s customers can transfer their funds to any bank in Pakistan by providing cheque or using
Bank’s state of the art ‘One Touch Banking’ service.

Information Technology

The Bank successfully acquired EMV certification for its debit cards to perform more secure
transactions. EMV is the global standard for processing of secured transactions through chip based
cards. As an enhancement to ‘Business Continuation Process’ the Bank activated its Disaster Recovery
Site in Lahore to enable the Bank to continue its banking operations in case of any disaster. In order to
provide seamless ADC services, the Bank successfully migrated its ADC applications on Oracle’s 11g
data management system so that the Bank can provide faster and efficient services to its customers.
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In order to improve and strengthen the Bank’s Security posture, we have invested heavily on
information technology structure. This includes acquisition and installation of next generation data
center firewall, web firewall, virtual patching mechanism, network level sand boxing and advance
threat protection and breach detection systems.

Product Development

On the product development side, the Bank innovatively used its existing Karobar Finance product in
the Agricultural Finance sector to provide a Shariah compliant solution for financing against
Warehousing Receipt. Moreover, Islamic Long Term Financing Facility (ILTFF) product, a SBP
Refinance Scheme, was also launched during the year 2018.

Shariah Compliance

During the year 2018, Shariah Governance Framework of the Bank has been updated in order to
streamline Shariah compliance environment of the Bank. Moreover, Shariah team visited various cities
to conduct Shariah Review of branches across the country to ensure Shariah compliant environment at
branch level. The Bank also established a dedicated help line for its internal customers to address and
respond to Shariah related queries.

Human Resource

The Bank values its employees and believes that performing employees are asset for the Bank. In this
regard, Bank took various initiatives to motivate its employees. During the year, BankIslami launched
a Pay Continuation Plan from a takaful company at no additional cost to employees. A structured
training plan was rolled out at the start of the year 2018 to provide adequate training and development
opportunities to employees based on identified needs at all levels within the Bank. Various sessions of
mandatory basic Islamic Banking courses were conducted for employees joining the Bank to make
them well versed with Islamic Banking concepts. Advanced level Islamic Banking and specialized
trainings were also provided to employees as per their training needs, especially for front office
business staff of the Bank. To improve the understanding of Shariah Board members about ongoing
developments in banking and finance, specialized training session on risk management was arranged
for them. A training session was also arranged for key management to apprise them about the Shariah
Governance Framework. BankIslami has also collaborated with renowned training institutes such as
NIBAEF, CEIF, IBP etc. for imparting continuous professional development courses for its employees.

Future Strategy

BankIslami envisages its continued growth in the Islamic Banking industry in years to come and to
strengthen its position as one of the leading Islamic Bank. To accomplish this feat, the Bank has
developed a Strategic Plan for the period 2019-2021 to set clear organizational goals and to lay out a
comprehensive roadmap to achieve these goals. In formulating this Strategic Plan, a consultative
approach has been used to build consensus amongst all functions of the organization on a set of
common goals and objectives that exemplify the Vision and Mission of the Bank. This approach
ensures that all stakeholders are fully on-board with the agreed goals and are behaviorally, tactically
and operationally prepared to implement the plan. This Strategic Plan sets out 10 organizational goals
which revolves around accelerated growth in deposit base, enhancing trade business, improving credit
risk profile, leveraging technological innovation in a secured way, attracting high quality human
resource, strengthening of brand image, maintaining healthy capital base and becoming a customer
centric entity.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

The Bank strongly believes to operate in a socially responsible manner and make useful contributions
to the economy, society and the environment in which it operates. Throughout the year 2018, energy
conservation, environment protection, charity and customer satisfaction have remained the focal
points of Banklslami’s CSR efforts.

The Bank not only aims to reduce its costs by operating in the most energy efficient manner but also
aims to conserve energy and reduce the dependency of its operations on depleting energy resources of
our country. The Bank currently operates 137 out of its 330 branches on solar energy. During the year
2018, the Bank installed Solar Systems in 15 of its branches bringing the installed capacity to 542 KW
generating nearly 800 MWhr of energy per year. The Bank aims to install Solar Systems in all its new
branches in the year 2019. Furthermore, during the year 2018, the Bank also made further investment
amounting to Rs. 4.405 billion in Sukuk certificates of Neelum Jhelum Hydropower Company
(Private) Limited, which is not only seen as an investment opportunity but is considered as
contribution towards development of pollution free power generation infrastructure for the country
which anticipates to reduce power shortages in future.

The Bank also acknowledges its responsibility towards environment, particularly when pollution has
become a problem in many areas of our country. In line with its environmental protection goals, the
Bank in coordination with City District Government planted 3,000 trees as part of its ‘Plant a Hope’
campaign and also instructed each of its branches to plant one tree around branch. As part of the
Bank's ‘Plantation for the Nation” campaign, Chairman east of the City District Government along
with senior management of the Bank participated in the plantation of trees in one of the busiest
locations of Karachi. The Bank aims to continue the same effort in the coming year and make a
meaningful contribution to the environment.

Charity payments made by the Bank are not only for the sake of income purification and compliance
purposes but are also aimed towards making a valuable contribution to the society and bring about a
positive change. Charity payments are, therefore, meant to support and aimed at such organizations
which conform to the idea of public welfare and have a history of such efforts. Details of charity
payments made by the Bank are mentioned in note 19.2.1 to the financial statements.

Customer Service Quality

The Bank values its customers and takes pride in servicing them. Customer satisfaction is one of the
key success factors of any banking operation therefore, the Bank values customer feedback and aims
to understand the needs of its customers. The Bank believes to work more closely with its customers
in order to develop a relationship which is based on trust and is not just transactional in nature. During
the year 2018, the Bank geared its efforts to make this possible through ‘Customer Appreciation Day’,
where members of the Bank's senior management spent an entire working day at the branches and
interacted with customers directly. This not only provided senior management better insight over
customer needs but also provided a chance to demonstrate to its customers that they are valuable to
the Bank and their feedback is respected. Total of 30 Customer Appreciation Days at different branches
were held throughout the year 2018.

Statement of Internal Controls

The Board is pleased to endorse the statement made by the management relating to internal controls
including management’s evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting, included in the
Annual Report. The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring that an adequate
and effective internal control system covering all aspects of our banking operations is in place and
vigorously followed by management.
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The Board confirms compliance with highest standard of Corporate Governance and that the Bank’s
existing system of Internal Control is sound in design and is being effectively implemented and
monitored.

Risk Management Framework

The objective of risk management is to effectively manage uncertainties that arise in the normal course
of business activities. It is one of the most important areas of the banking business through which the
Bank manages enterprise wide risks with the objective of maximizing risk-adjusted returns while
remaining within the risk appetite. The Risk Management Group has the following divisions, headed
by senior executives, reporting to the Head - Risk Management:

® Corporate Credit Management

¢ Consumer Credit Management

e Risk Policy & Analytics (Market, Liquidity & Operational Risk)

e IT Security

* Special Assets Management

e Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) and Bank’s Policy & Procedures

Specialized committees, comprising of members from senior management with relevant experience
and expertise, perform their functions in line with overall strategy set by the Board so as to ensure that
exposures are within risk appetite. The committees include:

1. Management Credit Committee (MCC)
2. Asset Liability Committee (ALCO)

The MCC ensures that credit risk activities are in line with the Board’s approved policies, regulatory
requirements, Bank’s risk appetite and best industry practices. ALCO reviews market, liquidity and
country risk exposures, assets and liabilities maturity profile, sets pricing and takes decisions for
sound liquidity management with respect to consumer assets and quality acquisitions. Policies and
processes have been amended with a view to be made more stringent which would lead to further
improvement in asset quality.

The risk associated with Equity, Foreign Exchange and Liquidity are being continuously measured and
monitored by the Market Risk function. Stress testing and sensitivity measures are used as risk
management tools to monitor and manage the market risk. Assets quality is being ensured through
comprehensive financing policies and procedures, appropriately delegated financing approval
authorities, adequate collateral coverage, its documentation and periodic reviews. Growth in
financing is ensured while focusing on comprehensive risk analysis and portfolio diversification. The
Bank calculates value at risk for market risk assessment. Day-to-day liquidity management is done
through cash flow matching, meeting regulatory reserve requirement and maintaining adequate liquid
assets. Various liquidity ratios are being monitored to assess any possible liquidity risk.

The role of market and liquidity risk function in monitoring of treasury activities has been
strengthened with various limits structuring, their monitoring, reporting and system improvements.
Loss data reporting, self-assessment of risk and control, enhanced coverage of key risk indicators,
documenting and improving upon Bank’s processes through risk identification and mitigates
demonstrate continuous improvements in operational risk management framework.
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Continued efforts are being made to enhance the scope of a robust ‘Operational Risk Management
Framework’. The Bank has an internal operational risk awareness program which is aimed at building
capacity and inculcating a risk free culture in the staff through trainings and on-job awareness for
promoting greater risk awareness.

The Bank has maintained its CAR at 15.10% well above the regulatory thresholds of 11.90% throughout
the year under the prescribed Basel-III regulations. The Bank has grown its CAR by carefully
monitoring and managing the risk profile of its asset portfolio which resulted in an improved CAR of
15.10% for 2018 as compared to 14.68% in 2017.

BankIslami has established an extensive Information Security (IS) Program and governance structure
to manage the security of the information assets. The sensitive information managed by the Bank
including the data entrusted to BanklIslami by its customers, partners and staff are among the
organization’s most valuable assets. Given the competitive nature of the Bank’s business and
significant value of the data it manages, the Risk group in conjunction with business and technology,
have taken necessary measures to minimize the risk.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (ICFR)

The Bank diligently followed the State Bank of Pakistan’s (SBP) Guidelines on Internal Controls to
evaluate the effectiveness of the overall set of internal controls including financial reporting controls.
A detailed documentation of Bank-wide processes and controls was completed, together with a
comprehensive gap analysis of the control design and subsequent development of remediation plan
for the identified gaps. Furthermore, the Bank has developed a comprehensive management testing
and reporting framework for ensuring operating effectiveness of key controls and has significantly
addressed the identified design improvements. Upon satisfactory completion of the Internal Control
over Financial Reporting (ICFR) roadmap, SBP granted exemption to the Bank in the year 2017 from
the submission of Long Form Report (LFR) by external auditors. Annual assessment report for 31
December 2018 on efficacy of ICFR shall henceforth be submitted through the Board’s Audit
Committee. The management will endeavor to continue enhancing its coverage and compliance with
the SBP Guidelines on Internal Controls and thereby strengthening its control environment on an
ongoing basis.

Capital Plan

The Bank views capital planning as an essential component for operating in a challenging and

dynamic economic environment and comply with the robust regulatory requirements. We also believe
that sound capital planning is critical for determining a prudent composition and level of capital so
that the institute remains consistent with its strategic business plan, while also withstanding any
stressful event. In line with this, the Board of the Bank has devised a comprehensive Capital Strategy
and Enhancement Plan to remain compliant on longer term horizon with applicable Basel IIl and MCR
framework stipulated by SBP.
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Directors’ Statement on Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework

The Board of Directors is fully cognizant of its responsibility under the Listed Companies Code of
Corporate Governance Regulations, 2017 (CCG) issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of
Pakistan (SECP) and adopted by SBP. The following statements are a manifestation of its commitment
towards high standards of Corporate Governance and continuous organizational improvement:

The financial statements prepared by the management of the Bank present fairly its state of affairs,
the results of its operations, cash flow and changes in equity.

Proper books of account of the Bank have been maintained.

Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in preparation of financial
statements and accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.

International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan have been followed in the
preparation of financial statements and any departure there from has been adequately disclosed
and explained.

The system of internal control is sound in design and has been effectively implemented and
monitored.

There are no doubts upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
There has been no material departure from the best practices of CCG.

The value of investments of the Bank’s Provident Fund and Gratuity Fund based on un-audited
accounts at 31 December 2018 amounted to Rs. 774.626 million and Rs. 302.155 million respectively.

Following information enclosed as annexure to the Directors’ Report.
I.  The purchase and sale of shares by the Directors and the Chief Executive during the year.

II. Key operating and financial data of last six years.

Compliance with Code of Corporate Governance

The requirements of the Listed Companies Code of Corporate Governance Regulation, 2017 (CCG)
issued by Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) relevant for the year ended 31
December 2018 have been adopted by the Bank and have been duly complied with. A statement to this
effect is annexed with the Annual Report.

Composition of the Board

In line with the requirements of the CCG, the Bank encourages representation of independent and
non-executive directors on the Board.

The current composition of the Board is as follows:
Total number of Directors 8
Composition:

(i) Independent Directors:
(ii) Non-executive Directors:
(iii) Executive Director:
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Names of Directors, Committees of The Board and Directors' Attendance

. . . Human Resource Board Remuneration Risk Managment : i
Board of Directors Audit Committee I t Committee Committee Committee Executive Committee
S.No Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
8 & g 8 & 2
Hel.d Attendance Hel.d Attendance Hel‘d Attendance Hel.d Attendance Hel'd Attendance Hel'd Attendance
During o During . During . During o During . During o
the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
1 Mr. Ali Hussain 6 6 * * * * * * * * 2 2
2 Mr. Fawad Anwar 6 6 * * 3 2 3 2 6 6 2 2
3 Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain
Ali Mohamad Alshamali 6 6 4 4 3 2 3 2 * * * *
4 Dr. Amjad Waheed 6 5 4 3 * * * * * * * *

5 Mr. Hasan A. Bilgrami,

President and Chief Executive
Officer™* 3 3 * * 2 2 * * 4 4 1 1
6 Mr. Muhammad Nadeem

Faroog *** 4 4 * N B N * N * N B N
7 Mr. Noman Yakoob 6 6 4 4 * * * * * * * *
8 | Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy 6 6 * * 3 2 3 2 6 6 2 1
9 Mr. Syed Amir Ali, President

and Chief Executive Officer ***** 3 3 * * 1 1 * * 2 2 1 1

* Not a member of the Committee
** Leave of absence was granted to those directors/members, by the Board / Committee, who could not attend some of the meetings.

*** Last working day of Mr. Hasan A Bilgrami as President & Chief Executive Officer was September 30, 2018. From January 1, 2018 to September
30, 2018 three Board of Directors meetings were held.

**** Board had co-opted Mr. Muhammad Nadeem Farooq as Director on May 21, 2018 subject to SBP approval, SBP approval was received on
August 8, 2018. From August 8, 2018 to December 31, 2018 three Board of Directors meetings, two Human Resource Management Committee
meetings, 3 Risk Management Committee meetings and one Executive committee meeting were held.

% Mr. Syed Amir Ali took over the charge of President & Chief Executive Officer on October 1, 2018. From October 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018
three Board of Directors meetings were held. He was also appointed as member of Human Resource Management Committee, Risk Management
Committee and Executive Committee effective from October 22, 2018. From October 22, 2018 to December 31, 2018 one Human Resource
Management Committee meeting, 4 Risk Management Committee meetings and one Executive Committee meeting were held.

Directors' Remuneration

Chairman, non-executive directors and independent directors are entitled only for the fee for
attending the Board meetings. The levels of remuneration are appropriate and commensurate with the
level of responsibility and expertise required to govern in the best interest of the Bank and its
Shareholders. The fee will be paid as approved by the Board of Directors and Shareholders in Annual
General Meeting. Formal remuneration policy in this respect has been approved by the Board in
February 2019.

Performance Evaluation Mechanism for the Board

During the year, the Board undertook a formal process of evaluation of its performance and its
sub-committees, together with an action plan to bring in improvement going forward. The overall
performance of the Board and its sub-committees measured on the defined parameters for the year
was satisfactory.

Directors' Training

Presently three directors have already completed the prescribed certification under Director Training
Program (DTP) as per the requirement of Code of Corporate Governance. One of the director shall
obtain certification under the DTP by June 30, 2019 in compliance with the CCG. The remaining
directors will comply with the requirement as per the prescribed time line. Furthermore, all Directors
are fully conversant with their duties and responsibilities as Directors of corporate bodies.
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Pattern of Shareholding

The Bank is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. The detailed pattern and categories of its
shareholding including shares held by directors and executives, if any, are annexed to the Annual
Report.

Auditors

The present Auditors EY Ford Rhodes, Chartered Accountants., retire and being eligible offer
themselves for re-appointment. As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, the Audit
Committee has recommended the appointment of EY Ford Rhodes, Chartered Accountants., as
Auditors for the year ending 31 December 2019.

Credit Rating

The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited (PACRA) has maintained the long-term entity rating of
BankIslami at "A+" and short-term rating at “A1".

Litigations

The Bank is party to several litigations either initiated by it or initiated against it by various parties.
The Bank is confident, based on the legal advice that there exists no material uncertainty due to these
litigations. Updates and developments with respect to major cases is as follows:

Update Related to Amalgamation with Defunct KASB Bank Limited

Litigation against the Bank, directly related to merger of defunct KASB Bank with and into BankIslami,
comprises of cases at Honorable Sindh High Court, Lahore High Court and Islamabad High Court.
The Honorable Sindh High Court has disposed-off prayers in three Constitutional Petitions, without
any negative inference to the Bank, and issued certain directions to SBP which were then complied
with. However, the Petitioners filed Appeals before the Honorable Supreme Court. Subsequently in
the month of August 2018, these Appeals were also dismissed by the Honorable Supreme Court,
Alhamdulillah. However, the Petitioners again filed Review Petitions in the Honorable Supreme Court,
which have also been dismissed in the month of December 2018. Similarly, the cases at Lahore High
Court have also been dismissed in the month of November 2018. Now, the cases at Islamabad High
Courts are pending. In addition, the Petitioners have filed a new Civil Suit at Sindh High Court.
However, our lawyers are confident that on the basis of Decision of the Honorable Supreme Court, the
subject cases will also be dismissed in the Bank’s favour.

The Bank, subsequent to amalgamation of defunct KASB Bank, came to know about certain
transactions, as identified by SBP including but not limited to fraudulent activities of certain directors
/ parties of defunct KASB Bank. The Bank, in line with instructions from SBP, took legal course of
action in this regard and lodged separate complaints with National Accountability Bureau (‘NAB’),
which afterwards led to formal inquiries by the NAB. These inquiries are yet pending.

Cyber Incident

The Bank’s one of the international payment card schemes witnessed certain abnormal transactions on
October 27, 2018. The Bank immediately took precautionary measures to protect its internal system
and customer accounts. Subsequently, the Bank was informed by its international payment scheme
that some transactions amounting to USD 6.1 million were made on international ATMs using
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Bank’s issued cards, however, the Bank did not acknowledge these transactions as these were never
landed on Bank'’s system. The incident was reported to Pakistan Stock Exchange on October 29, 2018.
In connection with this incident the Bank filed a suit for declaration and injunction in Sindh High
Court and matter at the moment is pending adjudication. Moreover, the Bank has also initiated an
independent forensic review of the matter and continues to work closely with the relevant authorities
and regulators on this incident. At present, it is not practical to reliably estimate any impact of this
incident. Therefore, the matter has been disclosed in the Contingencies and Commitments in the
annexed annual financial statements (Refer Note - 23.3.3).
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Annexure to the Directors' Report

The purchase and sale of shares by Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Executives and their spouse and
minor children during the year are given below.

No. of Shares held / No. of

Name Designation Shares as at fi“b§“ﬂ:ﬁd Shares as at
Jan. 01,2018 “r;{‘e‘i € Dec. 31,2018

Mr. Ali Hussain Chairman 158,967,492 - 158,967,492
Mr. Fawad Anwar Vice Chairman 1,750 - 1,750
Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain

Ali Mohamad Alshamali Director - 500 500
Dr. Amjad Waheed Director 500 - 500
Mr. Noman Yakoob Director 16,709,207 - 16,709,207
Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy Director 5,000 - 5,000
Mr. Asim Saleem Executive - 84,000 84,000

Mr. Hasan A Bilgrami was holding the office of President & Chief Executive Officer of the Bank till September
30, 2018, during the period from January 1, 2018 till September 30, 2018 he was holding 939,697 shares of the
Bank.

Mr. Ali Mohammad Hussain Ali Mohamad Alshamali had purchased 500 shares of the Bank on May 8, 2018.

Mr. Asim Saleem joined the Bank effective from October 16, 2018, on the date he was holding 84,000 shares of
the Bank.
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Statement of Internal Control

Statement of Management's Responsibility
It is the responsibility of the Bank's management to:

e Establish and maintain an adequate and effective system of internal controls and
procedures for an efficient working environment to obtain desired objectives.

e Evaluate the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control system that encompasses
material matters by identifying control objectives, reviewing significant policies and
procedures and establishing relevant control procedures.

Management Evaluation of the Effectiveness of the Bank's Internal Control System

Concerted and integrated efforts are made by each function of the Bank to improve the
Control Environment at all levels through continuous reviewing and streamlining of
procedures to prevent and rectify any control deficiencies. Each function, under the
supervision of the Senior Executive Management, is entrusted with the responsibility to
oversee rectification of control deficiencies identified by internal and external auditors
and regulators. The control activities are also being closely monitored through risk
management and compliance functions ensuring adherence to regulatory requirements
and the Bank’s internal policies and procedures.

During the year under review, in accordance with SBP-BSD Circular No. 7 of 2004, the
Bank formulated/ reviewed and updated various key policies and procedures for its
different lines of business. While formulating such policies clear line of authority and
responsibility have been established in order to ensure accountability and effective
internal control system.

The scope of Internal Audit department, independent from the line management,
includes assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system
across the Bank, and compliance with prescribed policies and procedures. All significant
findings of Internal Audit assessments are periodically reported to the Board Audit
Committee.

The Bank's internal control system is designed to mitigate, rather than to eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve the business objective, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatements or losses. Moreover, the projection of
current evaluations of the effectiveness to future periods is subject to a limitation that
controls may become inadequate due to changes in control environment. However, it is
an ongoing process that includes identification, evaluation and mitigation of significant
risks faced by the Bank.

The Bank initiated process of implementation of Internal Control Guidelines as required
by State Bank of Pakistan vide BSD Circular No. 07, of 2004 and had conducted a
detailed exercise through independent consultants; documenting and benchmarking
existing internal processes and controls relating to financial reporting. The Bank has
established a dedicated function responsible for reviewing and identifying new
processes, control gaps and updating related control documentation.

Further, the management had prepared a Road Map for the completion of all stages in
accordance with the SBP OSED Circular No. 01, dated February 07, 2014, “Instructions
on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (ICFR)”, which was approved by the
Board Audit Committee. Alhamdulillah, the Bank has completed all its stages in
accordance with the Road Map.
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In view of the above accomplishment and substantial implementation of identified
gaps, State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) granted exemption for independent statutory
assessment on Bank's ICFR program. Accordingly, the Bank submitted its annual
self-assessment report for the year ended December 31, 2017 to SBP. A similar
assessment report for the year ended December 31, 2018, will be submitted within the
time frame stipulated in the aforementioned circular.

Based on the results of the ongoing evaluation of internal controls carried out during the
year, the Management considers that the Bank’s existing internal control system is
adequately designed, operating effectively, and monitored consistently. Nevertheless,
the management continuously endeavors to enhance and further strengthen the internal
control system of the Bank.

Based on the above, the Board of Directors duly endorses above management’s
evaluation of the internal control system.

For and on behalf of the Board

—

Syed Amir Ali
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 28, 2019
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Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2017

For the year ended December 31, 2018

The Bank has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:
1. The total number of directors are eight (8) as per the following;:
a. Male: Eight (8) Directors including President & Chief Executive Officer
b. Female: None
In accordance with the contents of Regulation 7 of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2017 (“the 2017 Code”) grace period is available to the Bank in

appointing female director.

2. The composition of Board is as follows:

Category Names

Independent Directors Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain Ali Mohamad Alshamali
Dr. Amjad Waheed

Other Non-Executive Directors Mr. Ali Hussain

Mr. Fawad Anwar

Mr. Muhammad Nadeem Farooq
Mr. Noman Yakoob

Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy

Executive Director Mr. Syed Amir Ali, President & CEO

3. The Directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a Director on more than five listed
companies, including this Bank (excluding the listed subsidiaries of listed holding companies
where applicable).

4. The Bank has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken
to disseminate it throughout the Bank along with its supporting policies and procedures.

5. The Board has developed a Vision/Mission Statement, overall corporate strategy and significant
policies of the Bank. A complete record of particulars of significant policies along with the dates on
which they were approved or amended has been maintained.

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been
taken by Board / shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these
Regulations.

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman. The Board has complied with the
requirements of Act and the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating
minutes of meeting of Board.

8. The Board of Directors have transparent procedures for remuneration of Directors. A formal policy
for remuneration of the Directors in accordance with the Act and the 2017 Code has been approved
by the Board in its 88th meeting held on February 28, 2019.

46
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9. In terms of Regulation 20 of the 2017 Code, the Companies are required to ensure that all the
Directors on their Board have acquired the prescribed certification under Director Training
Program (DTP) by June 30, 2021. Presently, three (3) Directors namely Dr. Amjad Waheed, Mr.
Noman Yakoob and Mr. Syed Amir Ali have already completed this program. One of the Director
shall obtain certification under the DTP by June 30, 2019 in compliance with the Code. The
remaining four (4) Directors will comply the requirement as per time line prescribed under the
2017 Code.

10. The Board has approved appointment of Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit,
including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied with
relevant requirements of the Regulations. During the year there has been no new appointment of
the CFO.

11. CFO and CEO duly endorsed the financial statements before approval of the Board.

12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below:

Audit Committee Chairman

Dr. Amjad Waheed

Members

Mr. Noman Yakoob

Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain Ali Mohamad Alshamali

Human Resource Management Chairman
Committee Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain Ali Mohamad Alshamali
Members

Mr. Fawad Anwar
Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy
Mr. Syed Amir Ali

Board Remuneration Committee Chairman

Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain Ali Mohamad Alshamali
Members

Mr. Fawad Anwar

Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy

Risk Management Committee Chairman

Mr. Fawad Anwar
Members

Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy
Mr. Syed Amir Ali

I T Committee Chairman

Mr. Syed Amir Ali

Members

Mr. Noman Yakoob

Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain Ali Mohamad Alshamali
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Executive Committee Chairman

Mr. Ali Hussain

Members

Mr. Fawad Anwar

Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy
Mr. Syed Amir Ali

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to
the committee for compliance.

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly /half yearly / yearly) of the committee were as per following:

Committee Number of Meetings held
Audit Committee Four

Human Resource Management Committee Three

Board Remuneration Committee Three

Risk Management Committee Six

I T Committee None

Executive Committee Two

15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit function comprising professionals, who are
considered suitably qualified and experienced for the purpose and are conversant with the policies
and procedures of the Bank.

16. The statutory auditors of the Bank have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating
under the quality control review program of the ICAP and registered with Audit Oversight Board
of Pakistan, that they or any of the partners of the firm, their spouses and minor children do not
hold shares of the Bank and that the firm and all its partners are in compliance with International
Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the ICAP.

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide
other services except in accordance with the Act, these regulations or any other regulatory
requirement and the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this
regard.

18. We confirm that all other requirements of the Regulations have been complied with.

=

Syed Amir Ali Ali Hussain
President and Chief Executive Officer Chairman of the Board of Directors

February 28, 2019
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Review Report on the Statement of Compliance
contained in Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2017

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2017 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of
BankIslami (the Bank) for the year ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with the requirements of
regulation 40 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Bank.
Our responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the
Bank’s compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight
any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily to
inquiries of the Bank’s personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Bank to comply
with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the
accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of Directors” statement on internal
control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal
controls, the Bank’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Bank to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation
of the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its
related party transactions and also ensure compliance with the requirements of section 208 of the
Companies Act, 2017. We are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the
extent of the approval of the related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon
recommendation of the Audit Committee. We have not carried out procedures to assess and
determine the Bank’s process for identification of related parties and that whether the related party
transactions were undertaken at arm’s length price or not.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the
Statement of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Bank's compliance, in all material
respects, with the requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the Bank for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

el d P,

EY Ford Rhodes &
Chartered Accountants

Place: Karachi
Date: February 28, 2019
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Report of Shariah Board
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This Shariah Supervisory Board Report sets out the position concerning the overall Shariah
Compliance environment of BankIslami Pakistan Limited. During the year, efforts have been made by
the Bank's management to ensure compliance of Shariah guidelines issued by the Shariah Board and
SBP in all banking operations in general and revenue generating activities in particular. In 2018, four
meetings of the Shariah Board were held in which different matters were discussed in detail and
guidelines were issued accordingly.

In the following sections, the Report discusses the state of affairs of the Bank and the developments
that took place during the period.

Shariah Compliance:

The Bank has a committed professional team in the Shariah Compliance department which consists of
Shariah Scholars along with business graduates from reputed organizations. The department works
under the guidance of Shariah Board, and is responsible for reviewing, on a test check basis, each class
of transaction, its related documents/process flows, and verifying the monthly distribution of profit
and loss to depositors.

In this regard, to ensure Shariah compliance in transactions, Shariah Compliance Review was carried
out in two stages i.e. initially in the 'Pre transaction execution' stage and later at the Post transaction
execution' stage. The two stage compliance helped the Bank to avoid potential mistakes in execution
of the transactions. As an additional control, Internal Shariah Audit is conducted by the Internal Audit
department.

During the year, Shariah Compliance and Product team moved further towards digitization and
introduced automation of process flows/transaction fact sheets for all Corporate/SME clients. The
purpose of automation was to increase the efficiency of the department along with improving
coordination with business units in terms of the transaction fact sheet approval process. Shariah Board
appreciates this initiative.

To adhere with the SBP and Shariah Board guidelines, the Shariah Compliance department reviewed
all guarantees, transaction fact sheets of Corporate & SME cases, external and internal agreements, and
manuals. The team also reviewed all marketing and promotional material of the Bank. Going forward,
the team is keen to issue guidelines pertaining to various financing models to further streamline the
work process to meet the pace of increasing work-flow.

During the year, Shariah Compliance department presented Shariah Review Reports, Internal Shariah
Audit Reports, Reports of SBP Inspection Team, and External Shariah Audit Reports to Shariah Board

for determination of corrective actions.

A dedicated Shariah Help-line service was launched to streamline the communication process for
employees enabling them to swiftly address their questions pertaining to Shariah.
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In a significant development, BankIslami achieved another milestone by successfully launching
Pakistan’s first tradable Islamic Commercial Paper (CP) Issue worth Rs. 7 billion for K-Electric to cater
to its working capital requirement. This first-of-its-kind Shariah Compliant CP Issue was innovatively
structured by the Products & Shariah Structuring department based on “Wakala tul Istismar” model.

Products & Shariah Structuring

During the period, Diminishing Musharakah based Sukuk and Syndicated facility for Shakargan;
Foods and Pakistan International Airline Corporation (PIAC) respectively were structured. Also, a
Salam based Islamic Commercial Paper (ICP-2) was issued for Hascol Petroleum Limited.

Different products and services were approved by the Shariah Board during the year which includes
the following:

¢ Islami Haryali Finance: The product is aimed at providing Shariah compliant Agri financing
solutions on standardised terms using the modes of Murabaha, Salam, Karobar Finance and
Diminishing Musharakah (including Sale & Lease Back cases).

Islami Bike Finance: It is a Consumer Financing product based on Diminishing Musharakah to
allow Shariah compliant financing for motorcycles.

Commercial Mortgages: It caters to Businessmen, Self Employed Professionals and Salaried
persons by allowing them Diminishing Musharakah financing against residential/ commercial

property.

Wakalah tul Istismar Financing: A product to allow Corporate/ SME Customers to avail Shariah
compliant financing where in the Bank appoints its Customer to invest in specified commercial
activities/ business on the Bank's behalf.

Islamic Long Term Financing (ILTFF): A long term facility for Corporate/ SME customers to avail
a shariah compliant alternative of the SBP's Conventional Long Term Financing Facility Scheme.

Composition of the Bank's Financing Portfolio

The Bank used a variety of Islamic modes of finance to provide financing to its customers. The share of
Partnership based products which include “Diminishing Musharakah and Running Musharakah” are
35% and 20%, respectively. The share of Trade based products which include Istisna and Karobar
Finance are 13% each, while share of Murabahah stood at 8%. The following diagram illustrates
composition of financing portfolio as on 31 December 2018.

Running Musharakah
Diminishing Musharakah

Karobar Financing / Muswammah
Murabaha

Istisna

Wakalah

[jarah

Salam and others
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Charity

An amount of Rs.51.2 million. was received from clients in respect of charity on delay in payments and
credited to the charity account. As the charity funds are kept under investment accounts at the Bank,
Mudarabah profit of Rs. 101,000/ - was accordingly credited to the charity account.

During the year, a non compliant income amounting to Rs. 2.7 million was credited to Charity
Account.

Disbursements during the year from the charity fund amounted to Rs. 43.8 million. Details of charity
disbursed are available in notes of the accounts.

Islamic Banking Training

During the year, the Bank focused on nurturing and developing human resource that is well versed in
the concept of Islamic Banking and Finance. Islamic Banking orientation sessions were conducted for
BOD and Executive Management for making them well aware of the domestic and international
developments in Islamic finance. Furthermore, to inculcate Islamic Banking knowledge among the
employees, basic and advance level training sessions were also arranged.

Apart from conducting various training sessions, Islamic Banking knowledge assessment of Branch
staff was also initiated by the Shariah Compliance department. This activity is expected to help in
identifying different areas for improvement and to further deepen branch staffs' understanding of the
Islamic Banking concept.

BankIslami also arranged Islamic Banking awareness sessions for the general public across the
country. These seminars were designed to focus on students, Shariah Scholars, business community,
academicians and corporate customers.

The Shariah team also represented BanklIslami in other institutions such as National Institute of
Banking and Finance (NIBAF), Institute of Bankers Pakistan (IBP), Center for Islamic Economics (CIE),
IBA-Centre for Excellence in Islamic Finance (IBA-CEIF), Center of Islamic Finance- COMSATS
University Islamabad, Sheikh Zayed Islamic Centre, and Iqra University for imparting training
courses in Islamic Banking & Finance and other capacity building activities.

Going forward, the Shariah team is committed to increase its outreach and to expand its footprint to all
corners of the country to create awareness about Islamic Banking to serve this noble cause.

Recommendations

Based on the observations made through Shariah review reports, and feedback from various
stakeholders, we recommend the following:

i. To keep conducting Islamic Banking awareness sessions, and to further strengthen the Islamic
banking knowledge of Branch staff to disseminate the correct information and Islamic Banking
philosophy to the customer.

ii. To further strengthen the standard of Shariah compliance quality, the Bank is expected to place
more attention on following matters:

* to expedite the resolution of outstanding Shariah audit/review observations.

e In Treasury Fund placement, the Bank should explore further Tawarruq based options in
which transparency at all level is ensured through systematic controls.

e Conversion/disposal process of BIPL Securities and the remaining conventional portfolio
relating to defunct KASB Bank should be expedited considering the possible solutions, subject
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Conclusion

Based on the reports of Internal Shariah Audit, External Shariah Audit and different Shariah
compliance checks carried out from time to time and according to best of our knowledge, we are of the
view that:

i. The Bank has complied with Shariah rules and principles in the light of fatawa, rulings and
guidelines issued by the Shariah Board.

ii. The Bank has complied with directives, regulations, instructions and guidelines related to Shariah
compliance issued by SBP in accordance with the ruling of SBP's Shariah Board.

iii. The Bank has a comprehensive mechanism in place to ensure Shariah compliance in their overall
operations.

iv. The Bank has a well-defined system in place which is sound enough to ensure that any earnings
realized from sources or by means prohibited by Shariah have been credited to charity account and
are being properly utilized.

v. The Bank has complied with the SBP's instructions on profit and loss distribution and pool
management.

vi. The level of awareness, capacity and sensitization of the staff, management and the BOD in
appreciating the importance of Shariah compliance in the products and processes of the Bank is
found to be satisfactory. However, the management should continue to take measures to further
improve the level of awareness.

vii. The Shariah Board has been provided adequate resources enabling it to discharge its duties
effectively.

We end this report with best wishes to the Islamic finance industry.

alag A3l dhmme Lo e oy 2 Jog

/ Y s

Mufti Javed Ahmad Mufti Muhammad Hussain Khaleel Khail
Resident Shariah Board Member Member, Shariah Supervisory Board

Mulfti Irshad Ahmad Aijaz
Chairman, Shariah Supervisory Board
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Charity Funds Utilization Report

Islamic Banks cannot charge late payment penalty to their customers since it falls under the
ambit of Riba. However, to maintain financial discipline and to prevent deliberate
delinquencies they use Charity imposition as a tool of deterrence. Amount given by the
customers in Charity Account against their delays is utilized by Islamic Banks purely for
charitable purpose. Islamic Banks receive this Charity fund amount as Trustee. Accordingly,
the Bank is entrusted the responsibility to distribute the Charity funds onwards. This Report
provides a brief detail of the major institutions which have been beneficiaries of the Charity
funds.

Utilization of Charity:

During the year 2018, BankIslami received a total of Rs. 51.2 Mn as Charity amount from its
customers. Disbursements during the year from the Charity Fund amounted to Rs. 43.8 Mn.
The amount was utilized to provide assistance to recognized and renowned charitable
institutions working primarily in the areas of Health and Education. The profile of these
institutions are given below:

Indus Hospital _INDUS |

Indus Hospital came as a joint venture of the Ruffaydah Foundation and the Islamic Mission
Hospital Trust in 2005. Indus Hospital provides free of cost health care to the common man.
The Hospital started its operations in July 2007. It is spread over 20 acres of land and located
in the densely populated Korangi area.

The facilities at the Indus Hospital include Community Health Center, Consulting Clinics,
In-patient Services, Day Care Services, Emergency Services, Critical Care, Invasive
Cardiology, Physiotherapy Services, Endoscopy, Lithotripsy, Hemodialysis, Radiology,
Clinical Laboratories, Pharmacy Services, Nutrition and Food Services, Continuing Medical
Education (CME), etc.

Alamgir Welfare Trust International

Alamgir Welfare Trust International has been providing social welfare services in Pakistan
since 1993. The Trust provides services to needy and deprived class of the society in a wide
range of areas which include health, education, marriage assistance, funeral services, rescue
centers, food and Ramadan services.

ANNUAL REPORT | 2018




Shewhat Khanum
Sdamarial

Shaukat Khanum Memorial Hospital =

Shaukat Khanum Memorial Cancer Hospital and Research Centre is a project of the Shaukat
Khanum Memorial Trust, which is a charitable organization established under the Societies
Registration Act XXI of 1860 of Pakistan.

Over the past decade, Shaukat Khanum Memorial Cancer Hospital and Research Centre has
established itself as a Centre which provides free of cost comprehensive care to thousands of

indigent cancer patients.

The Citizens Foundation (TCF) Tue Crmanss Fovsasmios

The Citizens Foundation (TCF) is one of the largest non-profit organization in the field of
education. It was established in 1995. The vision of this non profit organization is to bring a
positive change in Pakistan by providing quality education to the less privileged youth. The
organization provides primary and secondary level education at a nominal fee. TCF has
established over 1,400 school units with an enrollment of over 200,000 students.

Centre for Development of Social Service ?‘“ﬁ&“ﬁﬂ?ﬂm

(A project of INFAQ Foundation)

The Centre for Development of Social Services (CDSS) was established in 2001 for creating a
township of social services for families belonging to low income groups. CDSS is registered
under the Societies Act of 1980 as a recognized organization by the Pakistan Centre for
Philanthropy, Islamabad.

Korangi Academy, INFAQ Education & Training Centre, INFAQ Community Healthcare
Centre, Craft Training & Adult Literacy Centre, SOS Technical Institute are the components
of CDSS.
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Koohi Goth Hospital

Koohi Goth Hospital is a 200 bed Not-for-profit General Hospital situated in Deh Landi,
Karachi. Most of their patients are under-privileged who are provided free treatment,
medicine and food. The Hospital is run from donations by philanthropic people and
organizations.
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Kharadar General Hospital is a not for profit 210 bedded tertiary care hospital with post
graduate teaching and training facilities. It is rendering services since 1936 and offering
quality health services at highly subsidized rates to under-privileged socio-economically
and educationally deprived population of over 3 million people of low lying areas of

Kharadar General Hospital

Karachi.

a7

w" !-
Akhuwat AKHLWAT

Akhuwat was established with the objective of providing interest free micro credit to the
poor so as to enhance their standard of living. Akhuwat started its operations in Lahore and
to date has over 45 branches in this city. It has also expanded to Rawalpindi and Faisalabad
in collaboration with the Chambers of Commerce and Industry and philanthropists of these
two cities. Besides these big cities, it has opened branches in other cities across Pakistan with
network of over 675 branches in 200+ cities.

Bait us Salam Welfare Trust

Bait us Salam, being a welfare organization, is providing different humanitarian services
within Pakistan and internationally. Their recent projects include the relief arrangements
made for the Syrian refugees in Turkey in collaboration with the Turkish government.

The trust has now initiated its new venture “Bait us Salam Education Foundation” for
building state of the art schools with highly qualified and experienced team of educators to
provide high quality education on nationwide basis specially for under-privileged areas.

IBP

Institute of Behavioral Psychology eemmersmetlena
The Institute of Behavioral Psychology (IBP) is a non-profit, tax exempted organization. IBP
is a psychology based, multipurpose educational center. It offers educational, therapeutic
and psychological services for children, youth and adults under one roof. The Institute was
established in 1987 for the purpose of rehabilitating mentally retarded and emotionally
disturbed persons. At present the School has 350 children of which free-ships and need
based concessions are given to 75% of the children whose parents are unable to pay.
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Karwan-e-Hayat Sl Olgls

Karwan-e-Hayat
Karwan-e-Hayat is a non-profit welfare organization established in 1983 and registered
under the 1984 Companies’ Ordinance. It is certified by the Pakistan Centre for
Philanthropy. Karwan-e-Hayat provides treatment and rehabilitation services to poor and
underprivileged mentally ill patients. It provides free or heavily subsidized OPD and
inpatient facilities.

Child Aid Association

The Child Aid Association was founded as a voluntary organization and is duly registered
with department of Social Welfare government of Sindh Karachi. Since then the association
is working at the National Institute of Child Health Karachi for supporting poor children
undergoing treatment at NICH to make up for the deficiencies required of their appropriate
treatment. In 1999, the Child Aid Association with public donations established the first
Pediatric Oncology Unit of the country at above institution, and since has been running it
through public donations. So far over 7000 children suffering from various types of cancer
coming from underprivileged section of population from all over Pakistan and neighboring
countries were provided treatment at no cost to them.

4

Pakistan Association of the Blind

Pakistan Association of the Blind (Sindh) is a non-profit organisation dedicated for the
betterment and rehabilitation of the blind and deaf members of the society since 1974. It
caters to the social, economic, cultural, academic, medical and sports requirements of the
blind. Pakistan Association of the Blind (Sindh) is currently supporting blind inhabitants
through nineteen branches all over Sindh. One of major objectives of the organisation is to
provide educational and vocational programs to the blind.

N3

Nigahban Welfare Association c.rﬁgﬁﬁl
Surgical Unit IV Civil Hospital is one of the largest in the city performing over 4,000
procedures per year including colonscopies, gastroscopies and bronchoscopies for patients
of all ages. It provides diagnostic procedures for conditions of the upper and lower
gastrointestinal tract (bowel and stomach), including surveillance for cancer, ulcers, polyps,
and irritable bowl syndrome. The unit provides nursing care, equipment and supplies
necessary for the safe and effective provision of gestrointestinal endoscopy, colonscopy, and
other diagnostic and therapeutic procedures.
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Independent Auditors” Report

To the members of BankIslami Pakistan Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of BankIslami Pakistan Limited,
which comprise the unconsolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
unconsolidated profit and loss account, the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the unconsolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, along with unaudited certified returns received from the branches except 30
branches which have been audited by us and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and we state that we have obtained
all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary
for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
the unconsolidated statement of financial position, unconsolidated profit and loss account and the
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, unconsolidated statement of changes in equity
and unconsolidated cash flow statement together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, and give the information required by
the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017(XIX of 2017), in the manner so
required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Bank's affairs as at 31 December
2018 and of the profit, other comprehensive income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the
year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable
in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Following are the key audit matters:

Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

1. Cyber Crime Incident

We applied a range of audit procedures including

As disclosed in note 23.3.3 to the financial )
the following:

statements with respect to the cybercrime incident
involving the Bank’s payment card facility, the
international payment scheme has claimed an
amount of USD 6.1 million (PKR 738 million)
from the Bank.

- Involving our information technology
specialists to obtain an understanding of the
nature of the cyberattack, the circumstances
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Key audit matters

The Bank has challenged this claim in the court
of law and a stay has been granted in favor of the
Bank. Considering the significant management
judgment involved in-respect of accounting of
this contingent liability we have identified the
same as a key audit matter.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

inwhich theacts occurred, and understanding
of other relevant information to evaluate the
impact on the financial statements.

Analyzing the judgements used by management
based on the available information. Among
other procedures, we sent confirmation letters
to, and obtained responses from the lawyers
used by the Bank while focusing on matters
relating to the court proceedings in progress.
Further, we engaged an independent legal
expert to review the facts of the case to assist us
in determining the impact of this incident on the
financial statements.

We considered the accounting treatment of the
liabilities, contingent liabilities and disclosures
under applicable financial reporting framework,
to conclude whether these were appropriate in
all the circumstances.

2. Provision against Non Performing Islamic Fin

ancing and Related Assets

The Bank’s credit portfolios include Islamic
financing and related assets, and non-funded
credit facilities. The credit portfolio is spread
across various branches in Pakistan.

As disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements, Gross Non Performing Islamic
Financings (NPF) to customers as at December
31, 2018 amount to Rs. 15,403 million, provision
against NPF to Rs. 10,933 million.

As per the Bank’s accounting policy (refer note 6.4
to the financial statements), the Bank periodically
assess the adequacy of its provisions against non-
performing credit exposures in accordance with
the requirements of Prudential Regulations of
State Bank of Pakistan. Such regulations require
specific provisioning against loan losses on the
basis of an age based criteria which should be
supplemented by a subjective evaluation of
Bank’s credit portfolio.

2018

We applied a range of audit procedures including
the following;:

We reviewed the Bank’s process for
identification and classification of non-
performing Islamic financing and related
assets including the quality of underlying
data and systems.

We performed independent checks for the
computations of provisions in line with the
requirements of the applicable Prudential
Regulations.

In addition, we selected a representative
sample of borrowers from the credit portfolio
including individually significant financings and
performed tests and procedures such as review
of credit documentation, repayment history and
past due status, financial condition as depicted
by the borrowers’ financial statements, nature of
collateral held by the bank and status of litigation,
if any, with the borrower;




Key audit matters

The determination of loan loss provision against
certain vulnerable corporate loans, therefore,
involve use of management judgment, on a case
to case basis, taking into account factors such as
the economic and business conditions, borrowers
repayment behaviors and realizability of collateral
held by the Bank. In view of the significance of
this area in terms of its impact on the financial
statements and the level of involvement of
management’s judgment, we identified adequacy
and completeness of loan loss provision as a
significant area of audit judgment and a key audit
matter.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Based on the said credit reviews, we identified and
discussed with the management the loan accounts
where the credit risk appear to have increased.
We reviewed the adequacy of provisions against
such accounts on the basis of our independent
objective evaluation of the risk mitigating factors
as existed in such cases;

We also assessed adequacy of disclosures as
included in note 11.15 to the financial statements
regarding the non-performing Islamic financing
and related assets and provisions made for the
same in the financial statements in accordance
with the requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework.

3. Recoverability of deferred tax assets

As disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements,
as at 31 December 2018, Rs. 7,530.221 million was
recorded on the Statement of financial position
with respect to deferred tax assets, of which
Rs. 3,630.734 million represents carryforward
accumulated tax losses.

The carryforward of unused tax losses requires a
deferred tax asset to be recognized to the extent
that it is probable that future tax profits are
available against which the unused tax losses can
be set off.

We deemed this subject to be a key audit matter
because management is required to exercise
judgement when deciding whether to recognize
a deferred tax asset for tax loss carryforwards
as well as when assessing the recoverability of
recognized deferred tax assets.

We applied a range of audit procedures including
the following:

- Weinvolved our internal valuation specialists
to assist in evaluating the Bank’s assumptions
and estimates in relation to the likelihood of
generating sufficient future taxable income
based on most recent budgets and plans,
prepared by management by using the same
criteria described for testing the impairment
of assets and goodwill, principally by
performing  sensitivity  analyses  and
evaluating and testing the key assumptions
used to determine the amounts recognized.

- We ascertained that information used was
derived from the Bank’s business plans has
been subject to internal reviews and were
approved by those charged with governance.

- We reviewed the adequacy of the
disclosures made by the Bank in this area.
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Key audit matters

How the matter was addressed in our audit

4. Impairment testing of goodwill

As at 31 December 2018, Intangible assets include
goodwill amounting to Rs. 2.9 billion acquired as
a result of scheme of amalgamation as disclosed
in note 13.2 to the financial statements.

Goodwill is required to be annually assessed
for impairment under IAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”, Accordingly, Management performed
an impairment test on the recoverability of the
goodwill which is subjective in nature due to
assumptions made about future performance.

As disclosed in notes 13.2, the Bank uses a
discounted cash flow model to determine value in
use, on the basis of the certain key assumptions.
Due to the significance and impact of the
assumptions and judgements involved, the
impairment tests of goodwill is considered to be a
key audit matter.

Our procedures included, amongst others:
- Evaluated themodelusedindeterminingthevalue

in use as well as assessing the discount rate used;

- Compared the cash flow forecasts to
approved budgets and other relevant
market and economic information, as well
as testing the underlying calculations;

- We involved our internal valuation specialists
to assist in evaluating management’s key
assumptions used in theimpairment calculations.

- Performed  sensitivity  analyses  around
the key assumptions used in the models.

We assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the financial statements.

5. Preparation of financial statements under BPRD circular no. 02 of 2018 and Companies Act, 2017

As referred to in note 2.4 to the accompanying
financial statements, State Bank of Pakistan (SBP)
vide its BPRD circular no. 02 of 2018 (the circular)
has revised the format of the annual financial
statements of the Bank for the year ended 31
December 2018. Further, the Companies Act,
2017 (the Act) became applicable for the first time
for the preparation of the Bank’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Due to the above changes, certain additional
disclosures have been included in the financial
statements as referred to note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

Further, the Bank has also changed its accounting
policy relating to presentation and measurement
of surplus on revaluation of fixed assets as a
consequence of the application of the Act with
retrospective effect. The impact of the said change
in accounting policy has been disclosed in note
2.4 to the financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT | 2018

We assessed the procedures applied by the
management for identification of the changes
required in the financial statements due to
the application of the circular and the Act. We
considered the adequacy and appropriateness
of the revised reporting format and additional
disclosures based on the requirements of the
circular and the Act. We also evaluated the sources
of information used by the management for the
preparation of the financial statements and the
internal consistency of the disclosures with other
elements thereof.

In respect of the change in accounting policy for
the accounting and presentation of revaluation
surplus as referred to note 2.4.1.1 to the
financial statements; we assessed the accounting
implications in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting standards and evaluated its
application in the context of the Bank.




Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

The above changes and enhancements in the
financial statements are considered a key audit
matter because of the volume and significance
of the changes in the financial statements
resulting from the transition to the new reporting
requirements under the circular and the Act.

Information Other than the Consolidated and Unconsolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s
Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the Consolidated and Unconsolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of
Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an auditin accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identifyandassesstherisksof material misstatementofthe financial statements, whether duetofraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
thatissufficientand appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Bank as required by the Companies Act, 2017
(XIX of 2017) and the returns referred above from the branches have been found adequate for the
purpose of our audit;

b) the statement of financial position, the profit or loss account, the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow (together with the notes
thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the
Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and returns;

¢) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were in
accordance with the objects and powers of the Bank and the transactions of the Bank which have
come to our notice have been within the powers of the Bank; and

d) zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980), was
deducted by the Bank and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of
that Ordinance.

2. We confirm that for the purpose of our audit we have covered more than sixty per cent of the total
Islamic financing and related assets of the Bank.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Omer Chughtai.

e oA Pld,

EY Ford Rhodes
Chartered Accountants
Place: Karachi
February 28, 2019
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Unconsolidated Statement of Financial Position

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018

Restated

Restated

Note 2018 2017 2016
Rupees in “000
ASSETS
Cash and balances with treasury banks 7 14,292,752 11,784,180 8,921,433
Balances with other banks 8 832,621 801,807 1,140,150
Due from financial institutions - net 9 18,173,504 21,371,787 27,218,665
Investments - net 10 38,832,093 42,092,166 46,316,927
Islamic financing, related assets and
advances - net 11 118,570,811 119,155,039 77,816,802
Fixed assets 12 6,663,467 5,944,358 6,186,259
Intangible assets 13 3,121,906 3,128,129 3,161,266
Deferred tax assets 14 7,530,221 7,701,906 5,918,460
Other assets - net 15 7,725,881 5,813,026 5,793,461
Total Assets 215,743,256 217,792,398 182,473,423
LIABILITIES
Bills payable 16 3,242,180 3,928,469 2,937,746
Due to financial institutions 17 7,819,532 15,570,390 6,066,307
Deposits and other accounts 18 184,693,363 178,309,817 153,735,845
Subordinated debt - - -
Deferred tax liabilities - - -
Other liabilities 19 5,473,366 6,307,253 7,288,859
201,228,441 204,115,929 170,028,757
NET ASSETS 14,514,815 13,676,469 12,444,666
REPRESENTED BY
Share capital - net 20 10,000,079 10,000,079 10,000,079
Reserves 21 968,799 926,266 613,636
Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of tax 22 1,850,647 1,276,340 1,618,398
Unappropriated profit 1,695,290 1,473,784 212,553
14,514,815 13,676,469 12,444,666
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 23

The annexed notes 1 to 47 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial

statements.
/M; g W ] e
PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ANNUAL REPORT ‘ 2018




p\E

Unconsolidated Profit and Loss Account

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
Restated

Note 2018 | 2017
Rupees in “000
Profit / return earned 24 12,204,238 10,353,849
Profit / return expensed 25 6,170,275 5,249,882
Net Profit / return 6,033,963 5,103,967
OTHER INCOME
Fee and commission income 26 842,235 648,067
Dividend income 61,858 31,985
Foreign exchange income 92,182 71,652
Income from shariah compliant forward and future contracts 138,673 15,724
Gain on securities 27 46,818 119,414
Other income 28 82,246 77,853
Total other income 1,264,012 964,695
Total Income 7,297 975 6,068,662
OTHER EXPENSES
Operating expenses 29 6,795,997 6,281,537
Workers’ Welfare Fund 8,216 -
Other charges 30 54,359 21,733
Total other expenses 6,858,572 6,303,270
Profit / (Loss) before provisions 439,403 (234,608)
Provisions / (reversal of provisions) and write offs - net 31 36,835 (391,970)
Extraordinary / unusual items - -
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 402,568 157,362
Taxation 32 189,904 (1,405,787)
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 212,664 1,563,149
Rupees
Basic earnings per share 33 0.2110 1.5509
Diluted earnings per share 33 0.2110 1.5509

The annexed notes 1 to 47 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial
statements.

UM, G e i

PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Unconsolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
Restated

2018 | 2017
Rupees in “000

Profit after taxation for the year 212,664 1,563,149
Other Comprehensive Income

Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss account
in subsequent periods:

Movement in surplus on revaluation of investments - net of tax (259,908) (439,870)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss account
in subsequent periods:

Remeasurement gain on defined benefit

obligations - net of tax 4,072 44
Movement in surplus on revaluation of operating
fixed assets - net of tax 659,648 -
Movement in surplus on revaluation of non-banking
assets - net of tax 221,870 108,480
885,590 108,524
Total comprehensive income 838,346 1,231,803

The annexed notes 1 to 47 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial
statements.

M BA s

PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Unconsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

Revenue Surplus/(Deficit) on
reserve revaluation of
bl I e B R Tl =
cies ¢ Banking
Assets
Rupees in ‘000

Balance as at December 31, 2016

(as reported) 10,079,121  (79,042) 363,636 250,000 - - 212553 10,826,268
Effect of retrospective change in

accounting policy
Redlssification of surplus on

revaluation of assets to equity

(note 2.4) - - - - 709,766 908,632 - 1,618,398
Balance as at December 31, 2016

(restated) 10,079,121  (79,042) 363,636 250,000 709,766 908,632 212553 12,444,666
Profit after taxation for the year - - - - - - 1,563,149 1,563,149
Other comprehensive income

for the year - - - - (439,870) || 108,480 44 (331,346)
Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - (439,870) 108,480 1,563,193 1,231,803
Transfer from surplus on

revaluation of fixed assets -

net of tax - - - - - (10,398) 10,398 -
Transfer from surplus on revaluation of
non banking assets - net of tax - - - - - (270) 270 -
Transfer to statutory reserve - - 312,630 - - - (312,630) -
Balance as at December 31, 2017

(restated) 10,079,121  (79,042) 676,266 250,000 269,896 1,006,444 1,473,784 13,676,469
Profit after taxation for the year - - - - - - 212,664 212,664
Other comprehensive income

for the year - - - - (259,908) || 881,518 4,072 625,682
Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - (259,908) 881,518 216,736 838,346
Transfer from surplus on revaluation of

fixed assets - net of tax - - - - - (10,398) 10,398 -
Transfer from surplus on revaluation of

non banking assets - net of tax - - - - - (308) 308 -
Surplus on revaluation of non banking

assets transferred to unappropriated profit - - - - - (36,597) 36,597 -
Transfer to statutory reserve - - 42,533 - - - (42,533) -
Balance as at December 31, 2018 10,079,121  (79,042) 718,799 250,000 9,988 1,840,659 1,695290 14,514,815

The annexed notes 1 to 47 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.
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PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Unconsolidated Cash Flow Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 Restated
Note 2018 2017

Rupees in “000
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 402,568 157,362
Less: Dividend Income (61,858) (31,985)
340,710 125,377
Adjustments for non-cash charges and other items:
Depreciation on operating fixed assets 12.2 649,852 708,234
Depreciation on non banking assets 15.1.1 6,653 6,634
Amortization 13 68,314 63,181
Depreciation on operating Jjarah assets 11.13 1,160,722 1,383,699
Provisions / (reversal of provisions) and write offs - net 31 36,835 (391,970)
Unrealised loss on revaluation of investments
classified as held for trading 27 19,686 327
Charge for defined benefit plan 29.1 88,717 81,236
Gain on sale of property and equipment 28 (11,542) (13,577)
Loss on sale of non banking assets 28 10,570 -
2,029,807 1,837,764
2,370,517 1,963,141
(Increase) / decrease in operating assets
Due from financial institutions 3,198,283 5,846,878
Held-for-trading securities (134,074) 448,416
Islamic financing, related assets and advances (540,618) (42,244,248)
Others assets (1,562,749) 38,468
960,842 (35,910,486)
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities
Bills payable (686,289) 715,062
Due to financial institutions (7,750,858) 9,504,083
Deposits and other accounts 6,383,546 24,849,633
Other liabilities (excluding current taxation) (857,387) (868,603)
(2,910,988) 34,200,175
420,371 252,830
Payments against defined benefit plan (50,000) -
Income tax paid (179,498) (133,966)
Net cash generated from operating activities 190,873 118,864
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net investments in available-for-sale securities 3,053,170 2,856,355
Dividend received 61,858 31,985
Investments in operating fixed assets (779,880) (500,339)
Proceeds from disposal of operating fixed assets 13,365 17,539
Net cash generated from investing activities 2,348,513 2,405,540
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,539,386 2,524,404
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 12,585,987 10,061,583
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 35 15,125,373 12,585,987

The annexed notes 1 to 47 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.
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PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Notes to and forming part of the unconsolidated

financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

1 STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

1.1  BankIslami Pakistan Limited (the Bank) was incorporated in Pakistan on October 18, 2004 as a
public limited company to carry out the business of an Islamic Commercial Bank in accordance
with the principles of Islamic Shariah.

The State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) granted a ‘Scheduled Islamic Commercial Bank’ license to the
Bank on March 18, 2005. The Bank commenced its operations as a Scheduled Islamic Commercial
Bank with effect from April 07, 2006, on receiving Certificate of Commencement of Business from
the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) under section 37 of the State Bank of Pakistan Act, 1956. The
Bank is principally engaged in corporate, commercial, consumer, retail banking and investment
activities.

The Bank is operating through 330 branches including 81 sub branches as at December 31, 2018
(December 31, 2017: 330 branches including 112 sub branches). The registered office of the Bank
is situated at 11th Floor, Dolmen City, Marine Drive, Block-4, Clifton, Karachi. The shares of the
Bank are quoted on the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited.

The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency (Private) Limited (PACRA) has maintained the Bank’s long-
term rating as ‘A+" and the short-term rating as ‘A1’

2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

21 The Bank provides financing mainly through Murabahah, Ijarah, Istisna, Diminishing
Musharakah, Muswammah and other Islamic modes as briefly explained in note 6.4 to these
financial statements.

The purchases and sales arising under these arrangements are not reflected in these financial
statements as such but are restricted to the amount of facility actually utilised and the appropriate
portion of profit thereon. The income on such financing is recognised in accordance with the
principles of Islamic Shariah. However, income, if any, received which does not comply with the
principles of Islamic Shariah is recognised as charity payable as directed by the Shariah Board of
the Bank.

2.2 These financial statements are the separate financial statements of the Bank in which investments
in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any,
and are not consolidated. The consolidated financial statements of the Group are being issued
separately.

2.3  Effective May 07, 2015, the defunct KASB Bank Limited (amalgamated entity) was amalgamated
within and into the bank. As the amalgamated entity operated as a conventional bank, any assets
or liabilities which are not Shariah compliant are shown separately within the financial statement
line items.

24  Adoption of new forms for the preparation of financial statements

During the year, the SBP, vide its BPRD Circular No. 02 dated January 25, 2018, issued
the revised forms for the preparation of the annual financial statements of the banks
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which are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2018. The
implementation of the revised forms has resulted in certain changes to the accounting policies
of the Bank and the presentation and disclosures of various elements of the financial statements.
These changes are summarized below:

24.1  Changes in the accounting policies:

24.1.1 As per the revised forms, “Surplus / deficit on revaluation of assets” is now required to be
presented as a component of the equity of the Bank. Previously, such surplus / deficit was
required to be presented separately from the equity of the Bank and changes in such surplus
/ deficit were not recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Consequent upon
the change in the presentation requirements, the surplus / deficit on revaluation of assets and
changes in such surplus / deficit during the year are reflected in the relevant section of the
statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes
in equity for the current and prior years presented in these financial statements. As a result, the
equity and comprehensive income of the Bank have increased by Rs.1,850.647 million (2017:
Rs.1,276.340 million) and Rs. 881.518 million (2017: Rs. 108.480 million) respectively.

2.4.1.2 The repealed Ordinance specified the accounting treatment for the surplus on revaluation on
fixed assets, wherein, a deficit arising on revaluation of a particular property was to be adjusted
against the total balance in the surplus account or, if no surplus existed, was to be charged to
the profit and loss account as an impairment of the asset. However, the Companies Act, 2017
removed the specific provisions allowing the above treatment and hence, a deficit arising on
revaluation of a particular property is now to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS, which
requires that such deficit is to be taken to the profit and loss account as an impairment.

Consequently, the Bank has changed its policy to account for a deficit arising on revaluation
of fixed assets and accordingly, any surplus/ deficit arising on revaluation of owned property
and non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims is accounted for at individual assets
level. This change in accounting policy did not have any material effect on these financial
statements.

2.4.1.3 Acceptances representing undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange drawn on
customers are now required to be recognized as liabilities of the Bank at the date of acceptance.
Previously, acceptances were only recognized as off-balance sheet obligations and disclosed
under contingent liablities. As a result of the above change, the other assets and other liabilities
of the Bank increased by Rs. 944.025 million, Rs. 1,627.253 million and Rs. 1,983.434 million as
of 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

2.4.2  Significant changes to the presentation and disclosures:

In addition, to above changes in accounting policies, certain changes to the presentation of
the financial statements have been made such as other reversal of provisions / write offs have
now been combined under provisions & write off - net (note 31), Business segments have been
identifed and reported as per the requirements of IFRS 8 - “Operating Segments” (note 41),
cost of conversion of foreign currency deposits is now included in “Cost of foreign currency
swaps against foreign currency deposits” which was previously reported under “Income from
dealing in foreign currencies” (note 25).
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3.1

Further, certain, new disclosures have been introduced which include category of classification
for non-performing “Due from Financial Institutions” (Note 9.5) and “Investments” (note
10.6.2); movement in “Non-Banking Assets acquired in satisfaction of claims” (note 15.1.1);
for “Non-Banking Assets acquired in satisfaction of claims” sold during the year, disposal
proceeds, cost of such asset, impairment/depreciation and realized gains or losses (note 15.1.2
and note 28); composition of deposits (note 18.1); breakdown of Fee and Commission (note
26); presentation of operating expenses has been changed (note 29); Concentration of Islamic
financing and province wise disbursements and utilization of Islamic financing (note 45.1.5
and note 45.1.7); and assets split between trading and banking books (note 45.2.1).

The Bank has adopted the above changes in the presentation and made additional disclosure
to the extent applicable to its operations and corresponding figures have been rearranged
/reclassified to correspond to current year’s presentation. Such reclassifications/re-
arrangements are disclosed in note 46.1 to the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting
standards comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accouning
Standards Board (IASB) as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the
Companies Act, 2017; and

- Directives issued by the SBP and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
(SECP).

Wherever the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act,
2017 or the directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the requirements of the IFRS
or IFAS, the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act,
2017 and the said directives, shall prevail.
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3.2 The SBP, through its BSD Circular No. 10 dated August 26, 2002, has deferred the
implementation of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39-“Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” and IAS 40 - “Investment Property” for Banking Companies
in Pakistan, till further instructions. Accordingly, the requirements of these Standards have
not been considered in the preparation of these financial statements. Further, the SECP has
deferred the applicability of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 7 -“Financial
Instruments: Disclosures” through its S.R.O. 411(I)/ 2008 dated April 28, 2008. Accordingly, the
requirements of this standard have also not been considered in the preparation of these financial
statements. However, investments and non-banking assets have been classified and valued in
accordance with the requirements prescribed by the SBP through various circulars.

3.3 The SBP vide its BPRD Circular No. 04 dated February 25, 2015 has clarified that the reporting
requirements of IFAS-3 for Islamic Banking Institutions (IBIs) relating to annual, half yearly
and quarterly financial statements would be notified by SBP through issuance of specific
instructions and uniform disclosure formats in consultation with IBIs. These reporting
requirements have not been ratified to date. Accordingly, the disclosures requirements under
IFAS 3 have not been considered in these financial statements.

3.4 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan that are effective in the current year:

The Bank has adopted the following accounting standard and the amendments and
interpretation of IFRSs which became effective for the current year:

Standard or Interpretation

- IFRS2 - Share-based Payments — Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payments
Transactions (Amendments)

- IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts — (Amendments)

- IFRIC Interpretation 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
Improvements to Accounting Standards Issued by the IASB in December 2016

- IAS28-Investmentsin Associates and Joint Ventures: Clarification that measuring investees
at fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice

The adoption of the above amendments, improvements to accounting standards and
interpretations did not have any effect on the financial statements.
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3.5 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan that are not yet effective:

3.5.1  The following standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to the accounting and
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan would be effective from the dates mentioned

thereagainst:

Standard, Interpretations Effective date (accounting periods
and Amendments beginning on or after)

- IFRS 3 Definition of a Business (Amendments) January 01, 2020

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and
Measurement July 01, 2018

- IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation — (Amendments) January 01, 2019

- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS
28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture (Amendment) Not yet finalized
- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers July 01, 2018
- IFRS 16 Leases January 01, 2019
- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments January 01, 2019
- TAS 1/ IAS 8 Definition of Material (Amendments) January 01, 2020

- IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
(Amendments) January 01, 2019

- IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures (Amendments) January 01, 2019

3.5.2  The above standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have any material
impact on the Bank’s financial statements in the period of initial application, other than IFRS
9 and IFRS 16. With regard to IFRS 9, the Bank considers that as the Prudential Regulations
and other SBP directives currently provide the accounting framework for the measurement
and valuation of investments and provision against non performing loans and advances, the
implementation of IFRS 9 may require changes in the regulatory regime. Therefore, the Bank
expects that the SBP would issue suitable guidance and instruction on the application of IFRS
9 for the banking sector of Pakistan. With regard to IFRS 16, the Bank is currently evaluating
the impact of application of IFRS 16 on its financial statements.

3.5.3  In addition to the above standards and amendments, improvements to various accounting
standards have also been issued by the IASB in December 2017. Such improvements are
generally effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The Bank
expects that such improvements to the standards will not have any impact on the Bank’s
financial statements in the period of initial application.

Further, following new standards have been issued by IASB which are yet to be notified by the
SECP for the purpose of applicability in Pakistan.

Standards

- IFRS 14 — Regulatory Deferral Accounts
- IFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts

ANNUAL REPORT | 2018




3.5.4  Early adoption of standards
The Bank has not early adopted any new or amended standard in 2018.
4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Bank’s
accounting policies. The significant accounting areas where various assumptions and estimates
are significant to the Bank’s financial statements or where judgement was exercised in the
application of the accounting policies are as follows:

(a) Classification and valuation of investments in accordance with the Bank’s policy (notes
6.3 and 10).

(b) Provision for non-performing Islamic financing and related assets and advances (notes
6.4.2 and 11.14).

(c) Determination of forced sales value of underlying securities of non performing Islamic
financing and related assets (note 11.15.3.2).

(d) Impairment of investments in equity instruments of subsidiary, associates and non
associate entities (notes 6.3.5 and 10.6.2).

(e) Staff retirement benefits (notes 6.7 and 37).

(f) Revaluation and depreciation / amortization of operating fixed assets (notes 6.5, 12.2
and 13).

(g) Valuation of non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims (note 6.18 & 15.1)

(h) Assumption and estimation in recognition of provision for taxation (current and prior
years) and deferred taxation (notes 6.6, 14 and 32).

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

5 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
5.1 Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
that certain fixed assets, certain investments, foreign currency balances, commitments in
respect of foreign exchange contracts and non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims
have been marked to market and are carried at fair value. Further, staff retirement benefits as
discussed in notes 6.7 and 37 to the financial statements have been carried at present values
as determined under the International Accounting Standards (IAS) 19 (revised) “Employee
Benefits’ .
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5.3

6.1

6.2

6.2.1

Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees, which is the Bank’s functional
and presentation currency.

Rounding off

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are
set out below. These have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
specified.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and balances with treasury banks and balances
with other banks in current and deposit accounts.

Due to / from financial and other institutions
Bai Muajjal

In Bai Muajjal, the Bank sells sukuk on deferred payment basis to financial institutions. The
credit price is agreed at the time of sale and such proceeds are received at the end of the credit
period. The difference between the deferred payment amount receivable and the carrying
value at the time of sale is accrued and recorded as income over the credit period.

Musharakah / Mudaraba

In Musharaka / Mudaraba, the Bank invests / accepts in the Shariah compliant business pools
of the financial institutions at the agreed profit and loss sharing ratio.

Musharaka from State Bank of Pakistan under IERS

Under IERS, the Bank accepts funds from the SBP under shirkat-ul-aqd to constitute a pool for
investment in export refinance portfolio of the Bank under the guidelines issued by the SBP.
The profit of the pool is shared as per the agreed weightages between the partners.

Acceptances from State Bank of Pakistan for financial assistance

The Bank has recorded Acceptances from State Bank of Pakistan for financial assistance at its
fair value which is amortised over the period of the financing.

Commodity Murabahah

In Commodity Murabahah, the Bank sells commodities on credit to other financial institutions.
The credit price is agreed at the time of sale and such proceeds are received at the end of the
credit period.
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Wakalah

In Wakalah, the Bank accepts / places funds from / with financial institutions by entering into
Investment Agency for the funds to be invested in profitable avenues as / on behalf of the
Muwakkil.

6.3 Investments

6.3.1 Classification

Investments of the Bank, other than investments in associates and subsidiaries are classified as
follows:

(a) Held-for-trading

These are investments which are either acquired for generating profits from short-term
fluctuations in market prices or are securities included in a portfolio for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking.

(b) Held-to-maturity

These are investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity and the
Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold them till maturity.

(c) Available-for-sale

These are investments, other than those in subsidiaries and associates, which do not fall
under the ‘held for trading’ or ‘held to maturity’ categories.

6.3.2  Regular way contracts

All purchases and sales of investments that require delivery within the time frame established
by regulation or market convention are recognised at the trade date, which is the date on
which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the investments.

6.3.3  Initial recognition and measurement

Investments other than those categorised as ‘held for trading’ are initially recognised at fair
value which includes transaction costs associated with the investment. Investments classified
as ‘held for trading’ are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in
the profit and loss account.

Premium or discount on debt securities classified as available for sale is amortised using the
effective profit rate method and taken to the profit and loss account.

6.3.4  Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments are valued as follows:

(a) Held-for-trading

These are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Gains and losses on
remeasurement are included in the net profit and loss for the year.
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(b) Held-to-maturity

These are measured at amortised cost using the effective profit rate method, less any
impairment loss recognized to reflect irrecoverable amount.

(c) Available for sale

Quoted /Government securities are measured at fair value. Surplus/(deficit) arising on
remeasurement is included in the statement of comprehensive income and recognised
in the statement of financial position in equity. The surplus/(deficit) arising on
these securities is taken to the profit and loss account when actually realised upon
disposal.

Unquoted equity securities are valued at the lower of cost (which in the case of business
acquisition would be the fair value at the acquisition date) and break-up value. Break
up value of equity securities is calculated with reference to the net assets of the investee
company as per the latest available audited financial statements. Investments in other
unquoted securities are valued at cost less impairment losses, if any.

(d) Investments in associates

Associates are all entities over which the Bank has significant influence but not control.
Investments in associate is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

(e) Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Bank has significant control. Investments in
subsidiary is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

6.3.5 Impairment

Available for sale and held to maturity investments

Impairment loss in respect of investments classified as available for sale and held to maturity
(except sukuk certificates) is recognised based on management’s assessment of objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that may have an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the investments. A significant or prolonged decline in fair value
of an equity investment below its cost is also considered as an objective evidence of impairment.
Provision for diminution in the value of sukuk certificates is made as per the Prudential
Regulations issued by the State Bank of Pakistan. In case of impairment of available for sale
securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognised directly in surplus on revaluation of
assets on the Statement of Financial Position in equity is removed therefrom and recognised in
the profit and loss account. For investments classified as held to maturity, the impairment loss
is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Investment in associates and subsidiaries

In respect of investment in associates and subsidiaries, the Bank reviews their
carrying values at each reporting date to assess whether there is an indication of
impairment. Such indication may include significant and prolonged decline in the
market value, significant changes with an adverse impact on the entity, carrying
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amount of net assets in excess of market capitalisation etc. Any basis applied in this
respect should be justifiable in view of other factors present for the entity. The amount
of impairment is determined based on the higher of value in use and fair value
less cost to sell. Impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

6.3.6  Gains or losses on sale of investments are included in profit and loss for the year.

6.4 Islamic financing and related assets

6.4.1 Islamic financing and related assets are financial products originated by the Bank and
principally comprise of Murabahah, Istisna, Ijarah, Salam, Muswammah, Diminishing
Musharakah and other Islamic modes of financing and the related assets.

As a general rule, funds disbursed under financing arrangements for purchase of goods /
assets are recorded as advance. On culmination, financing are recorded at the deferred sale
price net of profit. Goods purchased but remaining unsold at the statement of financial position
date are recorded as inventories.

6.4.2  Islamic financing and related assets are stated net of general provisions and specific provisions
against non-performing Islamic financing and related assets which are charged to the profit
and loss account.

Specific provision

The Bank maintains specific provision for doubtful debts based on the requirements specified
in the Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP.

General provision
Consumer Financing

The Bank maintains general provision against consumer financing at varying percentages
based on the non-performing loan ratio present in the portfolio. These percentages range from
1% to 2.5% for secured and 4% to 7% for unsecured portfolio.

Small Enterprise Financing

The Bank maintains general provision in respect of small enterprise financing at the rate of 1%
for unsecured portfolio.

The net provision made / reversed during the year is charged to the profit and loss account
and accumulated provision is netted off against Islamic financing and related assets. Islamic
financing and related assets are written off when there are no realistic prospects of recovery.

6.4.3  Ijarah Financing

Jjarah Financing executed on or before December 31, 2008 have been accounted for under finance
method, thereafter all [jarah Financing are accounted for under IFAS-2.

(@) Under finance method, the present value of minimum [jarah payments have

been recognised and shown under Islamic financing and related assets. The
unearned income ie. the excess of aggregate Ijarah rentals over the cost of
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the asset and documentation charges under Jjarah facility is deferred and then amortised
over the term of the Jjarah, so as to produce a constant rate of return on net investment in
the Jjarah. Gains/Losses on termination of Ijarah contracts are recognised as income on
a receipt basis. Income on Ijarah is recognised from the date of delivery of the respective
assets to the mustajir (lessee).

(b) Under IFAS-2 method, assets underlying Ijarah financing have been carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any, and are shown under Islamic financing
and related assets. Rentals accrued from Jjarah financing net of depreciation charge are
taken to the profitand loss account. Depreciation on [jarah assets is charged by applying the
straight line method over the Jjarah period which is from the date of delivery of respective
assets to mustajir up to the date of maturity / termination of Jjarah agreement.

6.4.4 Murabahah

Murabahah is a sale transaction with the purchase orderer wherein the first party (the Bank)
sells to the client / customer Shariah compliant assets / goods for cost plus a pre-agreed profit
after getting title and possession of the same. In principle, on the basis of an undertaking
(Promise-to-Purchase) from the client (the purchase orderer), the Bank purchases the assets /
goods subject of the Murabahah from a third party and takes the possession thereof. However,
the Bank can appoint the client as its agent to purchase and take possession of the assets /
goods on its behalf. Thereafter, it sells it to the client at cost plus the profit agreed upon in the
promise.

6.4.5 Istisna

Istisna is a contract where the buyer (the Bank) orders the client (seller/ manufacturer) to
manufacture and deliver specified goods at an agreed contract price upon completion. Istisna
is used with Wakalah agreement to provide financing mainly to manufacturers. Thus the
transaction consists of two stages: (i) Bai Istisna whereby the Bank purchases goods from the
client and (ii) Wakalah whereby the Bank after receipt / possession of goods, appoints the
client its agent to sell the goods in the market.

6.4.6  Diminishing Musharakah

Diminishing Musharakah represents an asset in joint ownership whereby a partner promises
to buy the equity share of the other partner until the title to the equity is totally transferred
to him. The partner using the asset pays the proportionate rental of such asset to the other
partner (the Bank).

6.4.7 Import Murabahah

Import Murabahah is a product, used to finance a commercial transaction which consists of
purchase by the Bank (generally through an undisclosed agent) the goods from the foreign
supplier and selling them to the client after getting the title to and possession of the goods.
Murabahah financing is extended to all types of trade transactions i.e., under Documentary
Credits (LCs), Documentary Collections and Open Accounts.
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6.4.8 Salam

Salam is a sale transaction where the seller undertakes to supply some specific goods to the
buyer at a future date against an advance price fully paid on spot. In Salam financing, the
transaction consists of two stages: (i) Bai Salam whereby the Bank purchases goods from the
client and (ii) Wakalah whereby the Bank after receipt / possession of goods, appoints the
client its agent to sell the goods in the market.

6.4.9 Muswammah / Karobar Financing

Muswammabh is a contract where the Bank purchases tangible identified goods from client at
an agreed purchase price. The Bank then sells the goods in the market through agent (Client)
at a higher price to earn its desired profit.

6.4.10 Musharakah / Mudarabah

Musharakah / Mudarabah are different types of partnerships in business with distribution of
profit in agreed ratio and distribution of loss in the ratio of capital invested.

6.4.11 Wakalah-tul-Istismar (Investment Agency Wakalah)

Wakalah—tul-Istismar means appointing another person to invest and grow one’s wealth, with
or without a fee. It covers contract for acquisition of services of a person or institution (Wakeel)
for making investments of Wakalah Funds, and accomplishment of certain task on behalf of
another person or institution (Muwakkil).

6.4.12 Running Musharakah

In Running Musharakah financing, the Bank enters into financing with the customer based
on Shirkat-ul-Aqd or Business Partnership in customers operating business. Under this
mechanism the customer can withdraw and return funds to the Bank subject to its Running
Musharakah Financing limit during the Musharakah Period. At the end of each quarter /
half year the customer pays the provisional profit as per the desired profit rate which is
subject to final settlement based on the relevant quarterly / half yearly /annual accounts of the
customer.

6.4.13 Ijarah

Jjarah is a contract where the owner of an asset transfers its usufruct (i.e. the usage right)
to another person for an agreed period, at an agreed consideration. The rentals received/
receivable on IJjarah are recorded as income/revenue. Depreciation on Ijarah assets is charged
to profit and loss account by applying the accounting policy consistent with the policy for
depreciation of operating fixed assets.

6.5 Operating fixed assets and depreciation
6.5.1 Property and equipment

Fixed assets other than freehold land and building on leasehold land are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Freehold land and
building on leasehold land are carried at revalued amount less any accumulated depreciation
and subsequent impairment losses. The revaluation exercise is carried out on periodic basis.
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Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method by taking into consideration the
estimated useful life of the related assets at the rates specified in note 12.2 to the financial
statements. Depreciation on additions/deletions during the year is charged for the
proportionate period for which the asset remained in use.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or are recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Maintenance
and normal repairs are charged to the profit and loss account as and when incurred.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment, if any, are taken to the profit and loss
account.

6.5.2  Capital work in progress
These are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
6.5.3 Intangible assets

Intangible assets having a finite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such intangible assets are amortised using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. The useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date. Intangible assets having an
indefinite useful life are stated at acquisition cost, less impairment losses, if any.

Amortisation on additions / deletions during the year is charged for the proportionate period
for which the asset remained in use.

Software and other development costs are only capitalised to the extent that future economic
benefits are expected to be derived by the Bank.

6.54 Impairment

At each reporting date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of impairment loss. Recoverable amount is the greater of net selling price and value in
use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in the financial statements except for impairment loss
on revalued assets, which is adjusted against related revaluation surplus to the extent that the
impairment loss does not exceed the surplus on revaluation of that asset.
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Where an impairment loss reverses subsequently, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognized as income immediately except for impairment loss on revalued assets which is
adjusted against the related revaluation surplus to the extent that the impairment loss does not
exceed the surplus on revaluation of assets.

6.6 Taxation

6.6.1 Current

The provision for current taxation is based on taxable income for the year at current rates of
taxation, after taking into consideration available tax credits, rebates and tax losses as allowed
under the seventh schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. The charge for current tax also
includes adjustments, where considered necessary relating to prior years, which arises from
assessments/ developments made during the year. Currently, the Bank provides for minimum
tax in accordance with the requirements of section 113 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

6.6.2 Deferred

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method on all major temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities used for financial reporting
purposes and amounts used for taxation purposes. In addition, the Bank also records deferred
tax asset on available tax losses. Deferred tax is calculated using the rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the differences reverse based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Bank also recognises deferred tax asset / liability on deficit / surplus on revaluation of
securities and operating fixed assets which is adjusted against the related deficit / surplus
in accordance with the requirements of the International Accounting Standard 12 - Income
Taxes.

6.7 Staff retirement benefits

6.7.1 Defined benefit plan

The Bank operates an approved funded gratuity scheme for its permanent employees. The
liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity
scheme, is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial
position date less the fair value of plan assets. Contributions to the fund are made on the basis
of actuarial recommendations. The defined benefit obligation is calculated periodically by an
independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. The last valuation was conducted
as on December 31, 2018.
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Amounts arising as a result of “Remeasurements”, representing the actuarial gains and losses
and the difference between the actual investment returns and the return implied by the net
interest cost are recognised in the statement of financial position immediately, with a charge or
credit to “Other Comprehensive Income” in the periods in which they occur.

6.7.2  Defined contribution plan

The Bank operates a recognised contributory provident fund for all the permanent employees.
Equal monthly contributions are made both by the Bank and the employees at the rate of 10 %
of the basic salary. The Bank has no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions made by the Bank are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due.

6.8 Revenue recognition

6.8.1  Profit on Murabahah and Commodity Murabahah is recognised over the life of Murabahah on
an accrual basis. Profit on Murabahah transactions for the period from the date of disbursement
to the date of culmination of Murabahah is recognised immediately on the culmination
date.

6.8.2  Profit from Istisna, Salam and Muswammah (Karobar Finance) are recorded on an accrual
basis commencing from the time of sale of goods till the realisation of proceeds by the Bank.
Profit from Diminishing Musharakah are recognised on a time proportionate basis.

6.8.3  The Bank follows the finance method in recognising income on Jjarah contracts written up
to December 31, 2008. Under this method the unearned income i.e. excess of aggregate Jjarah
rentals over the cost of the asset and documentation charges under Ijarah facility is deferred
and then amortised over the term of the Jjarah, so as to produce a constant rate of return on
net investment in the Jjarah. Gains / losses on termination of Ijarah contracts are recognised
as income on a receipt basis. Income on Jjarah is recognised from the date of delivery of the
respective assets to the mustajir (lessee).

Rental from Jjarah contracts entered on or after January 01, 2009 is recognized in the profit and
loss account over the term of the contract net of depreciation expense relating to the Ijarah
assets.

6.8.4  Provisional profit of Musharakah / Mudarabah financing is recognised on an accrual basis.
Actual profit / loss on Musharakah and Mudarabah financing is adjusted after declaration of
profit by Musharakah partner / mudarib or on liquidation of Musharakah / Mudarabah.

6.8.5  Profit on Wakalah-tul-Istismar financings is booked on an accrual basis and is adjusted upon
declaration of profit by the Wakeel.

6.8.6  Profit on Running Musharakah financings is booked on an accrual basis and is adjusted upon
declaration of profit by Musharakah partners.

6.8.7  Profit on classified financing is recognised on a receipt basis.

6.8.8  Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established.
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6.8.9  Gains and losses on sale of investments are recognised in the profit and loss account.

6.8.10 Fee on issuance of letter of credit and acceptance is recognised on receipt basis as generally
the transactions consummate within an accounting period. Commission on guarantees,
if considered material, is recognised over the period of guarantee. Fee, commission and
brokerage income are recognized on receipt basis.

6.8.11 Profit on Sukuks is recognised on an accrual basis. Where Sukuks (excluding held for trading
securities) are purchased at a premium or discount, the premiums / discounts are amortised
through the profit and loss account over the remaining life of Sukuk, using the effective yield
method.

6.8.12 Income earned from revenues that are not Shariah complaint are not recognised in the
profit and loss account. This income is classified as charity payable in accordance with the
recommendation of the Shariah Board of the Bank.

6.9 Revenue from Conventional products

On May 07, 2015, the Bank acquired operation of the defunct KASB Bank Limited (the
amalgamated entity) which was operating as a conventional bank in Pakistan. Keeping in
view the shariah compliance, the Shariah Board of the Bank has approved that any income
accruing on conventional products is not to be transferred to profit and loss statement and
is classified as liability under the head “Receipt Appropriation Account” in other liabilities.
Further, expenses incurred in respect of legal & professional charges or other expenses as
approved by the Shariah Board that pertain to the aforesaid acquisition are to be set off against
such income.

6.10 Financial Instruments
6.10.1 Financial assets and financial liabilities

All financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Bank becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when
the Bank loses control of the contractual rights that comprise the financial assets. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. Any loss on derecognition of the financial assets
and financial liabilities is taken to income directly. Financial assets carried on the statement of
financial position include cash and balances with treasury banks, balances with other banks,
due from financial institutions, investments, Islamic financing and related assets and certain
receivables and financial liabilities include bills payable, due to financial institutions, deposits
and other payables. The particular recognition methods adopted for significant financial
assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with
them.

6.10.2 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are off-set and the net amount is reported in the
financial statements only when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised
amount and the Bank intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and to settle
the liabilities simultaneously. Income and expense items of such assets and liabilities are also
reported on a net basis in the financial statements, only when permitted by the accounting and
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan.
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6.11

6.12

6.13

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. In case of equity futures, the fair
value is calculated with reference to quoted market price. Derivatives with positive market
values (i.e. unrealised gains) are included in other receivables and derivatives with negative
market values (i.e. unrealised losses) are included in other liabilities in the statement of
financial position. The resultant gains and losses are taken to the profit and loss account.

Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Bank operates. The financial statements are presented in
Pakistani Rupee, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into local currency at the exchange rates prevailing
on the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated
into rupees at the exchange rates prevailing at the statement of financial position date. Forward
exchange promises are revalued using forward exchange rates applicable to their respective
remaining maturities.

Translation gains and losses
Translation gains and losses are included in the profit and loss account.
Commitments

Commitments for outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts are disclosed at contracted
rates. Contingent liabilities/commitments for letters of credit and letters of guarantee
denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in rupee terms at the exchange rates prevailing
on the reporting date.

Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Bank in the financial
statements.

Deposits
Deposits are generated on the basis of two modes i.e. Qard and Mudaraba.

Deposits taken on Qard basis are classified as ‘Current non-remunerative accounts’ and
Deposits generated on Mudaraba basis are classified as ‘Current remunerative accounts’,
‘Savings deposits’ and ‘Fixed deposits’. No profit or loss is passed on to current non-
remunerative account depositors, however the funds of current accounts are treated as equity
for the purpose of profit calculation and any profit earned/loss incurred on those funds are
allocated to the equity of the Bank. No profit or loss is passed on to current account depositors.
While the product features of each product differ, there is usually no restriction on withdrawals
or number of transactions in current and saving accounts. In case of fixed deposits, pre-mature
withdrawals can be made as per approved terms only.
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Profits realised in investment pools are distributed in pre-agreed profit sharing ratio. Rab-ul-
Maal share is distributed among depositors according to weightages assigned at the inception
of profit calculation period.

Profits are distributed from the pool such that the depositors (remunerative) only bear the
risk of assets in the pool during the profit calculation period. In case of loss in a pool during
the profit calculation period, the loss is distributed among the depositors (remunerative)
according to their ratio of Investments.

Asset pools are created at the Bank’s discretion and the Bank can add, amend, transfer an asset
to any other pool in the interests of the deposit holders.

6.14 Pool Management

The Bank operates general and specific pools for deposits and inter-bank funds accepted/
acquired under Mudaraba, Musharakah and Wakalah modes.

Under the general deposits pools, the Bank accepts funds on Mudaraba basis from depositors
(Rab-ul-Maal) where the Bank acts as Manager (Mudarib) and invests the funds in the Shariah
Compliant modes of financings, investments and placements. When utilising investing funds,
the Bank prioritizes the funds received from depositors over the funds generated from own
sources after meeting the regulatory requirement relating to such deposits.

Specific pools are operated for funds acquired / accepted from the State Bank of Pakistan, high-
net worth customers and other banks for Islamic Export Refinance to Bank’s customers and
liquidity management respectively under the Musharakah/Mudaraba modes. The profit of
each deposit pool is calculated on all the remunerative assets booked by utilising the funds
from the pool after deduction of expenses directly incurred in earning the income of such
pool alongwith related fee income, if any. The directly related costs comprise of depreciation
on ijarah assets, takaful premium, documentation charges etc. No expense of general or
administrative nature of expense is charged to the pools. No provisions against any non-
performing asset of the pool is passed on to the pool except on the actual loss / write-off of such
non-performing asset. The profit of the pool is shared between equity and other members of
the pool on the basis of Musharakah at gross level (before charging of mudarib fee) as per the
investment ratio of the equity. The profit of the pool is shared among the members of the pool
on pre-defined mechanism based on the weightages announced before the profit calculation
period after charging of mudarib share.

The risk characteristic of each pool mainly depends on the assets and liability profile of each
pool. As per Bank’s policy, relatively low risk/secured financing transactions and assets are
allocated to general depositors pool of PKR, USD, GBP and Euro. The Bank maintains General
Pools, FI Pools, IERS pool and Equity pool. The general pools are exposed to general credit
risk, asset ownership risk and profit rate risk of the underlying assets involved.

General Pool

For General Pools, the Bank allocates PKR financing to Corporate, SME and Consumer
Finance customers in diversified sectors and avenues of the economy/ business as mentioned
in the note 45.1.3. Investments in Sovereign Guarantee Sukuk, Bai Muajjal with State Bank of
Pakistan, Bai Muajjal with Government of Pakistan are also done through General Pools. All
remunerative deposits are tagged to these general pools and their funds generated from the
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6.15

6.16

depositors are invested on priority basis. Due to limited investment options in USD, GBP
and EURO pool, funds from FCY pools are invested in available International Sukuk, Shariah
Complaint Nostro accounts and remaining funds are taken out and invested in PKR general
pool as part of equity. In such cases return from PKR General pool is given back to FCY pools,
so that returns can be passed on to FCY pool customers accordingly.

Special Mudarabah Pool

Special Mudarabah Pools are created to attract and retain clients expecting specific returns.
The funds received against these deposits are invested in various Shariah compliant assets.

Islamic export refinance scheme Pool

The IERS pool assets comprise of Sovereign Guarantee Sukuks, and financings to / sukuks of
blue chip companies and exporters as allowed under the applicable laws and regulations, and
as such are exposed to lower credit risk. The Musharakah with SBP under IERS is tagged to the
IERS pool.

Financial Institution (FI) Pool

The FI pool assets generally comprise of Sovereign Guarantee Sukuks only and the related
liability of the FI pool comprise of Musharakah / Mudarabah / Wakalah Acceptance from other
banks and financial institutions. These pools are created to meet the liquidity requirements of
the Bank.

Provisions and contingent assets and liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted to
reflect the current best estimates.

Contingent assets are not recognised, and are also not disclosed unless an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. Contingent liabilities are disclosed unless the probability of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefit is remote.

Provisions for guarantee claims and other off balance sheet obligations are recognised when
intimated and reasonable certainty exists for the Bank to settle the obligation. Charge to the
profit and loss account is stated net of expected recoveries.

Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The cost of
acquisition is measured as the fair value of assets given, equity instruments issued and the
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of acquisition. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
if any. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration transferred over
the fair value of the Bank’s share of identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
this is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit and loss account.
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Goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured, subsequent to initial recognition, at
its cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interests (NCI) is measured at the proportionate share of
the NCI in the fair value of the net assets acquired by the Bank. The excess of fair value of
consideration transferred over the proportionate share of the NCI in the fair value of the net
assets acquired is recognised in equity.

6.17 Segment reporting

Asegment is a distinguishable component of the Bank that is engaged in providing products or
services (business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different
from those of other segments.

As disclosed in note 2.4 to the financial statements, during the year, the SBP issued the revised
forms for the preparation of the annual financial statements of the banks which are applicable
for annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2018. The implementation of the revised
forms also changed the segment disclosures which are now required to be prepared under
IFRS 8 - “Operating Segments”.

IFRS 8 requires the entity to define operating segment based on various factors including
the basis on which operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating
decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its
performance and for which discrete financial information is available.

The Bank, for its internal performance management purposes, assesses its performance as a
single business unit only. However, recently the Bank has changed its internal management
reporting system where it has introduced the business segment wise performance information
and therefore the management expect that the business segment wise information would be
available in future. Accordingly, the disclosure has been prepared on the basis given under the
previous requirements.

6.17.1 Business segments
Trading and Sales

It includes equity, foreign exchanges, commodities, credit, funding, own position securities,
placements and Islamic financing and related assets.

Retail Banking

It includes retail Islamic financing and related assets, deposits and banking services offered to
its retail customers and small and medium enterprises.

Commercial Banking

It includes project finance, export finance, trade finance, Jjarah, guarantees and bills of
exchange relating to its corporate customers.

Support Centre

It includes the assets and liabilities relating to support functions at Head Office and their
related income and expenses.
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6.17.2 Geographical segment
The Bank operates only in Pakistan.
6.18 Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Assets acquired in satisfaction of claims are initially recorded at cost and revalued at each
year-end date of the statement of financial position. An increase in market value over the
acquisition cost is recorded as a surplus on revaluation. A decline in the market value is
initially used to reduce the surplus account, if any, or if no surplus exists, is charged to the
profit and loss account as an impairment. A subsequent increase in the market value of an
impaired asset is reversed through the profit and loss account up to the extent of the original
impairment. All direct costs of acquiring title to the asset are charged immediately to the profit
and loss account.

Depreciation on assets acquired in satisfaction of claims is charged to the profit and loss
account in line with depreciation charged on operating fixed assets.

These assets are generally intended for sale. Gains and losses realised on the sale of such assets
are disclosed separately from gains and losses realised on the sale of operating fixed assets in
the notes to these financial statements. If such asset is subsequently used by the Bank for its
own operations, the asset, along with any related surplus, is transferred to operating fixed
assets.

6.19 Earnings per share

The Bank presents basic and diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) for its shareholders. Basic EPS
is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is
determined by adjusting the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, if any.

6.20 Acceptances

Acceptances representing undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers
are recognized as liabilities of the Bank at the date of acceptance. Previously, acceptances were
only recognized as off-balance sheet obligations and disclosed under contingent liablities.

7 CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS
Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
In hand:
- local currency 3,619,317 3,648,276
- foreign currency 332,378 525,763
3,951,695 4,174,039
With the State Bank of Pakistan in:
- local currency current account 7.1 7,642,125 5,516,757
- foreign currency deposit accounts:
- Cash Reserve Account 7.2 269,114 188,575
- Special Cash Reserve Account 7.3 323,549 227,477
- US Dollar Clearing Account 26,604 12,120
619,267 428,172

With National Bank of Pakistan in:
- local currency current account 2,079,665 1,665,212
14,292,752 11,784,180
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7.1

7.2

7.3

8.1

9.1

9.2

This represents Rs. 7,642.125 million (2017: Rs. 5,516.757 million) held against Cash Reserve
Requirement and Statutory Liquidity Requirement.

As per BSD Circular No. 15 dated June 21, 2008, cash reserve of 5% is required to be maintained
with the State Bank of Pakistan on deposits held under the New Foreign Currency Accounts
Scheme (FE-25 deposits).

Special cash reserve of 6% is required to be maintained with SBP on FE-25 deposits as

specified in BSD Circular No. 15 dated June 21, 2008. Balance held under this account is non-
remunerative.

BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
In Pakistan:
- in current accounts 2,416 2,407
- in deposit accounts 8.1 4,575 97
6,991 2,504
Outside Pakistan:
- in current accounts 825,630 799,303
832,621 801,807

These represent deposits with various Islamic banks under Musharakah and Mudarabah
arrangements. The expected profit rate on these arrangements is 3.5% (2017: 2.8%) per
annum.

DUE FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS - NET

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000

Wakalah Placement 9.1 534,039 1,716,767
Commodity Murabahah 9.2 17,639,465 19,655,020
18,173,504 21,371,787
Other placements 32,400 32,400
18,205,904 21,404,187
Provision against placements (32,400) (32,400)

18,173,504 21,371,787

This represents foreign currency placements and the profit rates on these agreements range
between 0.25% to 2.80% (2017: 0.15% to 2.85%) per annum. The agreements have maturities
ranging from 62 days to 181 days (2017: 92 days to 365 days).

The Bank has entered into Commodity Murabahah agreements under which the Bank
purchases an underlying commodity from open market through an agent and sells it to a
financial institution on credit with profit. The profit rates on the agreements range between
10% to 10.75% (2017: 5.80% to 6.50%) per annum and the agreements have maturities ranging
from 2 days to 55 days (2017: 4 days to 90 days).

ANNUAL REPORT | 2018




9.4

9.5
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Particulars of amounts due from financial institutions with respect to currencies:

2018 2017
Rupees in “000
- In local currency 17,671,865 19,687,420
- In foreign currency 534,039 1,716,767
18,205,904 21,404,187
Securities held as collateral against amounts due from financial institutions
2018 2017
Held by Further Total Held by Further Total
the Bank given as the Bank given as
collateral collateral
Rupees in “000
Government of Pakistan
Jjarah Sukuks 1,950,000 - 1,950,000 - - -
Category of classification 2018 2017
Classified  Provision held Classified  Provision held
Placements Placements
Rupees in “000
Domestic
Other assets especially mentioned - - - -
Substandard - - - -
Doubtful - - - -
Loss 32,400 32,400 32,400 32,400
Total 32,400 32,400 32,400 32,400
The Bank does not hold overseas classified placements.
INVESTMENTS - NET
Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
Investments - Islamic 10.1 37,033,572 40,223,033
Investments - Conventional
(relating to amalgamated entity) 10.2 1,798,521 1,869,133
38,832,093 42,092,166
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10.1 Islamic Investments by type

2018 2017
Note Cost / . ) Cost / B .
Amortized ~ Lrovisionfor  Surplus / Carrying Amortized  rovision for  Surplus / Carrying
cost diminution (Deficit) Value cost diminution (Deficit) Value
Rupees in ‘000

Held for trading securities
Shares 164,223 - (19,686) 144,537 32,156 - (2,007) 30,149
Awvailable for sale securities
Federal Government

Securities 26,511,713 - 1,893 || 26,513,606|| 33,840,536 - 415,765 || 34,256,301
Non Government

Debt Securities 10,082,407 (35,880) (1,479) || 10,045,048 5,552,652 (3,080) (586)| 5,548,986
Mutual fund units 21 - 44 65 21 - 42 63
Shares 208,642 - 16,785 225427 242,645 - - 242,645

36,802,783 (35,880) 17,243 36,784,146 39,635,854 (3080) 415221 40,047,995

Subsidiary 10.9 191,015 (86,126) - 104,889 191,015 (46,126) - 144,889
Total Islamic investments 37,158,021  (122,006) (2,/443) 37,033,572 39,859,025 (49206) 413214 40,223,033

10.2 Conventional Investments by type*

2018 2017
Cost / . ] . Cost / - .
Note Amortized Pr.o\n‘morT for Surpl‘u:s / Carrying Amortized Prf)x'1.51(1r1‘ for Surpl.u:&; / Carrying
cost diminution (Deficit) Value diminution (Deficit) Value

cost
Rupees in ‘000
Available for sale securities

Non Government Debt
Securities 270,586 || (270,586) - - 282,629 | (282,629) - -
Shares 1,334,508 | (684,853) (1,877) 647,778|| 2,156,736 || (1,438,346) - 718,390
1,605,094  (955,439) (1,877) 647,778 2,439,365 (1,720,975) - 718,390
Held to maturity securities
Non Government Debt
Securities 321,601  (321,601) - - 321,601  (321,601) - -
Associates 1010 1,660,111 (1,032,169) - 627,942 1,660,111 (1,032,169) - 627,942
Subsidiaries 10.9 2,499,708 (1,976,907) - 522,801 2,499,708 (1,976,907) - 522,801
Total conventional investments 6,086,514 (4,286,116) (1,877) 1,798521 6,920,785 (5,051,652) - 1,869,133

* These assets are related to amalgamated entity. These investments are under process of conversion /
liquidation / disposal.
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10.3 Islamic Investments by segments

2018 2017
Cost / . ) Cost / B .
Note Amortized ~ Lrovisionfor  Surplus / Carrying Amortized  rovision for  Surplus / Carrying
cost ) diminution (Deficit) Value cost diminution (Deficit) Value
Rupees in “000

Federal Government Securities
GOP Jjarah Sukuks 26,511,713 - 1,893 26,513,606 33,840,536 - 415765 34,256,301
Non Government Debt Securities
Sukuk cetificates - unlisted 10,082,407 (35,880) (14790 10,045,048 5,552,652 (3,080) (586) 5548986
Mutual fund units
Units of open-end mutual

funds 21 - 4 65 21 - 42 63
Shares
Ordinary shares of listed

companies 372,865 - (2901) 369,964 274,801 - (2,007) 272,79%4
Subsidiary
BankIslami Modaraba

Investments Limited 109 191,015 (86,126) - 104,889 191,015 (46,126) - 144,889

37,158,021 (122,006) (2443) 37033572 39,859,025 (49,206) 413214 40,223,033

10.4 Conventional Investments by segments®

2018 2017
Cost / . o Cost / . )
Note Amortized  rovision for  Surplus / Carrying Amortized ~ [rovisionfor  Surplus / Carrying
cost diminution (Deficit) Value cost diminution (Deficit) Value
Rupees in “000
Non Government Debt Securities
Listed Companies 92,764 (92,764) - - 104,807 (104,807) - -
Unlisted Companies 499,423 (499423) - - 499,423 (499423) - -
592,187 (592,187) - - 604,230 (604,230) - -
Shares
Listed Companies 145478 (73,498) (1,877) 70,103 967,706 (826991) - 140,715
Unlisted Companies 1,189,030 (611,355) - 577,675 1,189,030 (611,355) - 577,675
1,334,508 (684,853) (1,877) 647,778 2156736 (1,438346) - 718,390
Associates - Unlisted
KASB Capital Limited 10.10 41,867 (41,867) - - 41,867 (41,867) - -
KASB Funds Limited 10.10 432,302 (432,302) - - 432,302 (432,302) - -
New Horizon Exploration &
Production Limited 10.10 558,000 (558,000) - - 558,000 (558,000) - -
Shakarganj Food Products
Limited 10.10 627,942 - - 627,942 627,942 - - 627,942
1660111 (1,032,169) - 627,942 1660111 (1,032,169) - 627,942
Subsidiaries
BIPL Securities Limited 109 2,394,937 | (1,872,136) - 522,801 2394937 || (1,872,136 - 522,801
My Solutions Corporation Limited ~ 10.9 104,771 (104,771) - 104,771 (104,771 -

)
- ) -
52801 2499708 (1,976907) - 522,801
)

2499708 (1,976,907) -
) (1,877) 1,798,521 6,920,785 (5,051,652 - 1,869,133

6,086,514 (4,286,116

10.5 Investments given as collateral

2018 2017
Rupees in “000
GOP Jjarah Sukuks 5,000,000 10,000,000

* These assets are related to amalgamated entity. These investments are under process of conversion /
liquidation / disposal.
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10.6 Provision for diminution in value of investments

2017
Rupees in “000

Note 2018

10.6.1 Opening balance 5,100,858 4,890,258
Charge / (reversal)
Charge for the year 73,426 210,885
Reversals for the year (12,043) (285)
Reversal of provision / provision for diminution

in value of investments - net 31 61,383 210,600

Amounts written off (754,119) -
Closing balance 10.6.1.1 4,408,122 5,100,858

10.6.1.1 Break up of provision for diminution in the value of
investments is as follows:

Investments - Islamic 122,006 49,206
Investments - Conventional 4,286,116 5,051,652
4,408,122 5,100,858

10.6.2 Particulars of provision against debt securities

2018 2017

Category of classification Non- Provision Non- Provision

performing performing

investments investments
Domestic Rupees in ‘000
Other assets especially mentioned - - - -
Substandard - - - -
Doubtful - - - -
Loss 904,318 628,067 916,360 607,311
Total 904,318 628,067 916,360 607,311

10.6.2.1 The Bank does not hold overseas classified debt securities.

10.6.2.2 Sukuks amounting to Rs. 312.131 million have been placed under non performing status. The
Forced Sale Value (FSV) benefit of the collateral availed in respect of Sukuks amounts to Rs.
Nil (2017:Rs. 32.8 million). Profit accrued on these Sukuks has been suspended. The additional
profit arising from availing the FSV benefit - net of tax amounting to Rs. Nil (2017: Rs. 21.32
million) is not available for distribution in either cash or stock dividend to shareholders.

10.7  Quality of Available for Sale Securities
Details regarding quality of Available for Sale (AFS) securities are as follows:
10.7.1 Federal Government Securities - Government guaranteed
2018 2017

Cost
Rupees in ‘000

GOP Jjarah Sukuks 26,511,713 33,840,536
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10.7.3

10.7.4

10.7.4.1

10.7.4.2

10.7.5

Non-Government Debt Securities*

Unlisted

AAA

A

A+

AA-
Unrated

Mutual Funds

A(f)

AA(f)

Unrated

Shares (Equity Securities)
Listed Companies

- Real Estate Investment Trust
- Banks

- Modarabas

- Chemical
- Power Generation and Distribution

Unlisted Companies

Pakistan Export Finance Guarantee
Agency Limited
KASB Invest (Private) Limited

Foreign Securities

Equity Securities

Unlisted

Evolvence Capital Limited - Incorporated

in British Virgin Islands

2018

Cost

2017

Rupees in ‘000

9,002,459 4,597,484
542,000 220,000
50,000 322,000
100,000 -
658,534 695,797
10,352,993 5,835,281
5 5
5 5
11 11
21 21
143,771 242,645
64,871 -
91,675 91,675
53,783 876,011
20 20
354,120 1,210,351
2018 2017
Cost Breakup value Cost Breakup value
Rupees in ‘000
5,680 0.50 5,680 0.50
28,000 3.06 28,000 3.06
33,680 3.56 33,680 3.56
2018 2017
Cost
Rupees in “000
1,155,350 1,155,350

* Entity s ratings are used where sukuk and term finance certificates ratings were not available
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Particulars relating to Held to Maturity securities are as follows:

Non-Government Debt Securities 2018 2017
Cost
Unlisted Rupees in ‘000
- Unrated 321,601 321,601

The market value of securities classified as held-to-maturity as at December 31, 2018
amounted to Nil (December 31, 2017: Nil).

Details of investment
in subsidiaries

2018
Holding  Country of Assets  Liabilities ~ Revenue Profit / Total
%o incorporation (loss) after  comprehen-
taxation  siveincome /
Rupees in ‘000 (loss)
Listed
BIPL Securities Limited 7712 Pakistan 1,829,580 951,685 196,158  (22452)  (47,090)
Unlisted
BankIslami Modaraba
Investments Limited 100.00  Pakistan 88,382 1,974 6,589 (8,352) (3,818)
My Solutions Corporation
Limited 100.00  Pakistan 14448 29,678 1,978 (6,237) (6,237)
Details of investment
in associates
Unlisted
KASB Funds Limited 4389  Pakistan 46,465 32,465 23,640  (66,241)  (65,679)
New Horizon Exploration and
Production Limited 20.00  Pakistan 452,899 117,949 73,048 37,870 37,870
Shakarganj Food Products
Limited 3638  Pakistan 7,641,489 4923645 3,000,323 366346 373,199
KASB Capital Limited* 2178 Mauritius $652,864 $135,428 - $(34084) $(34,084)
* This represents the full US$ amount.
ISLAMIC FINANCING, RELATED ASSETS AND ADVANCES - NET
Note 2018 2017

Rupees in “000

Islamic financing and related assets - net 11.1 118,087,795 118,469,536
Advances (relating to amalgamated
entity) - net 11.2 483,016 685,503

118,570,811 119,155,039

2018




11.1 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND RELATED ASSETS

Note Performing Non Performing Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
In Pakistan Rupees in “000
- Murabahah inancing
and related assets 11.3&11.9 9,448,791 13,568,133 446,781 328,424 9,895,572 13,896,557
- Istisna financing and 114 &
related assets 11.10 14023932 10,459,365 1,047,479 826,468 15,071,411 11,285,833
- Diminishing Musharakah
Housing 12452638 10,408,644 933,779 699,098 13,386,417 11,107,742
- Diminishing Musharakah
financing and related
assets - Auto 8,394,715 5,197,891 52,478 33,584 8,447,193 5,231,475
- Diminishing Musharakah
financing and related
assets - Others 11.6 19,962,598 9,977,899 633,515 811,649 20,596,113 10,789,548
- Against Bills - Murabahah 169,671 79,732 - - 169,671 79,732
- Post Due Acceptance 94,806 37,241 13922 - 108,728 37,241
- Salam 115 143,935 123,987 337 43,000 144,272 166,987
- Muswammah financing
and related assets /
Karobar financing 1.7 14,355,182 13,947,199 877,072 599,380 15232254 14,546,579
- Financing to employees 11.18 2,507,962 2,235,530 95,489 35,071 2,603,451 2,270,601
- Qardh e Hasana 205,100 202,881 394,004 359,075 599,194 561,956
- Running Musharakah 22,058949 36,343,802 2,345,509 2345509 24,404,458 38,689,311
- Investment Agency Wakalah 6,250,000 6,250,000 - - 6,250,000 6,250,000
- Housing finance
portfolio - others 37,819 45,788 - - 37,819 45,788
- Net investment in Jjarah
financing in Pakistan 11.12 36,543 38,481 - - 36,543 38,481
- Jjarah financing under
IFAS 2 and related assets 118 3,714,311 5,413,304 167,097 216,360 3,881,408 5,629,664
Gross financing and related
assets 113,856,952 114,329,877 7,007,552 6,297,618 120,864,504 120,627,495
Less: Provision against
non-performing Islamic
financing and
related assets
- Specific 11.14 & 11.15 - - || (2546/436) (1,934769) || (2546/436)| | (1,934,769)
- General 11.14 & 11.15 (230,273) (223,190) - - (230,273) (223,190)

(230,273) (223190)  (2,546,436) (1,934,769)  (2,776,709)  (2,157,959)
Islamic financing and related

assets — net of provisions 113,626,679 114,106,687 4,461,116 4,362,849 118,087,795 118,469,536
11.2 ADVANCES
Loans, cash credits, running

finances, etc. - In Pakistan* 194,852 469,732 7,218,699 8,239,390 7413551 8,709,122
Net investment in finance

lease - In Pakistan 11.12 255 - 584,988 585,391 585,243 585,391
Bills discounted and

purchased (excluding treasury bills)

- Payable in Pakistan 122,451 - 592,195 714,646 714,646 714,646
Advances - gross 317,558 469,732 8,395,882 9,539,427 8,713,440 10,009,159
Provision against advances
- Specific 11.14 & 11.15 - - (8,386,515) (9,515,300) (8,386,515) (9,515,300)
- General 11.14 & 11.15 (369) (688) - - (369) (688)

(369) (688) (8,386,515) (9,515,300) (8,386,884) (9,515,988)

Advances - net of provision 317,189 469,044 9,367 24,127 326,556 493,171

Fair Value adjustment 11.16 - - 156,460 192,332 156,460 192,332
Advances - net of provision

and fair value adjustment 317,189 469,044 165,827 216,459 483,016 685,503

* This includes non-interest bearing financing facilities amounting to Rs. 88.944 million.
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11.4

11.5

11.6
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Murabahah financing and related assets

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in ‘000
Murabahah financing 11.3.1 7,928,163 11,064,353
Deferred Murabahah income 337,220 378,563
Advances against Murabahah financing 1,630,189 2,453,641
9,895,572 13,896,557
Murabahah receivable - gross 11.3.2 8,265,383 11,442,916
Less: Deferred Murabahah income 11.3.4 (123,982) (146,828)
Profit receivable (213,238) (231,735)
Murabahah financing 7,928,163 11,064,353
The movement in Murabahah financing during the year is as follows:
Opening balance 11,442,916 10,816,499
Sales during the year 27,387,581 66,360,039
Received during the year (30,565,114) (65,733,622)
Closing balance 8,265,383 11,442,916
Murabahah sale price (for transactions
during the year) 27,387,581 66,360,039
Murabahah purchase price (for transactions
during the year) (26,682,001) (65,104,250)
705,580 1,255,789
Deferred Murabahah income
Opening balance 146,828 134,490
Arising during the year 705,580 1,255,789
Recognised during the year (728,426) (1,243,451)
Closing balance 123,982 146,828
Istisna financing and related assets
Istisna financing 10,180,982 5,949,944
Advance against Istisna financing 4,624,429 5,269,236
Istisna inventories 266,000 66,653
15,071,411 11,285,833
Salam
Salam financing 52,305 67,001
Advance against Salam 91,967 99,986
144,272 166,987
Diminishing Musharakah financing and related assets - Others
Diminishing Musharakah financing 20,542,427 10,584,893
Advance against Diminishing Musharakah financing 53,686 204,655
20,596,113 10,789,548

2018




11.7 Muswammah financing and related assets / Karobar financing
Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
Muswammah financing 13,496,828 9,622,350
Advance against Muswammah financing - -
Muswammah inventories 1,735,426 4,924,229
15,232,254 14,546,579

11.8 Ijarah financing under IFAS 2 and related assets
Net book value of assets under IFAS 2 11.13 3,880,726 5,427,911
Advance against Jjarah financing 682 201,753

3,881,408 5,629,664

11.9 Murabahah financing and related assets includes financing amounting to Rs. 600 million
(2017: Rs. 827.897 million) and advance amounting to Rs. 500 million (2017: Rs. 797.250
million) under Islamic Export Refinance Scheme.

11.10  Istisna financing and related assets includes financing amounting to Rs. 901.300 million
(2017: Rs. 444.654 million) and advance amounting to Rs. 530.375 million (2017: Rs. 1,094.541
million) under Islamic Export Refinance Scheme.

11.11  Particulars of Islamic financing and related assets and advances - gross

2018 2017
Rupees in “000

11.11.1 Inlocal currency 129,577,944 130,636,654

In foreign currency - -
129,577,944 130,636,654

11.12  Break up of net investment in Ijarah financing and finance lease
Islamic financing and related assets - net 36,543 38,481
Advances - net 585,243 585,391

621,786 623,872

11.12.1 Net investment in Ijarah financing in Pakistan and finance lease

2018 2017
Not later Later than Over five Total Not later Later than Over five Total
than one one and less years than one one and less years
year th(.‘]’l ﬁVC years year thCﬂ ﬁVC years
Rupees in ‘000
Jjarah rentals receivable 575,290 - - 575,290 576,718 - 576,718
Residual value 90,794 - - 90,794 91,452 - 91,452
Minimum Jjarah payments 666,084 - - 006,084 668,170 - 668,170
Profit for future periods (44,298) - - (44298)  (44,298) - (44,298)
Present value of minimum
Jjarah payments 621,786 - - 621,786 623872 - 623,872
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11.13  Ijarah Assets
2018
Cost Accumulated depreciation Book value Rate of
Asat Addition / Asat Asat Charge / Asat De as gt a1 Dspresa—
January 01, (deletions)  December 31,  January 01, (deletions)  December 31, LCQ;[;I g T 1on /o
2018 2018 2018 2018
Rupees in ‘000
Plant and Machinery 1,856,078 4,049 1,860,127 1,007,861 140,548 1,148409 711,718  20-33.33
Vehicles 7,290,401 257,259 6219976 2,710,707 1,020,174 3,050,968 3,169,008 20-33.33
(1,327,684) (679,913)
9,146,479 261,308 8,080,103 3718568 1,160,722 4,199,377 3,880,726
(1,327,684) (679,913)
2017
Cost Accumulated depreciation Book value Rate of
Asat Addition / Asat Asat Charge / Asat D * gt 3 szref}a—
January 01,  (deletions) December31, January01,  (deletions) December 31, ecezrgwe oL on-vo
2017 2017 2017 2017
Rupees in “000
Plant and Machinery 1,817,106 51,729 1,856,078 823,532 195,810 1,007,861 848217  20-33.33
(12757) (11,481)
Vehicles 7,321,676 915,258 7290401 1932980 1,187,889 2,710,707 4579694  20-33.33
(946,533) (410,162)
9,138,782 966,987 9146479 2756512 1,383,699 3,718568 5427911
(959,290) (421,643)
11.13.1 Future Ijarah payments receivable
2018 2017
Not later Later than Over five Total Not later Later than Over five Total
thanone  one and less years thanone  oneand less years
year then five years year then five years
Rupees in “000
Jjarah rentals receivable 1,237,529 1,378,157 - 2,615,686 1,805,798 2,640,112 - 4445910
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11.14

Islamic financing, related assets and advances include Rs. 15,403.434 million (2017: Rs.

15,837.045 million) which have been placed under non-performing status as detailed below:

Category of
Classification

Other Assets Especially
Mentioned (OAEM)

Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

Category of
Classification

Other Assets Especially
Mentioned (OAEM)

Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

11.14.1

2018

Classified Islamic financing and related
assets and advances

Provision Required

Provision Held

Domestic Overseas Total Domestic Overseas Total Domestic Overseas Total
Rupees in “000
267,237 - 267,237 220 220 220 - 220
734,484 - 734,484 87,997 87,997 87,997 - 87,997
523,501 523,501 112,035 112,035 112,035 112,035
13,878,212 13,878,212 10,732,699 10,732,699 10,732,699 10,732,699
15,403,434 15403434 10,932,951 10,932,951 10,932,951 10,932,951
2017
Classified Islamic financing and related Provision Required Provision Held
assets and advances
Domestic Overseas Total Domestic Overseas Total Domestic Overseas Total
Rupees in “000
95,345 95,345 - - -
3,056,420 3,056,420 108,551 108,551 108,551 - 108,551
939,044 - 939,044 375,817 375,817 375,817 - 375,817
11,746,236 - 11,746,236 10,965,701 10,965,701 10,965,701 - 10,965,701
15,837,045 - 15,837,045 11,450,069 11,450,069 11,450,069 - 11,450,069

In case of one of the non-performing Islamic financing and related assets amounting to Rs. 2,562 million

(2017: Rs. 2,562 million), SBP has granted relaxation vide letter no. BPRD/BRD/PRs/7388/2018 dated
April 4, 2018 on creating a provision till December 31, 2018. The outstanding amount of relaxation e.g.
provisioning will not be available for distribution of cash & stock dividend and performance bonus to
employees. Had the provision been made as per the requirements of applicable Prudential Regulations,
the “provision against Islamic financing and related assets and advances” would have been higher by
Rs. 490.864 million (2017: Rs. 474.822 million) and profit before taxation would have been lower by Rs.
490.864 million (2017: Rs. 474.822 million).

11.15

Particulars of provision against non-performing Islamic financing, related assets and advances:

2018 2017
Note Specific General Total Specific General Total
Rupees in ‘000
Opening balance 11,450,069 223,878 11,673,947 11,939,357 192,927 12,132,284
Charge for the year 824,518 6,764 831,282 519,502 30,951 550,453
Reversals (903,028) - (903,028) (997,966) - (997,966)
(78,510) 6,764 (71,746) (478 464) 30,951 (447,513)
Amount written off 1117 (438,608) - (438,608) (10,824) - (10,824)
Closing balance 10,932,951 230,642 11,163,593 11,450,069 223,878 11,673,947
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11.15.1 2018 2017
Specific General Total Specific General Total
Rupees in ‘000
Islamic 2,546,436 230,273 2,776,709 1,934,769 223,190 2,157,959
Conventional 8,386,515 369 8,386,884 9,515,300 688 9,515,988
10,932,951 230,642 11,163,593 11,450,069 223,878 11,673,947

11.15.2 Provision / reversal of provision net of fair value adjustment taken to the profit and loss

account
2018 2017
Rupees in “000

903,028
(831,282)

71,746
(35,871)

35,875

Gross reversals
Charge for the year

997,966
(550,453)
447,513

30,175
477,688

Fair value adjusted - net
Net reversals taken to the profit and loss account

11.15.3 Particulars of provision against non-performing Islamic financing and related assets and

advances:

2018 2017

General Total

Specific Specific General Total

Rupees in “000

In local currency 11,163,593 11,450,069 223,878

In foreign currency

10,932,951 230,642 11,673,947

10,932,951 230,642 11,163,593 11,450,069 223,878 11,673,947

11.15.3.1 The Bank maintains general reserve (provision) in accordance with the applicable
requirements of the Prudential Regulations for Consumer Financing and Prudential
Regulations for Small and Medium Enterprise Financing issued by the SBP.

11.15.3.2 In accordance with BSD Circular No. 2 dated January 27, 2009 issued by the SBP, the Bank
has availed the benefit of Forced Sale Value (FSV) of collaterals against the non-performing
financings. The benefit availed as at December 31, 2018 amounts to Rs. 493.169 million
(2017: Rs. 432.630 million). The additional profit arising from availing the FSV benefit - net
of tax amounts to Rs. 320.560 million (2017: Rs. 281.209 million). The increase in profit, due
to availing of the benefit, is not available for distribution of cash and stock dividend to
share holders.

11.16 Provision in respect of acquired loans related to amalgamated entity have been determined
after taking into considerations of the fair values of such loans on the basis of valuation

exercise performed by the Independent consultant.
2018 2017

11.17 Particulars of write offs Rupees in ‘000

Against provisions
Directly charged to the profit and loss account

438,608 10,824

438,608 10,824

Write offs Rs. 500,000 and above 438,608 10,339
Write offs below Rs. 500,000 - 485
438,608 10,824
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11.17.1 Details of Financings Write-off of Rs. 500,000 and above

11.18

11.18.1

12

12.1

In terms of sub-section (3) of Section 33A of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 the
Statement in respect of written-off financings or any other financial relief of rupees five hundred
thousand or above allowed to a person(s) during the year ended is given in Annexure-I.

Particulars of financing to directors, executives or officers of the Bank

Financing due by directors, executives or officers of the Bank or any of them either severally

or jointly with any other persons.

Balance at the beginning of the year
Financing granted during the year
Repayments made during the year
Balance at the end of the year

Note

11.18.1

2018

2017

Rupees in ‘000

2,270,601 2,061,846

1,014,232 1,020,826
(681,382) (812,071)

2,603,451 2,270,601

This includes Rs. 5.413 million (2017: Rs. 5.609 million) profit free financing to employees

given under the Bank’s Human Resource Policy.

FIXED ASSETS

Capital work-in-progress

Property and equipment

Capital work-in-progress

Advances to suppliers and contractors
Advance for acquiring properties:

- Office premises

Provision for impairment against advance for
acquiring floor / office premises

Note

12.1
12.2

2018

2017

Rupees in ‘000

87,761 54,437
6,575,706 5,889,921
6,663,467 5,944,358

87,761 54,437

721,903 721,903
809,664 776,340
(721,903) (721,903)

87,761 54,437
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12.2 Property and Equipment

2018
Freehold / Freehold / Furniture  Electrical, office Vehicles Total
Leasehold Leasehold and fixture  and computer
land Building equipment

Rupees in ‘000

AtJanuary 1, 2018

Cost / revalued amount 1,003,803 2,921,861 2,743,869 2,531,763 17337 9,218,633
Accumulated depreciation - (197,062) (1,262,761) (1,856,730)  (12,159) (3,328,712)
Net book value 1,003,803 2,724,799 1,481,108 675,033 5178 5,889,921
Year ended December 2018

Opening net book value 1,003,803 2,724,799 1,481,108 675,033 5178 5,889,921
Additions

Additions - - 112,858 264,510 40,785 418,153

Other adjustments / transfers* 356,592 || (356,592) - - - -
356,592 (356,592) 112,858 264,510 40,785 418,153

Disposals
Disposals - - (2853)  (50,212) (1,250) (54,315)
Movement in surplus on assets
revalued during the year
Movement in surplus on assets
revalued during the year 178,814 461,110 - - - 639,924
Depreciation charge
Depreciation charge - (81,572) || (267,932) || (295,505) (4,843) || (649,852)
Reversal of depreciation
on revaluation - 278,634 - - - 278,634
Reversal of depreciation
on disposal - - 2,804 49,187 1,250 53,241
- 197062 (265128)  (246,318) (359)  (317,977)

Closing net book value 1,539,209 3,026,379 1,325,985 643,013 41,120 6,575,706
At December 31, 2018
Cost / revalued amount 1,539,209 3,026,379 2,853,874 2,746,061 56,872 10,222,395
Accumulated depreciation - - (1,527,889) (2,103,048) (15,752)  (3,646,689)
Net book value 1,539,209 3,026,379 1,325,985 643,013 41,120 6,575,706
Rate of depreciation

(percentage) - 2 10 1525 20

* This represents rectification/ reclassification of land previously classified as building on freehold land.
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AtJanuary 1,2017

Cost / revalued amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

Year ended December 2017
Opening net book value

Additions
Additions
Other adjustments / transfers

Disposals
Disposals
Other adjustments / transfers

Depreciation charge
Depreciation charge

Reversal of depreciation In
disposal

Other adjustments / transfers

Closing net book value

At December 31, 2017
Cost / revalued amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

Rate of depreciation

(percentage)

2017

Freehold / Freehold / Furniture  Electrical, office Vehicles Total
Leasehold Leasehold and fixture  and computer
land Building equipment
Rupees in “000
1,016,199  2904,636 2,904,209 2,930,016 38151 9,793,211
- (80,980) (1,328,191) (2,206,343) (29,800) (3,645,314)
1,016,199 2,823,656 1,576,018 723,673 8351 6,147,897
1,016,199 2,823,656 1,576,018 723,673 8,351 6,147,897
- - 182,496 281,352 - 463,848
(12,396) 17,225 (339,022) || (647,082) (20,298) {((1,001,573)
(12,396) 17,225 (156,526)  (365,730) (20,298)  (537,725)
- - (3,814) (32,523) (516) (36,853)
- - - - 20,298 20,298
- - (3,814) (32,523) 19,782 (16,555)
- || (102968) || (278,857) || (323,236) (3,173) || (708,234)
- - 2,045 30,330 516 32,891
- (13,114) 342,242 642,519 - 971,647
- (116,082) 65,430 349,613 (2,657) 296,304
1,003,803 2724799 1,481,108 675,033 5178 5,889,921
1,003,803 2,921,861 2,743,869 2,531,763 17,337 9,218,633
- (197,062) (1,262,761) (1,856,730) (12159) (3,328,712)
1,003,803 2,724,799 1,481,108 675,033 5178 5,889,921
- 2 10 15-25 20
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1221 Details of property and equipment disposed-off

Details of disposal of fixed assets to the Chief Executive Officer or to a Director or to Executives,
irrespective of the value, and to any other person having cost more than Rs. 1 million or net book
value of Rs. 250,000 or above during the year are disclosed in “Annexure II".

12.3 Cost of fully depreciated properties and equipment that are still in the Bank’s use, as at December 31,
2018, amounted to Rs. 1,939.726 million (2017: Rs. 1,490.711 million).

124  During the year 2018, the Bank’s freehold land and buildings on leasehold land were revalued by
M /s. Harvester Services (Pvt.) Ltd., Gandhara Consultants (Pvt.) Ltd. and Akbani & Javed Associates
on the basis of their professional assessment of the present market value. As a result of revaluation
the market value of freehold land and buildings on leasehold land were determined at Rs. 4,565.588
million.

Had there been no revaluation, the carrying amount of revalued assets at December 31, 2018 would

have been as follows:
COST DEPRECIATION
Asat Addition (Disposals) Asat Asat Charge for Asat Net book
January 01, December 31, January 01, theyear ~ December31, valueasat
2018 2018 2018 2018  December3l,
Rupees in “000 2018
Freehold / Leasehold Land 434,928 - - 434928 - - - 434928
Building on leasehold land 2,524,622 - - 2524622 288,216 51,341 339557 2,185,065
2,959,550 - - 2999550 288216 51341 339557 2619993
2018
13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer Core Customer Goodwill
software deposits list (Note 13.2) Total
At January 1, 2018 Rupees in “000
Cost 459,788 40,600 7,799 2,944,297 3,452,484
Accumulated amortization and impairment (310,292) (6,318) (7,745) - (324,355)
Net book value 149,496 34,282 54 2,944,297 3,128,129
Year ended December 2018
Opening net book value 149,496 34,282 54 2,944,297 3,128,129
Additions:

- directly purchased 62,145 - - - 62,145
Amortisation charge (65,920) (2,394) - - (68,314)
Other adjustments - - (~4) - (54)
Closing net book value 145,721 31,888 - 2944297 3,121,906
At December 31,2018
Cost 521,933 40,600 7,799 2,944,297 3,514,629
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (376,212) (8712) (7,799) - (392,723)
Net book value 145,721 31,888 - 2,944 297 3,121,906
Rate of amortisation (percentage) 20 5520 10 -

Useful life 5 5-18 10 -
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2017

Computer Core Customer Goodwill

software deposits list (Note 13.2) Total

Rupees in “000

AtJanuary 1, 2017
Cost 666,466 40,600 30735 2,944,297 3,682,098
Accumulated amortisation

and impairment (488,938) (3,925) (27,969) - (520,832)
Net book value 177,528 36,675 2766 2,944,297 3,161,266
Year ended December 2017
Opening net book value 177,528 36,675 2766 2,944,297 3,161,266
Additions:

- directly purchased 27,39 - - - 27,39
Amortisation charge (58,076) (2,393) (2,712) - (63,181)
Other adjustments 2,645 - - - 2,645
Closing net book value 149,496 34,282 54 2944297 3,128,129
At December 31,2017
Cost 459,788 40,600 7799 2,944,297 3452484
Accumulated amortisation

and impairment (310,292) (6,318) (7,745) - (324,355)
Net book value 149,496 34,282 54 2944297 3,128,129
Rate of amortisation (percentage) 20 5520 10 -

Useful life 5 5-18 10 -

13.1 The cost of fully amortised intangible assets that are still in the Bank’s use, as at December 31, 2018
amounted to Rs. 196.261 million (2017: Rs. 181.765 million).

13.2 This represents goodwill recognised upon acquisition of KASB Bank Undertakings based on fair
values of assets and liabilities. The SBP vide its letter no. BPRD(R&P-02)/625-112 /2017 /4089
dated February 24, 2017 had allowed the Bank exemption from “Goodwill impairment” under the
applicable accounting standards till December 30, 2018 and thereafter the Bank is required to start
goodwill impairment testing as per applicable accounting rules. Accordingly, the Bank carried out
goodwill impairment testing as at December 31, 2018.

As described in note 6.17 to the financial statements, the Bank historically assessed its performance
as a single business unit. Accordingly, Goodwill has been tested for impairment by considering the
Bank as a single operating unit as currently the management does not monitor its results at a segment
level.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculation
The recoverable amount of Goodwill has been determined based on value in use calculation,
using cash flow projections based on financial strategy approved by the Board of Directors of the

Bank covering a five year period. The discount rates applied to cash flows beyond five years are
extrapolated using a terminal growth rate. The following rates are used by the Bank.
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Discount rate 21.55
Terminal growth rate 7.04

The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to following assumptions:

a)

b)

)

d)

Profit margins

Profit margins are based on prevailing industry trends and anticipated market
conditions.

Discount rates

Discount rates reflect management estimates of the rate of return required for each
business and are calculated after taking into account the prevailing risk free rate,
industry risk and business risk. Discount rates are calculated by using cost of equity of
the Bank.

Key business assumptions

The assumptions are important as they represent management assessment of how
the Bank’s financial position might change over the projected period. Based on the
expansion plans, management expects aggressive growth in financing, investments and
deposits during the projected periods and thereafter stabilisation in line with industry
trends.

Management believes that any significant change in key assumptions, on which
Goodwill’s recoverable amount is based, may impact the carrying amount to further
exceed its recoverable amount. Value in use calculation of Goodwill are sensitive to
changes in assumptions for profit rate spreads, Non Funded Income (NFI), long term
growth rates and discount rates.

Sensitivity to changes in assumption

The estimated recoverable amount of Goodwill exceeds its carrying amount
by approximately Rs. 3,204.209 million. Management has identified two key
assumptions for which there could be a reasonably possible change that could cause
the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount. The following table shows
the amount that these two assumptions are required to change individually in
order for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.

Changes required for carrying amount to equal recoverable amount

%
Discount rate 6.45
Terminal growth rate (13.56)

133  The amount of goodwill that will be deductible for taxable purposes is Rs. 5,896.832 million. The
difference represents the fair value benefit of the financial assistance granted by the State Bank of
Pakistan.
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14

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deductible Temporary
Differences on:

Accumulated tax losses

Tax credit against minimum tax

Provision for diminution in the value
of investments

Provision against non-performing
Islamic financing and related
assets and advances

Provision for gratuity

Impairment of goodwill

Jjarah financing and related assets

Others

Taxable Temporary Differences on:

Fair value adjustments relating to
net assets acquired upon amal
gamation

Accelerated tax depreciation

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets

Surplus on revaluation of
non-banking assets

Surplus on revaluation of available
for sale securities

Net investment in finance lease

Deductible Temporary Differences on:

Accumulated tax losses

Tax credit against minimum tax

Provision for diminution in the
value of investments

Provision against non-performing
Islamic financing and related assets
and advances

Provision for gratuity

Impairment of goodwill

Jjarah financing and related assets

Others

Taxable Temporary Differences on:

Fair value adjustments relating to
net assets acquired upon
amalgamation

Accelerated tax depreciation

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets

Surplus on revaluation of
non-banking assets

Surplus on revaluation of available
for sale securities

Net investment in finance lease

Note

14.1

22

22

22

Note

22
22
22

2018
AtJan1 Recognisedin ~ Recgonised in At Dec 31
2018 P&L & oCl 2018
Unappropriated
profit
Rupees in ‘000
3,548,284 82,450 - 3,630,734
- 168,353 - 168,353
580,183 (253,937) - 326,246
4,034,741 - - 4,034,741
21,253 - - 21,253
37,001 (37,001) - -
108,229 71,708 - 179,937
275,280 (6,691) - 268,589
8,604,971 24,882 - 8,629,853
(163,641) (109,355) - (272,996)
(120,636) 43,216 - (77,419)
(386,711) - (253,312) (640,023)
(5,149) 19,706 (36,769) (22,213)
(145,325) - 139,947 (5,378)
(81,603) - - (81,603)
(903,065) (46,433) (150,134)  (1,099,632)
7,701,906 (21,551) (150,134) 7,530,221
2017
AtJan1 Recognisedin ~ Recgonised in At Dec 31
2017 P&L & oCl 2017
Unappropriated
profit
Rupees in ‘000
1,869,423 1,678,861 - 3,548,284
354,905 (354,905) - -
507,551 72,632 - 580,183
3,834,711 200,030 - 4,034,741
21,253 - - 21,253
74,118 (37,117) - 37,001
1,018 107,211 - 108,229
348,071 (72,791) - 275,280
7,011,050 1,593,921 - 8,604,971
(38,157) (125,484) - (163,641)
(193,708) 73,072 - (120,636)
(392,310) - 5,599 (386,711)
(4,632) - (517) (5,149)
(382,180) - 236,855 (145,325)
(81,603) - - (81,603)
(1,092,590) (52,412) 241,937 (903,065)
5,918,460 1,541,509 241,937 7,701,906
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141  TheBank has aggregate tax losses of Rs. 10,373.525 million as at December 31, 2018 which includes tax
losses of defunct KASB Bank Limited (now amalgamated with and into the Bank). The management
has carried out an assessment for estimating the benefit of these losses. The Bank would be able to
set off the profit earned in future years against these carry forward losses. Based on this assessment
the management has recognised deferred tax debit balance amounting to Rs. 3,630.734 million. The
amount of this benefit has been determined based on the projected financial statements for the future
periods as approved by the Board of Directors. The determination of future taxable profit is most
sensitive to certain key assumptions such as cost to income ratio of the Bank, deposit’s composition,
kibor rates, growth of deposits and financing, investment returns, product mix of financing, potential
provision against assets / financings, recoveries from non-performing loans and branch expansion
plan. Any significant change in the key assumptions may have an effect on the realisibility of the
deferred tax asset.

15 OTHER ASSETS - NET Restated
Note 2018 | 2017
Rupees in ‘000

Profit / return accrued in local currency 2,549,844 2,441,242
Profit / return accrued in foreign currency 3,804 4,972
Advances, deposits, advance rent and other

prepayments 754,090 384,965
Non-banking assets acquired in

satisfaction of claims 15.1 2,462,019 1,586,419
Branch Adjustment Account 85,453 -
Insurance claim receivable 24,280 28,704
Receivable against First WAPDA Sukuk 15.2 50,000 50,000
Acceptances 944,025 1,627,253
Unrealized gain on forward foreign

exchange contracts 25,489 -
Unrealized gain on future sale contracts 21,006 2,359
Amount held with financial institution 23.3.3 738,477 -
Other receivables 361,851 174,010

8,020,338 6,299,924

Less: Provision held against other assets 15.3 (678,959) (668,897)
Other Assets (Net of Provision) 7,341,379 5,631,027
Surplus on revaluation of non-banking

assets acquired in satisfaction of claims 384,502 181,999
Total other assets 7,725,881 5,813,026

15.1 Market value of Non-banking assets acquired
in satisfaction of claims 15.1.1 2,317,671 1,239,568

The properties of the Bank have been revalued by independent professional valuers as at 31
December 2018. The revaluation was carried out by M/s. Harvester Services (Pvt.) Ltd., Gandhara
Consultants (Pvt.) Ltd., Akbani & Javed Associates, Sadruddin Associates, Fairwater Property
Valuers & Surveyors (Pvt.) Ltd., MYK Associates (Pvt.) Ltd. and Tristar International Consultant Pvt.
Ltd. on the basis of professional assessment of present market values which resulted in an increase in
surplus by Rs. 258.806 million.

Impairment amounting to Rs. 528.850 million (2017: Rs. 528.850 million) is included in provision held
against other assets.
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15.1.2

15.2

15.3

15.3.1

16

Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Opening Balance
Additions
Disposals
Revaluation
Depreciation
Closing Balance

2018

2017

Rupees in “000

1,239,568 1,137,060
952,620 -
(70,367) -
202,503 109,142
(6,653) (6,634)
2,317,671 1,239,568

Loss on disposal of non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Sale Proceeds
less: Carrying Value

Loss on disposal

116,100
(126,670)

(10,570)

The Bank had purchased 10,000 certificates on June 25, 2009 of first WAPDA Sukuk through
a negotiated transaction for a cash consideration of Rs. 50.228 million having face value of Rs. 50
million. These certificates were available in the seller’s Central Depository Company (CDC) account
and on completion of the transaction were transferred to the Bank’s CDC account. However, the
periodic [jarah Rental dues were not paid to the Bank on the plea that there exists certain discrepancy
with respect to ownership of the asset. The amount has been shown under “other assets” as the
certificates were matured in 2012 as per the terms of the sukuk issue. The Bank has not recognised
any provision in respect of the above amount as it is fully secured through a lien over a deposit

account.

Provision held against other assets

Advances, deposits, advance rent &

other prepayments

Non-banking assets acquired in

satisfaction of claims
Others

Movement in provision held against other assets

Opening balance
Charge for the year
Reversals

Closing balance

BILLS PAYABLE

In Pakistan
Outside Pakistan

Note

15.3.1

2018

2017

Rupees in ‘000

26,692 26,692
528,850 528,850
123,417 113,355
678,959 668,897
668,897 661,290
11,327 7,607
(1,265) -
678,959 668,897
3,242,180 3,928,469

3,242,180 3,928,469

ANNUAL REPORT | 2018



17

17.1

17.2

17.3

17.4

17.5

17.6

DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000

Secured
Acceptances from State Bank of Pakistan

under Islamic Export Refinance Scheme 17.1 2,496,675 3,103,902
Acceptances from State Bank of Pakistan

for financial assistance 17.2 2,822,857 2,581,488

5,319,532 5,685,390

Musharakah Acceptance 17.3 - 5,000,000
Total secured 5,319,532 10,685,390
Unsecured
Wakalah Acceptance 174 - 585,000
Musharakah Acceptance 17.5 2,500,000 4,300,000
Total unsecured 2,500,000 4,885,000

7,819,532 15,570,390

The acceptances are on a profit and loss sharing basis and are secured against demand
promissory notes executed in favour of the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP). A limit of Rs. 5,000
million (2017: Rs. 5,000 million) was allocated to the Bank by the SBP under Islamic Export
Refinance Scheme for the financial year ended December 31, 2018.

This represents amortized cost of a 10 year financing facility of Rs.5,000 million extended by
the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP). The facility is secured against Government of Pakistan Ijarah
Sukuk. The 10 year facility was provided on the basis of Mudarabah to be remunerated at
profit sharing ratio declared by the Bank on its remunerative current accounts on monthly
basis. Accordingly, the profit amortization rate applied by the Bank in this respect is 0.01% per
annum.

The profit rates on this agreement is Nil (2017: 5.83%) per annum and has matured during the
year.

The profit rate on this agreement is Nil (2017: 5.75%) per annum and the agreement has
matured during the year.

The profit rates on these agreements are varying between 9.10% to 9.60% (2017: 5.65% to
5.70%) per annum and has maturity in 3 to 25 days (2017: 2 to18 days).

Particulars of due to financial institutions with respect to currencies

2018 2017
Rupees in “000

In local currency 7,819,532 15,570,390
In foreign currencies

7,819,532 15,570,390
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18.1

18.2

19

DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

2018 2017
In Local In Foreign Total In Local In Foreign Total
Currency currencies Currency currencies
Rupees in “000
Customers
Current deposits 57,544,632|| 1,571,063 || 59,115,695|| 55,643,395|| 1,443,557 || 57,086,952
Savings deposits 57,397,384|| 2,932,484 || 60,329,868|| 54,757,724 | 2,097,995 || 56,855,719
Term deposits 54,272,975 617,886 || 54,890,861 || 42,233,594 170,911 || 42,404,505
Others 438,238 17,697 455,935 577,988 14,608 592,596
169,653,229 5,139,130 174,792,359 153,212,701 3,727,071 156,939,772
Financial Institutions
Current deposits 162,566 11,425 173,991 180,259 9,984 190,243
Savings deposits 7,482,013 -l 7,482,013|| 20,607,802 - || 20,607,802
Term deposits 2,245,000 -1l 2,245,000 572,000 - 572,000
9,889,579 11,425 9,901,004 21,360,061 9984 21,370,045
179,542,808 5,150,555 184,693,363 174,572,762 3,737,055 178,309,817
Composition of deposits
2018 2017
Rupees in ‘000
Individuals 53,743,188 52,004,962
Government (Federal and Provincial) 7,786,734 6,736,395
Public Sector Entities 10,074,411 4,430,687
Banking Companies 4,350 107,964
Non-Banking Financial Institutions 9,902,753 21,262,081
Private Sector 103,181,927 93,767,728
184,693,363 178,309,817

This includes deposits eligible to be covered under takaful arrangements amounting to Rs.

110,586.391 million.

OTHER LIABILITIES Note

Profit / return payable in local currency
Profit / return payable in foreign currencies
Accrued expenses
Deferred Murabahah Income - Financing and IERS
Deferred Murabahah Income - Commodity Murabahah
Payable to defined benefit plan
Payable to defined contribution plan
Defined Benefit Plan liabilities
Security deposits against ljarah
Provision against off-balance sheet obligations 19.1
Surplus income of quarantined entity held for
future admissible expenses
Acceptances
Receipt appropriation account
Current taxation (provisions less payments)
Balance carried forward

Restated

2018 2017
Rupees in “000

860,995 776,022
9,837 4,676
500,693 384,350
173,447 153,187
17,561 94,091
4,880 5,023
2,917 2,210
78,446 45,993
2,053,039 2,403,012
129,093 129,093
- 95,860
944,025 1,627,253
74,056 159,543
214,429 225,574
5,063,418 6,105,887
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Note
OTHER LIABILITIES (contd.)

Balance brought forward

Provision against other tax liabilities

Sundry creditors

Payable to brokers against purchase of shares - net
Unrealized loss on forward foreign exchange contracts
Charity payable 19.2
Retention money payable

Provision for Workers” Welfare Fund

Branch adjustment account

Others

19.1 Provision against off-balance sheet obligations
Opening balance

Transferred to provision against Investment
Closing balance 19.11

2018

Rupees in “000

Restated
2017

5,063,418 6,105,887
58,683 27,251
176,996 74,459
33,444 31
- 898
12,966 2,679
10,857 17,474
31,939 23,723
- 38,247
85,063 16,604
5,473,366 6,307,253
129,093 299,093

- (170,000)
129,093 129,093

19.1.1  These are overdue non-funded facilities that could not be transferred to funded due to litigation.

19.2 Charity payable Note

Opening balance

Additions during the year

- Received from customers on account
of delayed payment

- Shariah non-compliant income

- Profit on charity saving account

Distribution of Charity
- Education
- Health
- Islamic microfinance program
- Community development
19.2.1
Closing balance

19.2.1 Charity was paid to the following:

Ahmed E. H. Jaffer Foundation

Akhuwat Foundation

Alamgir Welfare Trust International

Bait us Salam Education Foundation

Bait us Salam Welfare Trust

Centre for Development of Social Services
Child Aid Association

Diya Pakistan

Balance carried forward
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2018 2017

Rupees in ‘000

2,679 2,145

51,213 8,864

2,773 239

101 81

54,087 9,184
(1,700) (3,400)
(37,500) (2,300)
(500) (700)
(4,100) (2,250)
(43,800) (8,650)

12,966 2,679

- 350

500 700

2,600 950

- 200

1,000 500

500 300

100 -

- 200

4,700 3,200




2018 2017

Charity was paid to the following: (contd.) )
Rupees in ‘000

Balance brought forward 4,700 3,200
Ghousia Free Dispensary 500 200
Indus Hospital 35,500 700
Institute of Behavourial Psychology 500 -
Karachi Relief Trust - 150
Karewan-e-Hayat 300 -
Kharadar General Hospital 500 700
Koohi Goth Hospital 300 200
Markaz-e-Umeed - 200
Mrs. Shahnaz Khan - 150
National University of Sciences & Technology - 500
Nigahban Welfare Association 100 -
Pakistan Association of the Blind (Sindh) 100 -
Pakistan Navy Education Trust (PNET) - 200
Pakistan Navy Educational Trust - Bahria Model School - 250
Sahara Public Rights Welfare - 200
Shoukat Khanum Memorial 300 500
Tasha Trust - 500
The Citizen Foundation 1,000 1,000

43,800 8,650

19.2.2 Charity was not paid to any staff of the Bank or to any individual / organisation in which a
director or his spouse had any interest at any time during the year.

20 SHARE CAPITAL - NET

20.1 Authorised capital

2018 2017 2018 2017
Number of Shares Rupees in ‘000
1,300,000,000 1,300,000,000 Ordinary shares of 13,000,000 13,000,000
Rs.10 each

20.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital

2018 | 2017 g b y 2018 2017
Number of Shares Oés-l?giyazhares 0 Rupees in ‘000
1,007,912,090 1,007,912,090 Fully paid in cash 10,079,121 10,079,121

- - Less: Discount on
issue of shares (79,042) (79,042)
1,007,912,090 1,007,912,090 10,000,079 10,000,079
21 RESERVES
Note 2018 2017
Rupees in ‘000
Statutory Reserves 21.1 718,799 676,266
Reserve for bad debts and contingencies 21.2 250,000 250,000

968,799 926,266
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211 Under section 21 of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 an amount of not less than 20% of
the profit is to be transferred to create a reserve fund till such time the reserve fund and the share
premium account equal the amount of the paid up capital. Thereafter, an amount of not less than 10%
of the profit is required to be transferred to such reserve fund.

21.2 The Board of Directors in its meeting held on March 6, 2015 had approved transfer of an amount of
Rs. 250 million out of “unappropriated profit” to “reserve for bad debts and contingencies”.

22 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS - NET OF TAX

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000

Surplus on revaluation of:

Available for sale securities 10.1 15,366 415,221
Fixed Assets 22.1 2,119,539 1,216,977

Non-banking assets acquired in
satisfaction of claims 22.2 383,356 181,327
2,518,261 1,813,525

Deferred tax liability on surplus on
revaluation of:

Available for sale securities (5,378) (145,325)
Fixed Assets 221 (640,023) (386,711)
Non-banking assets acquired in
satisfaction of claims 22.2 (22,213) (5,149)
(667,614) (537,185)
1,850,647 1,276,340
22.1 Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets

Freehold / Leasehold Land

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets at January 1 112,087 112,087

Surplus recognised during the year 178,814 -
290,901 112,087

Building on leasehold land

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets at January 1 1,104,890 1,120,887

Surplus recognised during the year 739,745 -

Transferred to unappropriated profit in
respect of incremental depreciation

charged during the year (10,398) (10,398)
Related deferred tax liability in respect of
incremental depreciation charged during the year (5,599) (5,599)
(15,997) (15,997)
1,828,638 1,104,890
Related deferred tax liability on surplus
as at January 1 (386,711) (392,310)
Related deferred tax liability on surplus
arising during the year (258,911) -
Related deferred tax liability in respect of
incremental depreciation charged during the year 5,599 5,599
(640,023) (386,711)
1,188,615 718,179
1,479,516 830,266
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22.2

23

23.1

Surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Freehold / Leasehold Land

Surplus on revaluation of Non-Banking
Assets at January 1
Surplus recognised during the year

Building on leasehold land

Surplus on revaluation of Non Banking
Assets at January 1

Surplus recognised during the year
Suplus transferred to unappropriated profit

Transferred to unappropriated profit in
respect of incremental depreciation charged
during the year

Related deferred tax liability in respect of
incremental depreciation charged during the year

Related deferred tax liability on surplus
as at January 1
Related deferred tax liability on surplus
arising during the year
Related deferred tax liability on surplus on
revaluation transferred to unappropriated profit
Related deferred tax liability in respect of
incremental depreciation charged during the year

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

- Guarantees
- Commitments
- Other contingent liabilities

Guarantees:
Financial guarantees

Performance guarantees
Other guarantees

Note

23.1
23.2
23.3

2018

2017

Rupees in ‘000

166,619 59,367
153,276 107,252
319,895 166,619
14,708 13,233
105,530 1,890
(56,303) -
(308) (270)
(166) (145)
(474) (415)
63,461 14,708
(5,149) (4,632)
(36,936) (662)
19,706 -
166 145
(22,213) (5,149)
41,248 9,559
361,143 176,178
Restated
2018 2017
Rupees in ‘000
6,709,789 10,097,695
13,971,812 11,700,571
2,453,168 1,243,036
23,134,769 23,041,302
123,320 261,139
4,701,791 4,414,134
1,884,678 5,422,422
6,709,789 10,097,695
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23.2

23.2.1

23.2.2

23.2.3

23.24

23.24.1

23.3

Commitments:

Documentary credits and short-term
trade-related transactions
- letters of credit

Commitments in respect of:

- forward foreign exchange contracts
- future sale of shares

- operating leases

Commitments for acquisition of:
- operating fixed assets

- intangible assets

Other commitments

Commitments in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts

Purchase
Sale

Shariah Compliant future sale of shares

Purchase
Sale

Commitments in respect of operating leases
Not later than one year

Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

Other commitments

Bills for collection

Note

23.2.1
23.2.2
23.2.3

23.2.4

2018

Restated
2017

Rupees in “000

3,706,280 5,808,063
2,870,624 (306,336)
(165,634) (32,202)
4,913,424 4,324,670
198,145 142,682
114,207 10,286
2,334,766 1,753,408
13,971,812 11,700,571
9,694,236 1,269,645
(6,823,612) (1,575,981)
2,870,624 (306,336)
170 -
(165,804) (32,202)
(165,634) (32,202)
160,769 19,356
1,524,244 115,319
3,228,411 4,189,995
4,913,424 4,324,670
2,334,766 1,753,408

The Bank makes commitments to extend financing in the normal course of its business but
these being revocable commitments do not attract any significant penalty or expense if the

facility is unilaterally withdrawn.

Other contingent liabilities

Suit filed by customers for recovery
of alleged losses suffered, pending
in the High Court, which the Bank
has not acknowledged as debt

Tax Contingencies
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Note

23.3.1
23.34

2018

2017

Rupees in ‘000

161,200 161,200
2,291,968 1,081,836
2,453,168 1,243,036




23.3.1 These are court cases, which represent counter claims filed by the borrowers, for restricting the Bank
for disposal of the financed assets, (such as mortgaged / leased / pledged assets, kept as security), as
well as, the cases where the Bank is pleaded as proforma defendant for defending its interest.

233.2  Consequent to the amalgamation of defunct KASB Bank Limited with and into BankIslami Pakistan
Limited as at May 7, 2015 certain cases have been filed by individuals pertaining to amalgamation, at
Honorable Sindh High Court, Honorable Lahore High Court and Islamabad High Court, in which
the Bank has been made a party. The double bench of Honorable Sindh High Court has disposed-off
the prayers in three Constitutional Petitions, without any negative inference to the Bank, and issued
certain directions to SBP which were then complied with. Subsequently, an appeal was filed against
the decision of the Honorable Sindh High Court which has also been dismissed by the Honorable
Supreme Court. Thereafter, Civil Review Petitions were filed in Honorable Supreme Court against
dismissal order of the appeal, which have also been dismissed by the Honorable Supreme Court of
Pakistan. The cases at Honorable Lahore High Court are also disposed off in the light of Honorable
Supreme Court and Honorable Sindh High Court order. The cases at Honorable Islamabad High
Court are pending. The management based on the opinion of its legal counsel is confident that these
cases will also be dismissed by the Honorable Court.

23.3.21 There are two cases filed against the Bank by KASB Corporation Ltd. One case is filed at Honorable
Sindh High Court and the other is filed at Honorable Islamabad High Court. The Corporation claims
of having placed Rs. 981.410 million with Ex-KASB Bank, as Advance against Issue of Right Shares.
The amount was reported by the Ex-KASB Bank as part of the shareholders equity in the financial
statements with the permission of SBP. Subsequent to the merger, KASB Corporation Limited and
Mr. Nasir Ali Shah Bokhari filed a suit against the Bank in the Honorable High Court of Sindh; and
also filed Miscellaneous Applications, praying thereby to restrain the Bank from using or transferring
the amount of advance; and for directing the Bank to deposit the aforementioned amount with the
Nazir of the Court; and to invest the same in interest / mark-up bearing certificates. On April 18,
2018, these Miscellaneous Applications were dismissed by the Honorable High Court of Sindh,
however, the main Suit is still pending adjudication. In addition, the Corporation has filed a Writ
Petition at Honorable Islamabad High Court, which is yet pending hearing. The management based
on the opinion of its legal counsel is confident that the main Suit will be dismissed by the Honorable
Courts.

23.3.2.2 After the acquisition of defunct KASB Bank Limited, the Bank came to know about certain
transactions, identified by SBP including but not limited to fraudulent activities. SBP instructed the
Bank to initiate legal actions in this respect and accordingly separate complaints were lodged with
National Accountability Bureau (the Bureau) which were later converted into formal Inquiries by the
Bureau. It may be noted without prejudice to the Bank’s claim, the related amounts have not been
recorded in these financial statements, as a matter of prudence.

233.3 The Bank has filed suit No. 2038 of 2018 in Honorable High Court of Sindh against the international
payment scheme and others along with an application for interim order restraining international
payment scheme from deducting amounts aggregating to USD 6.1 million, relating to potential
financial impact that may arise from a cybercrime incident. Following this incident, the local
settlement bank deducted the above mentioned amount from the Bank’s respective clearing account.
The Honorable Court issued the stay order restraining the international payment scheme from
taking any steps to debit the aforementioned amount. The management strongly believes that it
substantially complied with actions required to be taken during the cybercrime incident involving
an ATM Cash out incident. The Bank on the advice of the international payment scheme has also
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initiated an independent review of the incident by engaging PCI Forensic Investigator (PFI).
Accordingly, the management based on the advice of its legal counsel believes that it has a sound
arguable case insofar as it is not liable to settle the amount of the fraudulent transactions since the
Bank had immediately complied with all the security requirements.

2334 Tax Contingencies

23.3.4.1 The income tax returns of the Bank have been filed upto tax year 2018 whereas the tax assessments
have been made by the tax authorities upto tax year 2017. The returns filed for the tax year 2014 to tax
year 2018 are treated to be deemed assessment order under section 120 of the Income Tax Ordinance,
2001.

23.34.2 During the year 2014 (relating to defunct KASB Bank Limited), the learned Additional Commissioner
Inland Revenue (ACIR) passed amended assessments order under section 122(5A) of the Income Tax
Ordinance, 2001 for tax years 2011 and 2013 by imposing minimum tax on turnover disregarding
gross loss position of the Bank. ACIR has also amended taxability of capital gain and dividend
income. The aggregate tax impact comes to Rs. 116.002 million. Against the said order, the Bank
filed an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue - Appeals (CIRA). During the year 2016,
the learned CIRA issued order under section 129 of the Ordinance by deleting the tax charged on
capital gain and dividend income and upheld the levy of minimum tax. The learned ACIR has
passed appeal effect order under section 124 of the Ordinance. After appeal effect order the aforesaid
demand has now been reduced to Rs. 89.928 million. Against the order of the learned CIRA, the Bank
has filed an appeal before the Honorable Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR). However, the
department has filed an appeal against the CIRA Order on the issue of capital gain and dividend
income. Therefore, cross appeal for the tax year 2011 and 2013 is pending before ATIR.

23.34.3 During the year 2014 (relating to defunct KASB Bank Limited), appellate order passed by the CIRA
(in respect of Income tax assessments of International Housing Finance Limited, amalgamated
into the defunct KASB Bank Limited during the year ended 31 December 2007) for tax year 2005
maintained the order of the Taxation Officer to the extent of disallowances relating to income from
carry over transactions and gain on sale of property having an aggregate tax impact of Rs. 12.997
million. The defunct KASB Bank Limited has preferred appeals before the ATIR for tax year 2005
which are pending finalization.

23.3.44 During the year 2013 (relating to defunct KASB Bank Limited), the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue
(ATIR) passed an order for the tax years 2005 to 2009 in favour of the defunct KASB Bank Limited
by allowing certain deductions including provision for non-performing advances, impairment
on investments, other provisions, amortization of goodwill and allocation of expenses having an
aggregate tax impact of Rs. 712.550 million. However, the ATIR has disallowed deductions relating
to carry over transactions having tax impact of Rs. 86.377 million for the tax years 2005 to 2008. The
defunct KASB Bank Limited has preferred an appeal before the Honorable High Court of Sindh
against the said decision of the ATIR. No development has taken place during the current year.

23.34.5 During the year 2013 (relating to defunct KASB Bank Limited), the Income tax assessments of
KASB Capital Limited (amalgamated into the defunct KASB Bank Limited during the year ended
31 December 2008) for tax years 2008 and 2009 were amended by the Taxation Officer to the extent
of apportionment of expenses having an aggregate tax impact of Rs. 125.880 million. The Bank
has preferred an appeal before the Honorable High Court of Sindh against the said decision of tax
authorities. No development has taken placed during the current year.
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23.3.4.6 For tax years 2003 and 2004 (relating to defunct KASB Bank Limited), the CIRA has passed
appellate orders on account of certain disallowances in respect of income from carry over
transactions, provision against non performing advances, bad debts and certain other items
having an aggregate tax impact of Rs. 33.748 million. The defunct KASB Bank Limited has
preferred an appeal before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) against the above
referred orders of the CIR Appeals. No development has taken place during the current
year.

23.3.4.7 For assessment years 2001-2002 and 2002-2003 and tax years 2003, 2004 and 2005 (relating to
defunct KASB Bank Limited) the income tax authorities of AJK region have passed appellate
orders by adding interest on surplus funds transferred to Head Office, resulting in an additional
tax demand of Rs. 14.587 million. The defunct KASB Bank Limited has filed reference with
the Honorable Azad Kashmir High Court against such additions for the above mentioned
assessment / tax years up to 2004. For the tax year 2005, the CIRA - AJK has passed order in
favour of the defunct KASB Bank Limited. However, the tax department has preferred appeal
before the ATIR - AJK against interest on surplus head office funds, having tax impact of Rs.
5.337 million. For tax years 2006 and 2008, AJK tax department passed orders under section
122(5A) of the Ordinance. As a result of these orders, aggregate demand of Rs. 19.178 million
was raised against the defunct KASB Bank Limited. However, the order for the tax year 2008
was subsequently rectified under section 221 of the Ordinance. Thereby aggregate demand for
tax years 2006 and 2008 reduced to Rs. 13.304 million. Subsequently, the learned CIRA - AJK
has passed orders under section 129 of the Ordinance for the tax years 2006 and 2008 whereby
he has confirmed all additions. Therefore, the defunct KASB Bank Limited has preferred an
appeal before the ATIR - AJK. An appeal against the order of CIRA for the tax years 2006
and 2008 has been filed by the Bank before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) -
AJK.

23.3.4.8 In respect of tax year 2015, the ACIR under section 122(5A) of the Income Tax Ordinance,
2001 amended the return submitted by the Bank by adding/disallowing certain expenses /
deductions resulting in reduction of losses claimed by the Bank by Rs. 32.893 million and
levied super tax. As a result, a tax demand of Rs. 124.134 million was created.

The Bank filed an appeal against the said decision before CIRA as a result of which an appellate
order has been passed. In the appellate order, the CIRA confirmed the restriction of minimum
tax and other disallowances to the extent of Rs. 9.857 million. Against the treatment meted out
by the CIRA, an appeal has been filed before the ATIR.

23.3.4.9 In respect of the tax years 2016 and 2017, the ACIR under section 122(5A) of the Income Tax
Ordinance, 2001 amended the return submitted by the Bank by adding/disallowing certain
expenses/ deductions resulting in reduction of losses claimed by the Bank by Rs. 3.358 billion
and Rs. 755.414 million for the tax years 2016 and 2017 respectively.

Against the disallowances in tax year 2016, an appeal has been filed before the CIRA which is
pending finalization.

For the tax year 2017, the Bank filed an appeal against the said decision before CIRA as a
result of which an appellate order has been passed. In the appellate order, the CIRA
remanded disallowance of Rs.39.50 million and whereas disallowances of Rs. 13.381 million
were upheld. Remaining disallowances made by the CIR amounts to Rs. 702.533 million
were deleted by the CIRA. Against the treatment meted out by the CIRA in favour of
the Bank, the tax authorities have filed an appeal before the ATIR which is pending.
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The management, based on the opinion of its tax advisor, is confident about the favourable outcome
of the above matters and consequently no additional provision has been made in these financial
statements.

24 PROFIT / RETURN EARNED
Note 2018 2017

Rupees in ‘000
Profit earned on:

Financing 8,378,121 6,696,448
Investments 2,685,833 2,408,000
Placements 1,039,981 1,169,567
Others 100,303 79,834

12,204,238 10,353,849

25 PROFIT / RETURN EXPENSED

Deposits and other accounts 5,359,084 4,668,903
Due to financial institutions 810,398 580,176
Cost of foreign currency swaps against
foreign currency deposits 793 803
6,170,275 5,249,882
26 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
Branch banking customer fees 92,812 65,956
Commission on bancatakaful 53,684 95,906
Card related fees 272,409 248,227
Financing related fees 1,572 3,293
Commission on arrangement with financial institutions 21,401 17,664
Consumer finance related fees 26,532 27,870
Commission on guarantees 54,737 31,665
Investment banking fees 150,047 20,154
Commission on cash management 8,495 5,654
Commission on remittances including
home remittances 61,844 35,161
Commission on trade 92,478 91,326
Others 6,224 5,191
842,235 648,067
27 GAIN ON SECURITIES
Realised gain 27.1 66,504 121,421
Unrealised loss - held for trading 10.1 (19,686) (2,007)
46,818 119,414
27.1 Realised gain on:
Federal Government Securities (5,581) 43,405
Shares 58,416 20,220
Mutual fund units 13,669 57,796
66,504 121,421
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28

29

OTHER INCOME
Note

Rent on property

Gain on termination of financing

Gain on sale of property and equipment

Loss on sale of non-banking assets

Fee for attending Board meetings of associates
Takaful claim

Recoveries against previously expensed items
Others

OPERATING EXPENSES
Total compensation expense 29.1

Property expense

Rent & taxes

Insurance

Utilities cost

Security (including guards)

Repair & maintenance (including janitorial charges)
Depreciation

Others

Information technology expenses
Software maintenance

Hardware maintenance
Depreciation

Amortisation

Network charges

Other operating expenses

Directors’ fees and allowances

Fees and allowances to Shariah Board
Legal & professional charges
Travelling & conveyance

NIFT clearing charges

Depreciation

Depreciation on non banking assets
Entertainment expense

Postage & courier charges
Communication

Stationery & printing

Marketing, advertisement & publicity
Repairs and maintenance

Takaful, tracker and other charges on car Jjarah
Fee and subscription

Vehicle running and maintenance
Auditors Remuneration 29.2
Amortization

CDC and share registrar services
Brokerage and commission

Stamp duty & registration charges
Others

2018

2017

Rupees in ‘000

11,126 10,953
59,402 35,656
11,542 13,577
(10,570) -
120 112

531 -
9,657 16,991
438 564
82,246 77,853
2,758,118 2,710,961
968,582 835,457
148,837 64,272
327,767 313,645
325,536 305,408
109,669 95,029
278,082 310,258
588 1,653
2,159,061 1,925,722
95,577 71,569
63,528 51,157
175,263 181,887
66,031 58,075
158,873 93,440
559,272 456,128
6,900 4,153
12,282 9,537
78,147 36,066
30,532 30,455
20,310 17,317
196,507 216,090
6,653 6,634
62,570 54,166
46,729 47,584
45,839 40,550
105,353 103,919
125,959 89,060
78,577 81,982
158,998 195,075
115,497 89,635
101,845 72,167
12,933 19,290
2,283 5,105
13,094 16,513
10,807 6,985
15,319 33
72,412 46,410
1,319,546 1,188,726
6,795,997 6,281,537
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29.1

29.2

30

31

Total compensation expense

Managerial remuneration
(i) Fixed
(ii) Variable - Cash bonus / awards
Charge for defined benefit plan
Contribution to defined contribution Plan
Rent & house maintenance allowance
Utilities allowance
Medical allowance
Car maintainance allowance
Conveyance allowance
Fuel allowance
Sports & welfare
Staff life takaful
Overtime allowance
Training
Special allowance
Phone banking allowance
Relocation allowance
Sales commission
Contract staff cost
Others
Sub-total
Sign-on bonus (Paid to 1 person as per contract)
Grand Total

Auditors’ remuneration

Audit fee

Fee for the review of half yearly financial statements
Fee for other statutory certifications

Special certifications and sundry advisory services
Tax services

Out-of-pocket expenses

OTHER CHARGES

Penalties imposed by the State Bank of Pakistan

Note

37.8.1
38

PROVISIONS / (REVERSAL OF PROVISIONS) AND

WRITE OFFS - NET

Provision for diminution in value of investments-net 10.6.1

Reversal of provision against Islamic financing
and related assets and advances - net
Other provisions / reversal of provision - net
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11.15.2

2018

2017

Rupees in ‘000

1,239,749 1,221,669
7,984 2,792
88,717 81,236
87,831 86,632
498,706 507,301
110,783 114,910
149,928 151,001
169,795 164,703
4,221 3,629
9,694 8,329
1,817 1,800
8,323 7,597
2,127 1,817
18,638 25,344
41,285 24,991
557 391
587 429
129,047 140,430
178,312 165,916
17 44
2,748,118 2,710,961
10,000 -
2,758,118 2,710,961
6,439 5,775
1,733 1,650
2,017 1,921
531 507
1,400 8,527
813 910
12,933 19,290
54,359 21,733
61,383 210,600
(35,875) (477,688)
11,327 (124,882)
36,835 (391,970)




32 TAXATION
Note 2018 2017

Rupees in ‘000

Current year 168,353 141,459
Prior years 33,591 -
Deferred 32.1 (12,040) (1,547,246)

189,904 (1,405,787)

32.1 The numerical reconciliation between average tax rate and the applicable tax rate has not been
presented in these financial statements as the provision for current year income tax has been
made under section 113 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (minimum tax on turnover) due to
available tax losses brought forward from prior years and transferred from the defunct KASB
Bank Limited.

Under Section 114 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (Ordinance), the Bank has filed the return
of income for the tax years 2006 to 2018 on due dates. These returns were deemed completed
under the provisions of the prevailing income tax laws as applicable in Pakistan during the
relevant accounting years.

32.2  During the year 2017, the Bank revised its income tax return for the tax year 2016 and also
reassessed the consequential impact of such revision on the tax provision for the year 2017
based on technical advice from its consultant.

As per the above revision, certain elements of the accumulated tax losses are considered as
eligible for adjustments in tax year 2016 and 2017 due to change suggested by the consultant
in the manner in which certain tax adjustments may be claimed in respect of the said years. As
a result of the above, the carry forward tax losses in respect of accumulated tax depreciation
and provision for financings had increased with a deferred tax impact of Rs. 1,754.62 million
in December 2017.

33 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in ‘000

Profit after taxation for the year 212,664 1,563,149

. . Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue 1,007,912,090 1,007,912,090
Rupees
Earnings per share - basic / diluted 33.1 0.2110 1.5509
33.1 There were no convertible / dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding as at December

31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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34 PROFIT / (LOSS) DISTRIBUTION TO DEPOSITOR’S POOL

The Bank maintained the following pools for profit declaration and distribution during the year
ended December 31, 2018:

(i) General Deposit Mudarabah Pool (PKR, USD, EUR & GBP);

(ii) Musharakah Pool under SBP’s Islamic Export Refinance Scheme;
(iii) Special Mudarabah Deposits Pool; and

(iv) Treasury Pools

The deposits and funds accepted under the General Deposit Mudarabah Pool is provided to different
sectors of economy mainly to “Iextile and Allied’, “ Energy’, ‘Fertilizer’, “Trading’,” Consumer Finance’
and ‘GOP Jjarah Sukuks'.

Musharakah investments from the SBP under Islamic Export Refinance Scheme (IERS) are channelled
towards the export sector of the economy via different Islamic financing modes such as Murabahah,
Istisna etc.

Key features and risk & reward characteristics of all pools

The ‘General Deposit Mudarabah Pool’ for both local and foreign currency is to cater all depositors
of the Bank and provide profit/loss based on actual returns earned by the pool. Depositors are Rabb-
ul-Maal as they are the provider of capital while the Bank acts as Mudarib by investing these funds
in business. Since there are more than one Rabb-ul-Maal (depositor), their mutual relationship is
that of Musharakah. Profit is shared among Mudarabah partners (Bank and depositors) as per pre-
agreed profit sharing ratio. Whereas, profit sharing among the depositors is based on pre-assigned
weightages. Loss, if any, is borne by Rabb-ul-Maal as per the principles of Mudarabah.

The IERS Pool caters to the ‘Islamic Export Refinance Scheme’ requirements based on the guidelines
issued by the SBP. In this Scheme, SBP enters into a Musharakah arrangement with the Bank for
onward financing to exporters and other blue chip companies on the basis of Shariah compliant
modes such as Murabahah, Istisna, etc. Under the scheme, SBP is required to share in profit and
loss of the Bank’s IERS Musharakah pool. IERS pool consists of blue chip companies to whom the
Bank has provided financing facilities on Shariah compliant modes including IERS facility. Profit
is shared according to an agreed weightage and loss is shared according to the investment ratio.
The Special Mudarabah Deposits Pools for local currency are created to attract and retain clients
expecting specific returns. The funds received against these deposits are invested in various Shariah
compliant assets.

Treasury Pools are managed on the basis of Musharakah, wherein the Bank and partner (Financial
Institution) share actual return earned by the pool according to pre-defined profit sharing ratio.

The risk characteristic of each pool mainly depends on the asset and liability profile of each pool. The
pool is exposed to following kinds of risks:

1  Asset Risk: The pool is exposed to Asset Risk which is the risk that is associated with Islamic
mode of finance(s) applied/used under the transaction structure(s). The Bank has prepared
detailed product manuals in order to identify and properly mitigate such risk. The Bank also
analyses transaction structure of each customer to further ensure proper safeguard of depositors’
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interest. The review is done by experienced team of professionals having considerable
experience in the field of Islamic banking and finance. Nevertheless, since Islamic banking is
a nascent industry, we believe that the process of further improvement will continue as the
business grows.

2 Credit Risk: Financial Risk is the risk which is associated with financing that is mitigated
through safeguards through available standards within Shariah guidelines as disclosed in note
45.1 to these financial statements.

Parameters used for allocation of profit, charging expenses and provisions etc. along with a brief
description of their major components:

Gross income (Revenue less cost of goods sold and after deduction of other direct expenses), generated
from relevant assets is calculated at the end of the month. The income is shared between the Bank
and the depositors as per agreed profit sharing ratio after deduction of commingled Bank’s equity
share on pro rata basis. The residual is shared among depositors as per agreed weightages. These
weightages and profit sharing ratios are declared by the Bank in compliance with the requirements
of the SBP and Shariah.

The allocation of income and expenses to different pools is based on pre-defined basis and
accounting principles/standards. Direct expenses are charged to respective pool, while indirect
expenses are borne by the Bank as Mudarib. The direct expenses charged to the pool are direct cost
in financing/investment transactions (i.e. Murabahah, Jjarah, Diminishing Musharakah, Istisna,
Karobar Financing, Salam, etc.) and depreciation of Jjarah assets. The general and specific provisions
created against non-performing Islamic financing and related assets and diminution in the value of
investments as under prudential regulations and other SBP directives have been borne by the Bank

as Mudarib.
2018
General Profit rate and Profit rate Depositor Mudarib Mudarib Profit rate return ~ Percentage of Amount of
Deposit weightage return earned Share % share % share distributedto ~ Mudarib share Mudarib Share
Mudarabah  announcement remunerative transferred transferred
Pool period deposits through Hiba  through Hiba
(Savings and
Term)
Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000
PKR Pool Monthly 8.86% 50.00% 50.00% 3,295,314 4.30% 21.69% 669,619
USD Pool Monthly 1.26% 50.00% 50.00% 14,677 0.63% 0.25% 34
GBP Pool Monthly 0.40% 50.00% 50.00% 581 0.23% 7.08% 18
EURO Pool Monthly 0.03% 54.05% 45.95% 22 0.02% 0.00% -
Specific Profit Rate and Profit rate Client Share Bank Share Bank Profit rate return ~ Percentage of ~Amount of Hiba
Musharakah Weightages return earned % % Share distributed Hibato Client  to IERS Client
Pool announcement
Period
Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000
Islamic Export Monthly 4.29% 46.80% 53.20% 2,359,406 1.99% 0.00% -
Refinance (IERS)
Musharakah Pool
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2018
Specific Profit rate and Profit rate Depositor Mudarib Mudarib Profitrate return ~ Percentage of Amount of
Mudarabah weightage return earned Share % share % Fee distributedto ~ Mudarib share ~ Mudarib Share
Pool announcement remunerative transferred  transferred through
period special deposits  through Hiba Hiba to special
remunerative
deposits
Rupees in “000 Rupees in ‘000
(i)Mutual Fund ~ Monthly 8.73% 70.12% 29.88% 121,550 6.24% 4741% 53,677
(ii) Special Term
Deposit Monthly 8.08% 71.24% 28.76% 164,696 5.61% 23.72% 35,906
(iii) Special Saving ~ Monthly 9.72% 70.00% 30.00% 39,140 6.82% 51.51% 20,904
(iv) 1 year special
Term Deposit
monthly profit  Monthly 10.93% 70.00% 30.00% 6,136 7.73% 50.35% 3,460

(v) In addition to the above, 92 short term Treasury Pools were created to meet liquidity management requirement of Treasury
Department. The Pools were dissolved after maturity of respective Treasury transaction. The Pools were managed under the Shariah
approved guidelines.

35 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Note 2018 2017

Rupees in ‘000
Cash and balances with treasury banks 14,292,752 11,784,180

Balances with other banks 8 832,621 801,807
15,125,373 12,585,987

N

36 STAFF STRENGTH

Number of employees

Permanent 2,252 2,534
Contractual basis 800 816
Total staff strength 3,052 3,350

37  DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN

37.1 General description
The Bank operates a gratuity fund for its employees (members of the fund). The fund entitles the
members to lump sum payment at the time of retirement, resignation or death. Permanent staff are
eligible for such benefits after three years of service.

37.2 Number of Employees under the scheme

The number of employees covered under the defined scheme are 2,252 (2017: 2,534)
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37.5

37.6

37.7

Principal actuarial assumptions

Projected unit credit method, using the following significant assumptions, was used for the valuation
of the defined benefit plan:

2018 2017
- Valuation Discount rate 9.50% 9.50%
- Salary Increase Rate 9.50% 8.50%
- Expected Return on Plan Assets 13.75% 9.50%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with
published statistics and experience in Pakistan. The rates assumed are based on the adjusted SLIC
2001 - 2005 mortality tables with one year age set back.

Reconciliation of (receivable from) / payable to defined benefit plans

Note 2018 2017

. . R s in “000

The amount recognised in the statement of fpeesin
financial position (in respect of the gratuity
scheme) is determined as follows:

Present value of defined benefit obligations 380,601 327,613
Fair value of plan assets (302,155) (281,620)
78,446 45,993
Movement in defined benefit obligations
Obligations at the beginning of the year 327,613 271,262
Current service cost 86,723 84,578
Return expense 29,023 24,324
Benefits paid by the Bank (44,217) (30,441)
Re-measurement gain (18,541) (22,110)
Obligations at the end of the year 380,601 327,613

Movement in fair value of plan assets

Fair value at the beginning of the year 281,620 306,437
Return earned on plan assets 27,029 27,666
Contribution by the Bank - net 5,783 (30,441)
Re-measurements: Net return on plan assets

over return expense 37.8.2 (12,277) (22,042)
Fair value at the end of the year 302,155 281,620

Movement in payable under defined benefit schemes

Opening balance 45,993 (35,175)
Charge for the year 88,717 81,236
Contribution by the Bank - net (5,783) 30,441
Re-measurement gain recognised in OCI

during the year 37.8.2 (6,264) (68)
Benefits paid by the Bank (44,217) (30,441)
Closing balance 78,446 45,993
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37.8  Charge for defined benefit plans

37.8.1 Costrecognised in profit and loss
2018 2017

Rupees in ‘000

Current service cost 86,723 84,578
Net financial charges 1,994 (3,342)
88,717 81,236

37.8.2 Re-measurements recognised in OCI during the year

Gain on obligation

- Financial assumptions 24,874 (9,129)
- Experience adjustment (43,415) (12,981)
Return on plan assets over profit earned 12,277 22,042
Total re-measurements (6,264) (68)
Deferred tax impact 2,192 24
Total re-measurements recognised in OCI (4,072) (44)

37.9 Components of plan assets

Bank balance 250,563 227,662
Units of Mutual Funds 51,592 53,958
302,155 281,620

37.9.1 The plan assets and defined benefit obligations are based in Pakistan.
37.10 Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal
assumptions is:
2018 2017

Rupees in ‘000

1% increase in discount rate 343,694 366,908
1% decrease in discount rate 424 301 294215
1 Year increase in Life expectancy / Withdrawal rate 380,589 327,666
1 Year decrease in Life expectancy / Withdrawal rate 380,613 327,558

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all
other assumptions constant. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation
to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit
obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period)
has been applied as when calculating the gratuity liability recognised within the Statement of
Financial Position.
Rupees in ‘000
3711 Expected contributions to be paid to the
funds in the next financial year 88,288

37.12  Expected charge / (reversal) for the next financial year 90,004
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3713  Maturity profile
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 11.61 years.

Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted defined benefit obligation for the gratuity scheme is as

follows:
At December 31,2018 Less than a Between1-2 ~ Between2-5 Qver 5 vears
year years years ’ Total
Rupees in * 000
Gratuity 17,661 21,610 69444 3,124,610 3,233,325

3714  Funding Policy

Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and are based on actuarial recommendations.
Expected Gratuity Expense for the next year works out to Rs. 90.004 million as per the actuarial
valuation report of the Bank as of December 31, 2018.

3715  Through its defined benefit gratuity plan, the Fund is exposed to a number of risks, the most
significant of which are detailed below:

Investment Risks | The risk arises when the actual performance of the investments is lower than
expectation and thus creating a shortfall in the funding objectives.

Longevity Risks | The risk arises when the actual lifetime of retirees is longer than expectation.
This risk is measured at the plan level over the entire retiree population.

Salary Increase The most common type of retirement benefit is one where the benefit is linked
Risk with final salary. The risk arises when the actual increases are higher than
expectation and impacts the liability accordingly.

Withdrawal Risk | The risk of actual withdrawals varying with the actuarial assumptions can
impose a risk to the benefit obligation. The movement of the liability can go

either way.

38 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Bank operates a contributory provident fund for all permanent employees. The employer and
employee both contribute 10% of basic salary to the fund every month. Equal monthly contributions
by employer and employees have made during the year amounted to Rs. 87.831 million (2017: Rs.
86.632 million) each.
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39.1

39.1.1

39.1.2

39.1.3

39.14

ANNUAL REPORT

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Compensation of directors and executives

President / Chief Directors Executives
Executive
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Rupees in ‘000

Fees - - 6,900 4153
Managerial remuneration 61,145 29,883 - - 169,670 457,784
Charge for defined benefit plan - - - - 16,266 15925
Salary in lieu of provident fund - 2,327 - -
Contribution to defined contribution plan 636 - - - 13,129 35,587
Rent and house maintenance - 642 - - 67,160 190,757
Utilities - 2,327 - - 14,925 42,391
Medical - 2,327 - - 13,886 42,390
Others 4,136 - - - 35,101 92,101
65,917 37,506 6,900 4,153 330,137 876,935
Number of persons 2* 1 7 7 82 517

During the year Mr. Hasan A Bilgrami vacated his office as the President and CEO with effect from
September 30, 2018 and Mr. Syed Amir Ali was appointed as the President and CEO of the Bank with
effect from October 01, 2018. Amounts reported include remuneration of both the current and former
President and CEO.

The SBP, vide its BPRD Circular No. 01 January 25, 2017, issued “Guidelines and Disclosures
on Governance and Remuneration Practices”. Certain disclosure related to remuneration of
Directors and management of the Bank were required to be presented in the financial statements
in terms of such guidelines. Accordingly, revised format of the financial statement issued by
the SBP incorporates such disclosure requirements. However, SBP through its circular number
BPRD/R&PD/2018/17232 dated August 08, 2018 deferred the reporting of such disclosures
till December 31, 2019. Therefore, the management has reported the remuneration disclosures
in these financial statements in accordance with previous disclosure requirements of the
SBP.

The Bank’s former President and Chief Executive was also provided with car allowance of Rs.
5.599 million (2017: Rs. 5.449 million) as per the policy of the Bank.

In addition to above, the Executives have also been given car allowance amounting to Rs.
45.273 million (2017: Rs. 124.918 million) during the current year.

The count for Executives has been reduced from 517 in 2017 to 82 in 2018 due to a change in
definition of the Executives. Earlier, any employee having an annual basic salary of Rs. 0.5
million or above was defined as an Executive. This threshold has now been increased to Rs.
1.2 million.

2018




39.2 Remuneration paid to Shariah Board Members

2018 2017
Ttems Chairman Resident Non- Chairman Resident Non-
Member Resident Member Resident
Member(s) Member(s)

Rupees in “000

a. Meeting Fees and

Allowances - - 1,350 - - 900
b. Managerial remuneration

& allowances 8,568 2,364 - 7,056 1,581 -
Total Amount 8,568 2,364 1,350 7,056 1,581 900
Total Number of Persons 1 1 1 1 1 1

40 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of quoted securities other than those classified as held to maturity or investments
in subsidiaries & associates, is based on quoted market price. Quoted securities classified
as held to maturity are carried at cost less impairment losses. The fair value of unquoted
equity securities, other than investments in associates and subsidiaries, is determined on the
basis of the break-up value of these investments as per their latest available audited financial

statements.

The fair value of unquoted debt securities, fixed term loans, other assets, other liabilities,
fixed term deposits and borrowings cannot be calculated with sufficient reliability due to
the absence of a current and active market for these assets and liabilities and reliable data
regarding market rates for similar instruments.

40.1 Fair value of financial assets

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1: Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or

indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Fair value measurements using input for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).
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The table below analyses financial assets measured at the end of the reporting period by the level in
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized:

2018

On balance sheet Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
financial instruments

Rupees in “000
Financial assets - measured

at fair value
Investments

Federal Government Securities - 26,513,606 - 26,513,606

Shares 440,067 - - 440,067

Non-Government Debt Securities - 10,045,048 - 10,045,048

Units of open ended mutual funds 65 - - 65
Non-Financial Assets

- measured at fair value

Operating fixed assets

- Land and building - - 4,565,588 4,565,588

Non-banking assets - - 2,317,671 2,317,671
Off-balance sheet financial

instruments - measured at fair value
Forward purchase of foreign exchange - 9,846,491 - 9,846,491
Forward sale of foreign exchange - 6,950,378 - 6,950,378
Shariah compliant future

purchase of shares 161 - - 161
Shariah compliant future

sale of shares 144,789 - - 144,789
On balance sheet 2017

financial instruments Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

. . Rupees in ‘000
Financial assets - measured at 4

fair value
Investments
Federal Government Securities - 34,256,300 - 34,256,300
Shares 413,361 - - 413,361
Non-Government Debt Securities - 101,038 - 101,038
Units of open ended mutual funds 65 - - 65
Non-Financial Assets - measured at
fair value
Operating fixed assets
- Land and building - - 3,728,602 3,728,602
Non-banking assets - - 1,136,170 1,136,170
Off-balance sheet financial
instruments - measured at fair value
Forward purchase of foreign exchange - 1,583,801 - 1,583,801
Forward sale of foreign exchange - 1,270,703 - 1,270,703
Shariah compliant future
sale of shares 30,029 - - 30,029
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41
411

Valuation techniques used in determination of fair values within level 2

Items Valuation approach and input used
GOP Sukuks The fair value of GOP [jarah Sukuks are revalued using PKISRV rates. The
PKISRV rates are announced by FMA (Financial Market Association) through
Reuters. The rates announced are simple average of quotes received from 6
different pre-defined / approved dealers / brokers.
WAPDA Sukuks | Investmentin WAPDA Sukuks are valued on the basis of the rates announced

by the Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP) in accordance with
the methodology prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission of
Pakistan.

Forward foreign
exchange
contracts

The valuation has been determined by interpolating the mid rates
announced by State Bank of Pakistan.

Valuation techniques used in determination of fair values within level 3

Operating fixed
assets - Land and

Land and buildings are revalued by professionally qualified valuers as per the
accounting policy. The valuers are listed on the panel of the Pakistan Bank’s

building Association. The valuation is based on their assessment of market value of the
properties.

Non-banking Non-banking assets are revalued by professionally qualified valuers as per the

assets accounting policy. The valuers are listed on the panel of the Pakistan Bank’s

Association. The valuation is based on their assessment of market value of the
properties.

The Bank's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of the different fair value hierarchy levels at
the date the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer occurred.

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment Details with respect to Business Activities
2018
Trading & Retail Commercial Support Total
Sales Banking Banking Centre oa

Profit & Loss Rupees in * 000
Net profit / return 2,969,057 (2,882,976) 5,847,579 100,303 6,033,963
Inter segment revenue - net (3,033,441) 9,071,018 (6,037,577) - -
Total other income 360,932 557,002 323,234 22,844 1,264,012
Total income 296,548 6,745,044 133,236 123,147 7,297,975
Segment direct expenses 19,050 4,304,155 314,569 2,220,798 6,858,572
Inter segment expense allocation 109,280 1,492,155 497,355 (2,098,790) -
Total expenses 128,330 5,796,310 811,924 122,008 6,858,572
Provisions 72,711 10,332 (59,248) 13,040 36,835
Profit/ (loss) before tax 95,507 938,402 (619,440) (11,901) 402,568
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2018
Trading & Retail Commercial Support T
Sales Banking Banking Centre otal
Rupees in * 000

Balance Sheet
Assets
Cash & Bank balances 8,309,890 6,815,483 - - 15,125,373
Investments 38,832,093 - - - 38,832,093
Net inter-segment lending - 156,041,540 - - 156,041,540
Due from financial institutions 18,173,504 - - - 18,173,504
Islamic financing and related

assets - performing - 22423321 89,165,423 2,511,581 114,100,325

- non-performing - 746,700 3,649,429 74357 4,470,486
Others 1,727,663 1,873,391 3,166,067 18,274,354 25,041,475
Total Assets 67,043,150 187,900,435 95,980,919 20,860,292 371,784,796
Liabilties
Borrowings 5,331,216 5,730,496 - - 11,061,712
Subordinated debt - - - - -
Deposits & other accounts - 184,681,628 - 11,735 184,693,363
Net inter-segment borrowing 61,630,487 - 94,411,053 - 156,041,540
Others 81,447 699,280 1,569,866 3,122,773 5,473,366
Total liabilities 67,043,150 191,111,404 95,980,919 3,134,508 357,269,981
Equity 14,514,815 14,514,815
Total Equity & liabilities 67,043,150 191,111,404 95,980,919 17,649,323 371,784,796
Contingencies & Commitments 2,704,990 - 10,416,069 10,013,710 23,134,769
2017 (Restated)
Trading & Retail Commercial Support Total
Sales Banking Banking Centre

Profit & Loss Rupees in “ 000
Net profit / return 3,007,322  (2,866,946) 4,884,560 79,031 5,103,967
Inter-segment revenue - net (2,904,587) 5822341  (2917,754) - -
Total other income 257,419 351,318 254,670 101,288 964,695
Total Income 360,154 3,306,713 2,221,476 180,319 6,068,662
Segment direct expenses 51,400 2,058,460 1,427,078 2,641,450 6,178,388
Inter segment expense allocation 128,764 1,758,191 586,028  (2,472,983) -
Total expenses 180,164 3,816,651 2,013,106 168,467 6,178,388
Provisions 210,599 38,952 (506,008) (10,631) (267,088)
Profit / (loss) before tax (30,609) (548,890) 714,378 22,483 157,362
Assets
Cash & Bank balances 6,336,431 6,249,556 - - 12,585,987
Investments 42,092,166 - - - 42,092,166
Net inter-segment lending - 157,428,908 - - 157,428,908
Due from financial institutions 21,371,787 - - - 21,371,787
Islamic financing and related

assets - performing - 18,331,666 94,214,242 2,222,155 114,768,063

- non-performing - 529,355 3,828,375 29246 4,386,976

Others 931,598 1,383,147 4513315 15,759,359 22,587,419
Total Assets 70,731,982 183,922,632 102,555,932 18,010,760 375,221,306
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2017 (Restated)

Trading & Retail Commercial Support

Sales Banking Banking Centre Total

Rupees in * 000

Liabilties

Borrowings 12,439,042 3,131,348 - - 15,570,390
Subordinated debt - - - - -
Deposits & other accounts - 178,268,662 - 41,155 178,309,817
Net inter-segment borrowing 58,103,363 - 99,325,545 - 157,428,908
Others 189,577 4,879,294 3,230,387 1936464 10,235,722
Total liabilities 70,731,982 186,279,304 102,555,932 1,977,619 361,544,837
Equity - - - - 13,676,469
Total Equity & liabilities 70,731,982 186,279,304 102,555,932 1,977,619 375,221,306
Contingencies & Commitments (338,538) - 15,905,758 6,867,793 22,435,013
TRUST ACTIVITIES

Banks commonly act as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing
of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These assets
are not assets of the bank and, therefore, are not included in its balance sheet. Following is the list of
assets held under trust:

Category Type No. of IPS account Face Value

2018 2017 2018 2017
Rupees in “000

Insurance Companies Sukuks 2 2 479,500 278,000
Asset Management Companies Sukuks 38 22 3,407,030 1,206,740
Employee Funds / NGO’s Sukuks 7 4 40,500 28,000
Individuals Sukuks 7 8 154,470 103,295
Others Sukuks 13 25 2,951,500 6,091,965

67 61 7,033,000 7,708,000

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank has related party transactions with its parent, subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures,
employee benefit plans and its directors and Key Management Personnel.

The Banks enters into transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business and on
substantially the same terms as for comparable transactions with person of similar standing.
Contributions to and accruals in respect of staff retirement benefits and other benefit plans are made
in accordance with the actuarial valuations / terms of the contribution plan. Remuneration to the
executives / officers is determined in accordance with the terms of their appointment.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd.)

Income

Profit / return earned
Dividend income - -
Advisory Fee - - -

2018

2017

Key
management
personnel

Directors Subsidiaries Associates

2,096 12,267 20,489

40,000

51,832

7910

Proceeds on disposal

of operating

fixed assets - - - -
Gain on sale of operating

fixed assets - - - -

Other income -

Expense

Profit / return expensed

17 658 96

39 1,848 12,704 2,921

Other administrative

expenses

3,079 2,609 253 239

Meeting Fee /

Remuneration

6,900 213,757 - -

Contribution to employees

provident fund - - - -
Contribution to employees

gratuity fund - - - -

Operating expenses -

44

Other related
parties

Rupees in*

78,085

61,748

87,831

88,717

Directors

000

2,262

33
5129

4,153

Key
management
personnel

8,326

87
2,952

135,717

Other related

Associates .
parties

Subsidiaries

30,907 51,455 68,119

3,225 - -
3,138 - -
600 176 -

18,577 738

9 240 -

86,632

81,236

CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS

The State Bank of Pakistan vide its letter no. BPRD (R&P-02)/625-112/2017 /4809 dated February
24, 2017 has given relaxation to the Bank for non-deduction of goodwill and deferred tax assets
pertaining to defunct KASB Bank Limited portfolio from CET 1 capital till December 31, 2018 for the
purpose of calculating the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of the Bank. Accordingly, the amounts of
goodwill and deferred tax assets have not been deducted from CET 1 Capital.

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR):
Paid-up capital (net of losses)

Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR):

Eligible Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) Capital
Eligible Additional Tier 1 (ADT 1) Capital
Total Eligible Tier 1 Capital

Eligible Tier 2 Capital

Total Eligible Capital (Tier 1 + Tier 2)

Risk Weighted Assets (RWAs):
Credit Risk

Market Risk

Operational Risk

Total

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy ratio
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio
Total Capital Adequacy Ratio

2018 2017
Rupees in * 000

10,000,079 10,000,079
11,995,695 11,674,706
11,995,695 11,674,706
4,151,812 3,717,741
16,147,507 15,392,447
94,255,376 94,448,259
1,373,209 984,462
11,284,350 9,435,075
106,912,935 104,867,796
11.22% 11.13%
11.22% 11.13%
15.10% 14.68%
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2018

National minimum capital requirements prescribed by SBP

CET1 minimum ratio 6.00% 6.00%
Tier 1 minimum ratio 7.50% 7.50%
Total capital minimum ratio 10.00% 10.00%
CCB (Consisting of CET 1 only) 1.90% 1.28%
Total Capital plus CCB 11.90% 11.28%

The capital to risk weighted assets ratio is calculated in accordance with the SBP guidelines on capital
adequacy, under Basel III and Pre-Basel III treatment using Standardised Approach for credit and
market risk and Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk.

2018 2017
Rupees in * 000

Leverage Ratio (LR):
Eligiblle Tier-1 Capital 11,995,695 11,674,706
Total Exposures 230,798,907 236,195,159
Leverage Ratio 5.20% 4.94%
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR):
Total High Quality Liquid Assets 42,125,500 40,611,752
Total Net Cash Outflow 21,949,912 29,218,971
Liquidity Coverage Ratio 191.92% 138.99%
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR):
Total Available Stable Funding 187,439,582 187,595,928
Total Required Stable Funding 97,963,189 123,518,551
Net Stable Funding Ratio 191.34% 151.88%

441 The full disclsoures on the capital adequacy, leverage ratio & liquidity requirements as per SBP
instructions issued from time to time has been placed on the Bank’s website. The link to the full

discloures is available at www.bankislami.com.pk/investor-relations

45 RISK MANAGEMENT

The objective of Risk Management is to effectively manage uncertainties that arise in the normal
course of business activities. The risk management function is one of the most important areas of
the banking business, and covers a wide spectrum of financial business risk class; including Credit,
Market, Liquidity, Operational etc. The Bank follows effective risk governance which commensurate
well with its current size and structure.

The implementation of Basel II (B2) provides for a risk-based capital requirement. Further, the SBP has
decided to implement Basel III framework in a phased manner with effect from December 31, 2013 to
December 31, 2019, to revise and update capital reforms and clarifications and further strengthen the
existing capital adequacy framework prescribed under Basel II. The Bank adheres to the regulatory
requirement in this respect, and conducts its business accordingly.

As a prelude to countering the financial debacle of the recent past, the Basel Committee
(Internationally) is raising the resilience of the banking sector by strengthening the regulatory capital
framework, essentially building on the three pillars of the Basel II structure. The reforms raise both
the quality and quantity of the regulatory capital base and enhance the risk coverage of the capital
framework. The SBP (State Bank of Pakistan) while being cognizant of the various reforms in the
offing, is reviewing the impact of Basel III (B3) guidelines on the capital structure and CAR (Capital
Adequacy Ratio) through quantitative impact studies. Accordingly, the SBP has implemented first
phase of Basel III framework with effect from December 31, 2013.
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

A well formulated policy and procedure is critical to an effective Risk Management framework; it
then needs to be reinforced through a strong control culture that promotes sound risk governance.
The Bank’s Risk Management Framework has been developed keeping in mind, that:

- Tobe effective, control activities should be an integral part of the regular activities of the Bank;

- Every loss or near miss event should provide some Key Learning Outcome (KLO), helping and
promoting a better risk identification and mitigation;

- While the reward may well commensurate the level of risk, it has to be viewed in entirety and
not in isolation; and

- Critical decision making should be based on relevant research, proper analysis and effective
communication within the Bank.

Strategic Level

At the strategic level, the risk related functions are approved by the senior management and the
Board. These include: defining risks, setting parameters, ascertaining the institution’s risk appetite,
formulating strategy and policies for managing risks and establishing adequate systems and controls
to ensure that overall risk remains within acceptable level and the reward compensates for the risk
taken.

Macro Level

It encompasses risk management within a business area or across business lines. Generally the risk
management activities performed by middle management or units devoted to risk reviews fall into
this category. Periodical review of various portfolios; stress test and scenario analysis for portfolio
resilience; application of statistical tools and information in time series for developing strong
inferences are all performed at this level.

Micro Level

Risk management at micro level, is of critical importance. This function if performed with diligence
and understanding, can be of maximum benefit to the organization. Micro level risk management
includes:

- Business line acquisition, strong adherence to the credit and other related criteria

- Middle Office monitoring function for a sound risk assessment of various risks inherent in
treasury operations

- Detailed review of various processes and operating procedures, for operational and other risk
related assessments

Risk appetite of the Bank

The risk appetite of the Bank is an outcome of its corporate goal, economic profitability, available
resources (size and business life cycle) and most significantly; the controls. The Bank believes
in a cautious yet steady approach towards its business objectives and takes a holistic view of its
investment and financing requirement.
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This approach is primarily based on a viable portfolio build-up with a long-term view; key
consideration being the health of various portfolios.

Risk organization

A strong organizational set-up, with clearly defined roles and responsibilities permits a higher level
of articulation of the Banks risk mandate, establishment of a structure that provides for authority,
delegation and accountability, and development of control framework. Risk management cannot
live in a vacuum; in order to be effective, it has to be run at an enterprise level. Risk governance must
involve all relevant parties and should be sanctioned by the bank’s leadership.

The risk management function at the Bank, along with the different committees including ALCO
(Asset Liability Committee) and MCC (Management Credit Committee), RMC (Risk Management
Committee of the Board) manage and adhere to the risk management policies and procedures, with
an explicit aim to mitigate/ manage risk in line with the Bank’s objectives.

Business line accountability

One of the most important features of the risk management process is the business line accountability.
Business has to understand the risk implication of specific transaction on the business / portfolio.
Some specific risks e.g. reputation risk affects the entire banking business and is not limited to one
business line or the other. At BIPL, as in any other reputable organization, responsibility comes
with accountability. Each business segment is responsible for the profit / loss of the business. The
management of risk is as much a line function as it is supports.

Business lines are equally responsible for the risks they are taking. Because line personnel understand
the risks of the business. Lack of an understanding of this by the line management may lead to risk
management in isolation.

45.1 Credit Risk

The Bank manages credit risk by effective credit appraisal mechanism, approving and reviewing
authorities, limit structures, internal credit risk rating system, collateral management and post
disbursement monitoring so as to ensure prudent financing activities and sound financing portfolio
under the umbrella of a comprehensive Credit Policy approved by the Board of Directors. Credit Risk
has certain sub-categories as follows:

(i) Pricerisk
There is a risk that the asset repossessed due to default of the customer may be sold or leased out
to another party at a price lower than the original contract price.

(i) Counter party risk
The risk that the counter-party defaults during the term of a transaction (Murabahah, Ijarah
etc.).

(iii) Settlement risk

The risk that the counter-party does not meet its commitments at the maturity of the transaction
after the Bank has already met its commitments.
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45.1.1

45.1.2

(iv) Country risk

Country Risk can be defined as the risk of adverse impact of certain factors on a country’s specific
economic, political and social scenario which affects the ability of the country (or a borrower in
that country) to repay its obligations. Country risk may be a combination of Transfer Risk and

Sovereign Risk.

Particulars of bank’s significant on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk in various

sectors are analysed as follows:
Due from financial institutions

Credit risk by public / private sector

Gross Due from

Non-performing Due from  Provision held

Public/ Government - -
Private 18,205,904 21,404,187

Financial Institutions Financial
Institutions
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
32,400 32,400 32,400 32,400
18,205,904 21,404,187 32,400 32,400 32,400 32,400

Investment in debt securities

Credit risk by industry sector

Gross Non-performing Provision held
investments investments
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
Chemical and Pharmaceuticals 499,423 499,423 499,423 499,423 499,423 499,423
Electronics and electrical appliances 55,000 55,000 55,000 55,000 - -
Construction 32,800 32,800 32,800 32,800 32,800 -
Power (electricity), Gas, Water,

Sanitary 9,078,277 4,698,522 - - - -
Financial 717,571 567,571 25,571 25,571 25,571 25,571
Services 70,273 82,316 70,273 82,316 70,273 82,316
Others 26,732,963 34,061,786 221,250 221,250 - -

37,186,307 39,997,418 904,317 916,360 628,067 607,310
Gross Non-performing Provision held
Credit risk by public investments investments
| private sector
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
Public/ Government 35,589,990 38,539,058 - - - -
Private 1,596,317 1,458,360 904,317 916,360 628,067 607,310
37,186,307 39,997,418 904,317 916,360 628,067 607,310
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45.1.3 Islamic financing, related assets and advances - net

Credit risk by industry sector

Gross Islamic Non-performing Provision held
financing, related assets financing, related
and advances assets
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
Agriculture, Forestry,

Hunting and Fishing 855,863 1,262,160 132,612 77,247 35,323 33,316
Mining and Quarrying 983 983 - - - -
Textile 11,676,817 10,148,614 3,602,362 4,644,114 3,491,143 4,145,397
Chemical and Pharmaceuticals 2,855,252 3,009,832 788,132 992,808 713,175 764,418
Cement 1,328,298 1,776,578 540,000 540,000 540,000 540,000
Sugar 5,041,129 4,623,716 847,195 9,750 665,195 -
Footwear and Leather garments 5,078 30,660 2,459 2,459 2,459 2,459
Automobile and transportation

equipment 332,005 1,211,606 100,359 100,359 100,359 100,359
Education 95,796 18,543 - - - -
Electronics and electrical appliances 2,668,437 2,703,726 494 5,081 494 5,081
Construction 2,962,636 7,788,465 925,256 971,411 924,770 955,180
Power (electricity), Gas,

Water, Sanitary 15436217 12,807,899 21,833 21,964 21,235 21,366
Wholesale and Retail Trade 4,510,763 3,832,338 844,260 619,696 788,59 576,431
Exports / Imports 244,458 857,503 47 644 - 8,059 -
Transport, Storage and

Communication 884,979 590,972 345,110 1,206,473 345,110 739,053
Financial 1,789,874 3,592,453 254,323 245,401 240,189 245,189
Insurance - 2433 - - - -
Services 19451,355 24,795,027 155,420 129,678 71,016 58,404
Individuals 30,267,672 25,849,649 2,770,532 2,346,387 1,749,119 2,001,122
Food and beverages 15,201,404 19,767,396 2,744,956 2,749,955 183,001 183,945
Private Trust & NGO 3,789 4424 - - - -
Packing and Paper products 664,326 709,282 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000
Others 13,300,813 5,252,395 1,267,487 1,161,262 1,040,708 1,065,349

129,577,944 130,636,654 15,403,434 15,837,045 10,932,951 11,450,069

Credit risk by public
| private sector

Public/ Government 32,756,879 44,963,174 - - - -
Private 96,821,065 85,673,480 15,403,434 15,837,045 10,932,951 11,450,069
129577944 130,636,654 15,403,434 15,837,045 10,932,951 11,450,069
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45.14 Contingencies and Commitments

Credit risk by industry sector
2018 2017

Rupees in * 000

Agriculture, Forestry, Hunting and Fishing 52,555 52,103
Mining and Quarrying 14,441 427,414
Textile 361,084 755,041
Chemical and Pharmaceuticals 58,545 221,603
Cement 212,417 271,113
Sugar 48,865 300,500
Footwear and Leather garments - 13,073
Automobile and transportation equipment 1,123,364 1,259,916
Education 54,621 54,621
Electronics and electrical appliances 183,050 942,548
Production and transmission of energy 1,384 1,468,113
Construction 1,321,998 2,539,833
Power (electricity), Gas, Water, Sanitary 388,138 150
Wholesale and Retail Trade 2,045,169 4,325,869
Exports / Imports 60,508 165,055
Transport, Storage and Communication 384,611 248 473
Financial 2,660,572 3,099,866
Services 3,033,200 1,024,108
Individuals 107,416 312,635
Food and beverages 159,055 723,020
Manufacturing 625,564 -
Packing and Paper products 56,954 -
Others 10,181,258 4,836,248

23,134,769 23,041,302

Credit risk by public / private sector

Public/Government 682,170 704,137
Private 22,452,599 22,337,165
23,134,769 23,041,302

4515 Concentration of Financing

The Bank top 10 exposures on the basis of total (funded and non-funded expsoures) aggregated to
Rs. 38,485.639 million (2017: Rs. 60,646.152 million) are as following;:

2018 2017
Rupees in * 000
Funded 33,727,023 52,947,060
Non-Funded 4,758,616 7,699,092
Total Exposure 38,485,639 60,646,152

The sanctioned limits against these top 10 expsoures aggregated to Rs. 65,909 million (2017: Rs. 64,291
million)
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45.1.6

OAEM

Substandard

Doubtful
Loss
Total

Total funded classified therein

2018 2017
Amount Provision Amount Provision
held held
Rupees in “ 000
267,237 220 95,345 -
734,484 87,997 3,056,420 108,551
523,501 112,035 939,044 375,817
13,878,212 10,732,699 11,746,236 10,965,701
15,403,434 10,932,951 15,837,045 11,450,069

For the purpose of this note, exposure means outstanding funded facilities and utilised non-funded

facilities as at the reporting date.

45.1.7

Province /
Region

Punjab

Sindh

KPK including
FATA

Balochistan

Islamabad

AJK including
Gilgit-Baltistan

Total

Province /
Region

Punjab

Sindh

KPK including
FATA

Balochistan

Islamabad

AJK including
Gilgit-Baltistan

Total

452

Financing - Province/Region-wise Disbursement & Utilization

2018
Disbursements Utilization
Punjab Sindh KPKincluding  Balochistan ~ Islamabad ~ AJKincluding
FATA Gilgit-Baltistan
Rupees in * 000
58,795,634 58795634 - - - - -
70,975,610 - 70,975,610 - - - -
379,151 - - 379,151 - - -
518,866 - - - 518,866 - -
5,206,806 - - - - 5,206,806 -
2,501 - - - - - 2,501
135,878,568 58,795,634 70,975,610 379,151 518,866 5,206,806 2,501
2017
Disbursements Utilization
Punjab Sindh KPK including  Balochistan Islamabad ~ AJK including
FATA Gilgit-Baltistan
Rupees in * 000
63,074991 63,074,991 - - - - -
96,963,476 - 96,963,476 - - - -
174,216 - - 174,216 - - -
52,046 - - - 52,046 - -
29,572,331 - - - - 29572331 -
189,837,060 63,074,991 96,963,476 174,216 52,046 29,572,331 -

Market Risk

Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in on-and-off balance sheet positions arising from
movements in market prices e.g. fluctuations in values in tradable, marketable or leasable assets.
The risks relate to the current and future volatility of market values of specific assets and of foreign
exchange rates and benchmark yields.
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The Bank uses various tools and techniques to assess market risk including but not limited to full
valuation, stress testing, scenario analysis, VaR. These assessment methods enable the Bank to
estimate changes in the value of the portfolio, if exposed to various risk factors.

Moreover, since the Bank does not deal in interest based products, the impact of the above risks will
be very minimal. The Bank does not have positions or forward exchange contracts giving mismatches
of maturity unless such risks have been taken care of through some other mechanism.

The VaR reports are complemented by various other position and sensitivity limit structures,
including stress, sensitivity, gap and scenario analysis. The capital charge for market risk has been

calculated by using Standardized Approach.

4521 Balance sheet split by trading and banking books

2018 2017
Banking Trading Total Banking Trading Total
book book book book
Rupees in ‘000
Cash and balances with
treasury banks 14,292,752 - 14,292,752 11,784,180 - 11,784,180
Balances with other banks 832,621 - 832,621 801,807 - 801,807
Due from financial
institutions - net 18,173,504 - 18,173,504 21,371,787 - 21,371,787
Investments - net 38,687,556 144,537 38,832,093 42,062,017 30,149 42,092,166
Islamic financings,
related assets &
advances - net 118,570,811 - 118570811 119,155,039 - 119,155,039
Fixed assets 6,663,467 - 6,663,467 5,944,358 - 5,944,358
Intangible assets 3,121,906 - 3,121,906 3,128,129 - 3,128,129
Deferred tax assets - net 7,530,221 - 7,530,221 7,701,906 - 7,701,906
Other assets - net 7,725,881 - 7,725,881 5,813,026 - 5,813,026
215,598,719 144537 215,743,256 217,762,249 30,149 217,792,398

45.2.2  Foreign Exchange Risk
Currency risk is the risk of loss arising from the fluctuations of exchange rates.

In the normal course of conducting commercial banking business, which ranges from intermediation
only to taking on principal risk as dealer or as counterparty, the Bank purchases or sells currencies
in today / ready and gives or receives unilateral promises for sale or purchase of FX at future dates
in a long or short position in different currency pairs. These positions expose the Bank to foreign
exchange risk. To control this risk, the Bank primarily uses notional principal limits at various levels
to control the open position, and ultimately the residual foreign exchange risk of the Bank. The Bank
also strictly adheres to all associated regulatory limits.
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Following is the summary of the assets of the Bank subject to foreign exchange risk.

2018 2017
Foreign Cur- Foreign Off-balance Net foreign ~ Foreign Cur- Foreign Off-balance Net foreign
rency Assets Currency sheet items currency rency Assets Currency sheet items currency
Liabilities exposure Liabilities exposure
Rupees in “000
Pakistan Rupee 213407437 196,060,268 (2870,624) 14,476,545 214,285,952 200,374,198 (7,206,404) 6,705,350
United States Dollar 1,428,762 4,174,304 2,840,238 94,696 2,611,705 2,924,961 6,242,049 5,928,793
Great Britain Pound 481,183 473,797 7,386 479,939 477915 300,010 302,034
Japanese Yen 16135 10,603 - 5532 12,381 6,690 388,986 394,677
Euro 326,163 489,947 30,386 (133,398) 301,912 314,384 258,114 245,642
UAE Ditham 17,928 11,059 - 6,809 22,344 14,803 6,407 13,948
Asian Currency Unit 36,255 - - 36,255 71,99% - 7199%
Swiss Franc 3,682 - 3,682 1,306 - 10838 12,144
Chinese Yuan 16,517 - - 16,517 -
Australian Dollar 1472 1,586 - (114) 291 1,147 1,774
Saudi Riyal 4325 19 4306 1,493 - 1493
Canadian Dollar 3275 6,858 - (3,583) 313 1,831 (1,518)
Turkish Lira 122 B - 122 136 - 136
215,743,256 201,228,441 14,514,815 217,792,398 204,115,929 13,676,469
2018 2017
Banking Trading Banking Trading
book book book book
Rupees in ‘000
Impact of 1% change in foreign exchange rates on
- Profit and loss account 383 - 69,711 -

- Other comprehensive income - - - -
45.2.3 Equity Position Risk
Equity position includes the following:

- Strategic investments
- Investment in equities for generating revenue in short term

These equity investments are accounted for and disclosed as per the provisions and directives of SBP,
SECP and the requirements of approved International Financial Reporting Standards as applicable
in Pakistan.

Provision for diminution in the value of securities is made after considering impairment, if any, in
their value and charged to the profit and loss account.

2018 2017
Banking Trading Banking Trading
book book book book
Rupees in “000
Impact of 5% change in equity prices on
- Profit and loss account - 7,227 - 1,507
- Other comprehensive income 11,275 - 12,135
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452.4 Yield / Profit Rate Risk

It includes all material yield risk positions of the Bank taking into account all repricing and maturity
data. It includes current balances and contractual yield rates, the Bank understands that its Islamic
financing and related assets shall be repriced as per their respective contracts.

The Bank estimates changes in the economic value of equity due to changes in the yield rates on

on-balance sheet positions by conducting duration gap analysis. It also assesses yield rate risk on
earnings of the bank by applying upward and downward shocks.

2018 2017

Banking Trading Banking Trading
book book book book

Rupees in ‘000

Impact of 1% change in interest rates on
- Profit and loss account 60,340 - 51,040 -

- Other comprehensive income - - - -
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At a more formal level, the Bank has strengthened its risk management framework by developing
policies, guidelines and manuals. Operational and other risk assessment tools e.g. Risk Control
and Self Assessment (RCSA) is being effectively used to assess, mitigate and monitor possible risk
that may arise in any of the Bank’s financial product or department. Operational Loss Database
(OLD) records all the internal / external potential operational losses which helps the management
understand the causes and impact of these risks.

453.1 Operational Risk-Disclosures Basel II Specific

The Bank uses Basic Indicator Approach (BIA) for assessing the capital charge for operational risk.
Under BIA the capital charge is calculated by multiplying average annual gross income of the bank
over the past three years with 15% as per guidelines issued by the State Bank of Pakistan.

To reduce losses arising from operational risk, the Bank has strengthened its risk management
framework by developing strategies, policies, guidelines and manuals. It also includes risk and control
self-assessment, key risk indicator, loss data management, improving efficiency and effectiveness of
operations and improving quality of human resource through training and mitigation of operational
risk.

45.4 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential loss to the Bank arising from its inability either to meet its obligations
(financial) or to fund increases in assets as they fall due without incurring unacceptable costs or
losses.

BIPL's liquidity at various levels (day to day, short term, long term) is managed by the Treasury
along with the Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO), which is one of the most
important management level committees. Its role cannot be over emphasized here, it serves as a part
of the critical trio with risk management and treasury department, monitoring and maintaining key
liquidity ratios, a viable funding mix, depositor concentration, reviewing contingency plans etc.

Liquidity risk is defined as the potential loss arising from the Bank’s inability to meet in an orderly
way its contractual obligations when due. Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Bank’s
activities and in the management of its assets. The Bank maintains sufficient liquidity to fund its day-
to-day operations, meet customer deposit withdrawals either on demand or at contractual maturity,
meet customers’ demand for new financings, participate in new investments when opportunities
arise, and to meet any other commitments. Hence, liquidity is managed to meet known as well as
unanticipated cash funding needs.

Bank calculates the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) on monthly basis as per SBP Basel III Liquidity
Standards issued under BPRD circular no 08 dated June 23, 2016. The objective of LCR s to ensure the
short-term resilience of the liquidity risk profile of Bank which requires banks to maintain sufficient
High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLAs) to meet stressed cash outflows over a prospective 30 calendar-
days period. As of December 31, 2018, Bank’s LCR stood at 191.92% against the SBP’s minimum
requirement of 100%.

The objective of Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is to reduce funding risk over a longer time
horizon by requiring banks to fund their activities with sufficiently stable sources of funding in order
to mitigate the risk of future funding stress. Banks are expected to meet the NSFR requirement of at
least 100% on an ongoing basis from December 31, 2017.
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Governance of Liquidity risk management

Liquidity and related risks are managed through standardized processes established in the Bank.
Board and senior management are apprised about liquidity profile of the Bank on periodic basis
so as to ensure proactive liquidity management and to avoid abrupt shocks. The management of
liquidity risk within the Bank is undertaken within limits and other policy parameters set by ALCO,
which meets monthly and reviews compliance with policy parameters. Day-to-day monitoring is
done by the treasury while overall compliance is monitored and coordinated by the ALCO and
includes reviewing the actual and planned strategic growth of the business and its impact on the
statement of financial position and monitoring the Bank’s liquidity profile and associated activities.
Bank’s treasury function has the primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing
bank’s liquidity and funding strategy. Treasury Middle Office being part of Risk management group
is responsible for the independent identification, monitoring & analysis of risks inherent in treasury
operations. The bank has in place duly approved Treasury investment policy and strategy along
with liquidity risk tolerance/appetite levels. These are communicated at various levels so as to
ensure effective liquidity management for the Bank.

Funding Strategy

Bank’s prime source of liquidity is the customer’s deposit base. Within deposits, Bank strives to
maintain a healthy core deposit base in form of current and saving deposits and avoid concentration
in particular products, tenors and dependence on large fund providers. Further, Bank relies
on Interbank placement for stop gap funding arrangements but same is less preferred source of
liquidity. Within borrowing, sources of funding are also diversified to minimize concentration.
Usually interbank placement is for short term. The bank follows centralized funding strategy so as
to ensure achievement of strategic and business objectives of the Bank.

Liquidity Risk Mitigation techniques

Various tools and techniques are used to measure and monitor the possible liquidity risk. These
include monitoring of different liquidity ratios like cash to deposits, financing to deposit ratio, liquid
assets to total deposits, Interbank placement to total deposits and large deposits to total deposits
which are monitored on daily basis against different triggers levels and communicated to senior
management and to ALCO forum regularly. Further, Bank also prepares the maturity profile of
assets and liabilities to monitor the liquidity gaps over different time buckets. For maturity analysis,
behavioral study techniques are also used to determine the behavior of non-contractual assets
and liabilities based on historic data and statistical techniques. The Bank also ensures to maintain
statutory cash and liquidity requirements all times.
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As per SBP BSD Circular No. 1 of 2012, Liquidity stress testing is being conducted under various
stress scenarios. Shocks include the withdrawals of deposits and increase in assets, withdrawals of
wholesale / large deposits & interbank placement and utilization of undrawn credit lines etc. Results
of same are escalated at the senior level so as to enable the senior management to take proactive
actions to avoid liquidity crunch for the Bank.

Liquidity Stress Testing

Contingency Funding Plan

Contingency Funding Plan (CFP) is a part of liquidity management framework of the bank which
identifies the trigger events that could cause a liquidity crisis and describes the actions to be taken
to manage the crisis. At Bank, a comprehensive liquidity contingency funding plan is prepared
which highlights liquidity management chain that needs to be followed. Responsibilities and crisis
management phases are also incorporated in order to tackle the liquidity crisis. Moreover, CFP
highlights possible funding sources, in case of a liquidity crisis.

Main drivers of LCR Results

Main drivers of LCR Results are High Quality Liquid Assets and Net cash outflows. Outflows are
mainly deposit outflows net of cash inflows which consist of inflows from financing and money
market placements up to 1 month. The inputs for calculation of LCR are as prescribed by the
regulator.

Composition of High Quality Liquid Assets - HQLA

High Quality Liquid Assets composed of Level-1 Assets which can be included in the stock of liquid
assets at 100% of their market value. The Bank has taken Cash & treasury balances, Investments in
GoP Jjarah Sukuks classified as Available for Sale category and foreign currency placements issued
by sovereigns. Further, Level 2-A asset category includes investment in corporate Sukuk.
Concentration of Funding Sources

Being a commercial bank, it relies on funds provided by depositors. However the Bank has been
continuously improving upon its ratio of core deposits. Current and Saving accounts consist of
69.06% of total deposits, term deposits are 30.94% and borrowing from SBP and financial institutions
is 4.23% of total deposits. Moreover the Bank does not rely on top few depositors to meet its funding
requirements. This clearly shows that the funding sources for the Bank are well diversified.
Currency Mismatch in the LCR

Currency mismatch is minimal as FCY deposits are 2.79% of Bank's total deposits.
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Strategic Risk

Strategic risk arises due to wrong assumptions in strategic decision making or the failure to react
correctly to long-term changes in strategic parameters.

The Bank follows a deliberate low-risk strategy. Within the general constraints of its niche market the
Bank is aware of the need of reducing risk. The Bank has a well established strategic planning and
evaluation process which involves all levels of management and which is subject to regular review.

Systemic Risk
Systemic risk is the risk of a total or partial collapse of the financial system.
Such a collapse could be due to technical factors or market driven (psychological reasons).

Systemic risk is reduced by the activities of both national and international regulatory authorities. The
Bank actively supports these organizations through its membership of the relevant banking industry
association i.e. Pakistan Banks Association (“PBA”). The Bank also takes account of systemic risk by
means of careful management of counter party risks in the inter-bank market.

Shariah Non-compliance Risk

Shariah non-compliance risk is the risk that arises from an Islamic bank’s failure to comply with the
Shariah rules and principles prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan and / or the Shariah Board of
the Bank. It remains the most important operational risk for an Islamic bank. Compliance of Shariah
guidelines must permeate throughout the organisation and its adherence should be reflected in the
products and activities.

Shariah compliant forward and future contracts

Shariah compliant forward and future contracts are recognized at fair value. In case of equity futures,
the fair value is calculated with reference to quoted market price. Shariah compliant forward and
future contracts with positive market values (i.e. unrealized gains) are included in other receivables
and derivatives with negative market values (i.e. unrealized losses) are included in other liabilities
in the statement of financial position. The resultant gains and losses are taken to the profit and loss
account.

GENERAL
Captions, as prescribed by BPRD Circular No. 02 of 2018, dated: January 25, 2018 issued by the SBF,
in respect of which there are no amounts, have not been reproduced in these financial statements,

except for captions of the Statement of Financial Position and Profit and Loss Account.

The figures in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupee.
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Corresponding figures have been re-arranged and reclassified, wherever necessary, to facilitate
comparisons. There were no significant reclassifications during the year except as disclosed below:

46.1 Corresponding figures

Transfer from Transfer to Aggregate
Rupees in ‘000
Profit / return earned - Profit / return earned - Placements 1,126,436
Financings
Deposits Bills Payable 939,473

Asaresultof change in forms for the preparation of financial statements issued by SBP, corresponding
figures have been rearranged wherever necessary, for purposes of comparison. There were no
reclassification to report except as follows:

Transfer from Transfer to Aggregate

Rupees in ‘000

Contingencies & Other Assets - Acceptances 1,627,253
Commitments - Acceptances -

Surplus on revaluation Equity 1,276,340
of assets - net -

Other Expenses Provisions / (reversal of provisions) 124,882
and write offs - net E—

Gain on securities Income from shariah compliant forward 2,359
and future contracts E—
Income from dealing in Income from shariah compliant forward
foreign currencies and future contracts 13,365
Foreign exchange income Profit / return expensed 803

47 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These unconsolidated financial information were authorised for issue on February 28, 2019 by the

Board of Directors of the Bank.
Mx gi P 5\"% ﬁ [
PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Annexure-II

Details of disposal of fixed assets to the Chief Executive Officer or to a Director or to Executives,
irrespective of the value, and to any other person having cost more than Rs. 1 million or net
book value of Rs. 250,000 or above are as follows:

Asise? Asset Accumglgted WDV Sale Gain./ (loss) Mode of Particulars
description Cost | depreciation proceeds | on disposal disposal of Buyer
Rupees in “000
ATM Machine 1,170 | 1,170 1 7 7 Tender Liaqat Transporter
ATM Machine 1,086 | 1,086 1 7 7 Tender Liaqat Transporter
ATM Machine 1,084 | 1,084 1 7 7 Tender Liaqat Transporter
ATM Machine 1,170 | 1,170 1 8 8 Tender Zain & Brother Steel
Work
40 KVA Genset 1,040 | 1,040 1 4 4 Tender M/s. Adam Traders
40 KVA Genset 1,011 | 1,011 1 4 4 Tender M/s. Adam Traders
NCR Selfserve 339 27 311 339 27 Takaful Claim | M/s. Pak Qatar Takaful
ATM Machine

Total 6,900 | 6,589 317 376 64
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Directors” Report

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Consolidated Results of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2018.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group’s material and significant operations are as follows:

BanklIslami Pakistan Limited (Holding Company) — Scheduled Commercial Islamic Bank

BIPL Securities Limited (Subsidiary) - Brokerage Services

Shakarganj Food Products Limited (Associate) - Manufacturing, Processing and Sale of Food Products
Names of Directors-Holding Company

Mr. Ali Hussain, Chairman

Mr. Fawad Anwar

Mr. Ali Mohamad Hussain Ali Mohamad Alshamali

Dr. Amjad Waheed

Mr. Muhammad Nadeem Farooq

Mr. Noman Yakoob

Mr. Siraj Ahmed Dadabhoy

Mr. Syed Amir Ali, President and Chief Executive Officer *

* Mr. Syed Amir Ali replaced Mr. Hasan A. Bilgrami as President & Chief Executive Officer on

October 1, 2018.
Financial Highlights Dec-18 Dec-17 Growth
Rupees in million

Total Deposits 184,430 178,062 3.58%
Total Assets 216,833 218,861 -0.93%
Total Financing and related assets-net 118,321 119,007 -0.58%
Total Investments-net 39,237 42,364 -7.38%
Shareholder’s Equity 15,276 14,227 7.38%
Profit After Tax 324 1,690 -80.83%
Earnings Per Share (in Rupees) 0.332 1.664 -80.04%

The Deposit Base of the group increased by 3.58%, while assets declined by 0.93%. Growth in deposits
was primarily attributable to focused approach adapted by the Banking segment to increase its core
current and saving account base (excluding financial institution deposit). Going forward, the growth
trend is expected to continue on the back of a planned and aggressive strategy adopted by the Holding
Company on long-term horizon. The decline in overall assets was mainly due to reduction in money
market placements and corresponding borrowing activities towards the end of the year.
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The Group reported profit after tax of Rs. 324 million in the year 2018 as compared to Rs. 1,690 million
of last year. This variation mainly pertains to one-off deferred tax adjustment considered in the year
2017. The operating profits of the Banking segment have remained under stress since its amalgamation
with a defunct bank, however signs of improvement have now turned up owing to increase in its net
spreads earned, higher non funded income, controlled growth in its expenses and efforts made by the
Management of the Bank in generating synergies.

Profit from Group’s Associated entity grew by around 40% which was in-line with its expansion in
operations and product offerings. However, Group’s Brokerage segment (Subsidiary) has declared
a loss due to lower business volumes ensuing from capital market’s overall sluggish performance
during 2018. Stability in exchange rates, foreign currency reserves, trade balances and monetary
indicators will remain a key factor for improvement in the country’s equity market going forward,
which in turn will also generate stable business volumes for Group’s Brokerage business. Moreover,
the Subsidiary entity has also planned an expansion in its operations during the year 2019 through
onboarding high quality sales team and increasing its branch network which is expected to aid in
attracting new clientele and enhancing its high net-worth customer base.

Statement of Internal Controls

The system of internal control, including internal controls over financial reporting, is sound in
design and has been effectively implemented and monitored. The Board is pleased to endorse the
statement made by the management of the Holding Company relating to internal controls including
management’s evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting, included in the Annual Report.

The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring that an adequate and effective
internal control system covering all aspects of our Group’s operations is in place and actively followed
by senior management.

Risk Management
Holding Company

The objective of risk management is to effectively manage uncertainties that arise in the normal course
of business activities. It is one of the most important areas of the banking business through which
the Holding Company manages enterprise wide risks with the objective of maximizing risk-adjusted
returns while remaining within the risk appetite. The Risk Management Division has the following
divisions, headed by senior executives, reporting to the Head - Risk Management:

¢ Corporate Credit Management

¢ Consumer Credit Management

¢ Risk Policy & Analytics (Market, Liquidity & Operational Risk)
¢ IT Security

* Special Assets Management

e Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) and Bank’s Policy & Procedures

Specialized committees, comprising members from senior management with relevant experience and
expertise, perform their functions in line with overall strategy set by the Board so as to ensure that
exposures are within risk appetite. The committees include:

1. Management Credit Committee (MCC)
2. Asset Liability Committee (ALCO)
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The MCC ensures that credit risk activities are in line with Board’s approved policies, regulatory
requirements, Holding Company’s risk appetite and best industry practices. ALCO reviews market,
liquidity and country risk exposures, assets and liabilities maturity profile, sets pricing and takes
decisions for sound liquidity management with respect to consumer assets and quality acquisitions.
Policies and processes have been amended with a view to be made more stringent which would lead
to further improvement in asset quality.

The risk associated with Equity, Foreign Exchange and Liquidity are being continuously measured
and monitored by the Market Risk function. Stress testing and sensitivity measures are used as risk
management tools to monitor and manage the market risk. Assets quality is being ensured through
comprehensive financing policies and procedures, appropriately delegated financing approval
authorities, adequate collateral coverage, its documentation and periodic reviews. Growth in financing
is ensured while focusing on comprehensive risk analysis and portfolio diversification. The Holding
Company calculates value at risk for market risk assessment. Day-to-day liquidity management is
done through cash flow matching, meeting regulatory reserve requirement and maintaining adequate
liquid assets. Various liquidity ratios are being monitored to assess any possible liquidity risk.

The role of market and liquidity risk function in monitoring of treasury activities has been strengthened
with various limits structuring, their monitoring, reporting and system improvements. Loss data
reporting, self-assessment of risk and control, enhanced coverage of key risk indicators, documenting
and improving upon Bank’s processes through risk identification and mitigates demonstrate
continuous improvements in operational risk management framework.

Continued efforts are being made to enhance the scope of a robust ‘Operational Risk Management
Framework’. The Holding Company has an internal operational risk awareness program which is
aimed at building capacity and inculcating a risk free culture in the staff through trainings and on-job
awareness for promoting greater risk awareness.

The Group has maintained its CAR at 15.0% well above the regulatory thresholds of 11.90% throughout
the year under the prescribed Basel-III regulations.

The Holding Company has established an extensive Information Security (IS) Program and governance
structure to manage the security of the information assets. The sensitive information managed by
the Holding Company including the data entrusted by its customers, partners and staff are among
the organization’s most valuable assets. Given the competitive nature of the banking business and
significant value of data it manages, the Risk division in conjunction with business and technology
have taken necessary measures to minimize the risk.

Subsidiary Company

The Subsidiary Company’s business operations are exposed to a variety of financial risks, namely
market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The overall risk management program of the Subsidiary
Company focuses on minimizing potential adverse effects on the financial performance ensuing from
unpredictability of financial markets.

The Board of Directors of the Subsidiary Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of its Risk Management Framework. All treasury related transactions are carried out within
the parameters of this framework.
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The management of the Subsidiary Company has also developed its own set of internal guidelines to
manage liquidity, market and credit risk to which it is exposed. Monitoring of the performance of the
company in compliance with these guidelines is done by the Executive Committee of the Subsidiary
Company.

Pattern of Shareholding

The Holding Company is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. The detailed pattern and
categories of its shareholding including shares held by directors and executives of the Holding
Company, if any, are annexed to the Annual Report.

Acknowledgement

We would like to place on record our deep appreciation to the State Bank of Pakistan and Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan for their continued support and guidance. Also, we would
like to show our gratitude to the employees of the Group for their contribution towards the Group’s
progress through their hard work and commitment.

On behalf of the Board
ol
Syed Amir Ali Ali Hussain
President and Chief Executive Officer Chairman of the Board of Directors

February 28, 2019
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Independent Auditors” Report

To the members of BankIslami Pakistan Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements of BankIslami Pakistan Limited (the Bank) and
its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, and the consolidated profit and loss account, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flows statement for the year then ended,

notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as
adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Following are the key audit matters:

Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

1. Cyber Crime Incident

As disclosed in note 23.3.3 to the consolidated | We applied a range of audit procedures including

financial statements, with respect to the| the following:
cybercrime incidentinvolving the Bank’s payment
card facility, the international payment scheme | - Involving our information technology

has claimed an amount of USD 6.1 million (PKR specialists to obtain an understanding of the

738 million) from the Bank.

The Bank has challenged this claim in the court
of law and a stay has been granted in favor of the
Bank. Considering the significant management
judgment involved in-respect of accounting of
this contingent liability we have identified the
same as a key audit matter.

nature of the cyberattack, the circumstancesin
which the acts occurred, and understanding
of other relevant information to evaluate
the impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
- Analyzing the judgements used by
management based on the available

information. Among other procedures, we
sent confirmation letters to, and obtained
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Key audit matters

e

Nl

How the matter was addressed in our audit

responses from the lawyers used by the
Bank while focusing on matters relating to
the court proceedings in progress. Further,
we engaged an independent legal expert to
review the facts of the case to assist us in
determining the impact of this incident on
the consolidated financial statements.

- We considered the accounting treatment of the
liabilities, contingent liabilities and disclosures
under applicable financial reporting framework,
to conclude whether these were appropriate in
all the circumstances.

2. Provision against Non Performing Islamic Financing and Related Assets

The Bank’s credit portfolios include Islamic
financing and related assets, and non-funded
credit facilities. The credit portfolio is spread
across various branches in Pakistan.

As disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, Gross non performing
Islamic Financings (NPF) to customers as at
December 31, 2018 amount to Rs. 15,403 million,
provision against NPF to Rs. 10,933 million.

As per the Bank’s accounting policy (refer note
6.4 to the consolidated financial statements),
the Bank periodically assess the adequacy of
its provisions against non-performing credit
exposures in accordance with the requirements of
Prudential Regulations of State Bank of Pakistan.
Such regulations require specific provisioning
against loan losses on the basis of an age based
criteria which should be supplemented by a
subjective evaluation of Bank’s credit portfolio.

The determination of loan loss provision against
certain vulnerable corporate loans, therefore,
involve use of management judgment, on a
case to case basis, taking into account factors
such as the economic and business conditions,
borrowers repayment behaviors and realizability
of collateral held by the Bank. In view of the
significance of this area in terms of its impact
on the consolidated financial statements and the
level of involvement of management’s judgment,
we identified adequacy and completeness of
loan loss provision as a significant area of audit
judgment and a key audit matter.
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We applied a range of audit procedures including
the following:

- We reviewed the Bank’s process for
identification and classification of non-
performing Islamic financing and related
assets including the quality of underlying
data and systems.

- We performed independent checks for the
computations of provisions in line with the
requirements of the applicable Prudential
Regulations.

In addition, we selected a representative
sample of borrowers from the credit portfolio
including individually significant financings
and performed tests and procedures such as
review of credit documentation, repayment
history and past due status, financial
condition as depicted by the borrowers’
financial statements, nature of collateral held
by the Bank and status of litigation, if any,
with the borrower;

Based on the said credit reviews, we identified
and discussed with the management the loan
accounts where the credit risk appear to have
increased. We reviewed the adequacy of
provisions against such accounts on the basis
of our independent objective evaluation of
the risk mitigating factors as existed in such
cases;
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Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

We also assessed adequacy of disclosures
as included in note 11.15 to the financial
statements regarding the non-performing
Islamic financing and related assets and
provisions made for the same in the
financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework.

3. Recoverability of deferred tax assets

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2018,
Rs. 7,471.963 million was recorded on the
consolidated Statement of financial position
with respect to deferred tax assets, of which
Rs. 3,674.23 million represents carryforward
accumulated tax losses.

The carry-forward of unused tax losses
requires a deferred tax asset to be recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future tax
profits are available against which the unused
tax losses can be set off.

We deemed this subject to be a key audit matter
because management is required to exercise
judgement when deciding whether to recognize
a deferred tax asset for tax loss carryforwards
as well as when assessing the recoverability of
recognized deferred tax assets.

We applied a range of audit procedures including
the following;:

- Weinvolved our internal valuation specialists
to assist in evaluating the Bank’s assumptions
and estimates in relation to the likelihood of
generating sufficient future taxable income
based on most recent budgets and plans,
prepared by management by using the same
criteria described for testing the impairment
of assets and goodwill, principally by
performing  sensitivity = analyses  and
evaluating and testing the key assumptions
used to determine the amounts recognized.

- We ascertained that information used was
derived from the Bank’s business plans has
been subject to internal reviews and were
approved by those charged with governance.

- we reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures
made by the Bank in this area.

4. Impairment testing of goodwill

As at 31 December 2018, Intangible assets
include goodwill amounting to Rs. 2.9 billion
acquired as a result of scheme of amalgamation
as disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Goodwill is required to be annually assessed
for impairment under IAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”, Accordingly, Management performed

Our procedures included, amongst others:
- Evaluated the model used in determining the
value in use as well as assessing the discount

rate used;

- Compared the cash flow forecasts to
approved budgets and other relevant market
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Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

an impairment test on the recoverability of the
goodwill which is subjective in nature due to
assumptions made about future performance.

As disclosed in notes 13.2, the Bank uses a
discounted cash flow model to determine
value in use, on the basis of the certain key
assumptions.

Due to the significance and impact of the
assumptions and judgements involved, the
impairment tests of goodwill is considered to
be a key audit matter.

and economic information, as well as testing
the underlying calculations;

- Weinvolved our internal valuation specialists
to assist in evaluating management’s
key assumptions used in the impairment
calculations.

- Performed sensitivity analyses around the
key assumptions used in the models.

Weassessed theadequacy of therelated disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.

5. Preparation of financial statements under BPRD circular no. 02 of 2018 and Companies Act, 2017

As referred to in note 2.4 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, State Bank
of Pakistan (SBP) vide its BPRD circular no.
02 of 2018 (the circular) has revised the format
of the annual financial statements of the Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2018. Further,
the Companies Act, 2017 (the Act) became
applicable for the first time for the preparation
of the Group’s annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Due to the above changes, certain additional
disclosures have been included in the financial
statements as referred to note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further, the Group has also changed its
accounting policy relating to presentation and
measurement of surplus on revaluation of fixed
assets as a consequence of the application of
the Act with retrospective effect. The impact
of the said change in accounting policy has
been disclosed in note 2.4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The above changes and enhancements in the
financial statements are considered a key audit
matter because of the volume and significance
of the changes in the financial statements
resulting from the transition to the new
reporting requirements under the circular and
the Act.
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We assessed the procedures applied by the
management for identification of the changes
required in the financial statements due to
the application of the circular and the Act. We
considered the adequacy and appropriateness
of the revised reporting format and additional
disclosures based on the requirements of the
circular and the Act. We also evaluated the
sources of information used by the management
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements and the internal consistency of the
disclosures with other elements thereof.

In respect of the change in accounting policy for
the accounting and presentation of revaluation
surplus as referred to note 24.1.1 to the
consolidated financial statements; we assessed
the accounting implications in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting standards and
evaluated its application in the context of the
Bank.




7

Information Other than the Consolidated and Unconsolidated Financial Statements and Auditors
Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated and unconsolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the
Companies Act, 2017 and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of directors is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Omer Chughtai.

EY Ford Rhodes v
Chartered Accountants

Place: Karachi
Date: February 28, 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018

Restated

Restated

Note 2018 2017 2016
Rupees in “000
ASSETS
Cash and balances with treasury banks 7 14,292,752 11,784,180 8,921,433
Balances with other banks 8 1,164,553 1,149,355 1,324,167
Due from financial institutions - net 9 18,173,504 21,371,787 27,218,665
Investments - net 10 39,236,762 42,363,753 46,643,174
Islamic financing, related assets and
advances - net 11 118,320,811 119,006,779 77,667,276
Fixed assets 12 6,683,785 5,967,362 6,199,142
Intangible assets 13 3,173,692 3,180,702 3,212,987
Deferred tax assets 14 7,471,963 7,613,022 5,820,956
Other assets - net 15 8,315,446 6,424,228 6,969,274
Total Assets 216,833,268 218,861,168 183,977,074
LIABILITIES
Bills payable 16 3,242,180 3,928,469 2,937,746
Due to financial institutions 17 7,819,532 15,570,390 6,066,307
Deposits and other accounts 18 184,429,521 178,062,105 153,162,536
Subordinated debt - - -
Deferred tax liabilities - - -
Other liabilities 19 6,066,223 7,072,968 8,744,151
201,557,456 204,633,932 170,910,740
NET ASSETS 15,275,812 14,227,236 13,066,334
REPRESENTED BY
Share capital - net 20 10,000,079 10,000,079 10,000,079
Reserves 21 968,799 926,266 613,636
Surplus on revaluation of assets - net of tax 22 1,875,495 1,201,913 1,741,327
Unappropriated profit 2,236,825 1,893,736 518,942
15,081,198 14,021,994 12,873,984
Non-controlling interest 194,614 205,242 192,350
15,275,812 14,227,236 13,066,334
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 23
The annexed notes 1 to 48 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
W . < AL
M AT s
PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000

Profit / return earned 24 12,204,667 10,323,727
Profit / return expensed 25 6,145,543 5,231,305
Net Profit / return 6,059,124 5,092,422
OTHER INCOME

Fee and commission income 26 842,235 647,468
Dividend income 23,029 33,030
Foreign exchange income 92,182 71,652
Income from shariah compliant forward and future contracts 138,673 15,723
Gain on securities 27 46,818 119,414
Other income 28 82,246 77,853
Total other income 1,225,183 965,140
Total Income 7,284,307 6,057,562
OTHER EXPENSES

Operating expenses 29 6,810,250 6,295,778
Workers Welfare Fund 8,216 -
Other charges 30 54,359 21,733
Total other expenses 6,872,825 6,317,511
Profit / (loss) before provisions 411,482 (259,949)
Reversal of provisions and write offs - net 31 (3,165) (391,970)

Extraordinary / unusual items

(Loss) / profit for the year from BIPL Securities

Limited - net of tax 32 (46,755) 34,441
Share of profit from associate 145,830 104,530
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 513,722 270,992
Taxation 33 190,084 (1,418,576)
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 323,638 1,689,568
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Equity shareholders of the Bank 334,266 1,676,676
Non-controlling interest (10,628) 12,892
323,638 1,689,568

Rupees
Basic earnings per share 34 0.3316 1.6635
Diluted earnings per share 34 0.3316 1.6635

The annexed notes 1 to 48 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
/&M& g WA 1
PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
Restated

2017
Rupees in “000

2018

Profit after taxation for the period attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Bank 334,266 1,676,676
Non-controlling interest (10,628) 12,892
323,638 1,689,568

Other Comprehensive Income
Movement in surplus on revaluation of investments - net of tax (160,633) (637,226)

Items that may not be reclassified to profit and loss account
in subsequent periods

Re-measurement gain on defined benefit obligations

- net of tax 4,053 80
Movement in surplus on revaluation of operating fixed
assets - net of tax 659,648 -
Movement in surplus on revaluation of non-banking
assets - net of tax 221,870 108,480
885,571 108,560
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,048,576 1,160,902

The annexed notes 1 to 48 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

M BA s

PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

Surplus/(Deficit) on

Reserve revaluation of Sub N
Discount forbad — : u on- Total
v g ST e Rion! VGITORS ol confolling
2 ciesg Investment Banking interest
Assets
Rupees in “000
Balance as at December 31, 2016
(as reported) 10,079,121 (79,042) 363,636 250,000 - - 518942 11,132,657 192,350 11,325,007
Effect of retrospective change in
accounting policy
Reclassification of surplus on
revaluation of assets to equity (Note 2.4) - - - - 832,695 908,632 - - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2016 (restated) 10,079,121 (79,042) 363,636 250,000 832,695 908,632 518,942 12,873,984 192,350 13,066,334

Profit after taxation for the year - - - - - -|| 1,676,676 || 1,676,676 12,892 | | 1,689,568
Other comprehensive income for the year E - - -1 (637,226) 108,480 80 (528,666), - (528,666),
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (637,226) 108,480 1,676,756 1,148,010 12,892 1,160,902

Transfer from surplus on revaluation of
fixed assets - net of tax - - - - - (10,398) 10,398 - - -

Transfer from surplus on revaluation of
non-banking assets - net of tax - - - - - (270) 270 - - -

Transfer to statutory reserve - - 312,630 - - - (312,630) - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2017 (restated) 10,079,121 (79,042) 676,266 250,000 195,469 1,006,444 1,893,736 14,021,994 205,242 14,227,236

Profit after taxation for the year g - - - - - 334,266 334,266 (10,628) 323,638
Other comprehensive income for the year E - - -1 (160,633) | 881,518 4,053 724,938 - 724,938
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (160,633) 881,518 338,319 1,059,204 (10,628) 1,048,576

Transfer from surplus on revaluation of
fixed assets - net of tax - - - - - (10,398) 10,398 - - -

Transfer from surplus on revaluation of
non-banking assets - net of tax - - - - - (308) 308 - - -

Surplus on revaluation of non banking

assets transferred to unappropriated profit - - - - - (36,597) 36,597 - - -
Transfer to statutory reserve - - 42,533 - - - (42,533) - - -
Balance as at December 31, 2018 10,079,121 (79,042) 718,799 250,000 3483 1,840,659 2,236,825 15,081,198 194,614 15,275,812

The annexed notes 1 to 48 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

M B o s o

PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 Restated
Note 2018 2017

Rupees in “000
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 513,722 270,992
Less: Dividend Income (23,029) (33,030)
Less: Share of profit from associates (145,830) (104,530)
344,863 133,432
Adjustments for non-cash charges and other items:
Depreciation on operating fixed assets 122 649,522 707,844
Depreciation on non-banking assets 15.1.1 6,653 6,634
Amortisation 13 68,314 63,180
Depreciation on operating Ijarah assets 11.13 1,160,722 1,383,698
Reversal of provisions and write offs - net 31 (3,165) (391,970)
Unrealised loss/ ( gain) on revaluation of investments
classified as held for trading 27 19,686 (2,007)
Charge for defined benefit plan 29.1 89,186 81,604
Gain on sale of property and equipment 28 (11,542) (13,577)
Loss on sale of non-banking assets 28 10,570 -
1,989,946 1,835,406
2,334,809 1,968,838
(Increase) / decrease in operating assets
Due from financial institutions 3,198,283 5,846,878
Held-for-trading securities 17,953 415,752
Islamic financing and related assets and advances (438,879) (42,245,513)
Others assets (excluding defined benefit assets) (1,556,842) 186,302
1,220,515 (35,796,581)
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities
Bills payable (686,289) 715,062
Due to financial institutions (7,750,858) 9,504,083
Deposits and other accounts 6,367,416 25,175,230
Other liabilities (excluding current taxation and unrealised
loss on forward sale promises) (1,011,082) (1,369,485)
(3,080,813) 34,024,890
474,511 197,147
Payments against defined benefit plan (50,469) -
Income tax paid (220,411) (168,906)
Net cash generated from operating activities 203,631 28,241
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net investments in available-for-sale securities 3,053,169 3,120,046
Dividend received 23,029 33,030
Investments in operating fixed assets (769,424) (511,029)
Proceeds from disposal of operating fixed assets 13,365 17,647
Net cash generated from investing activities 2,320,139 2,659,694
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,523,770 2,687,935
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 12,933,535 10,245,600
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 36 15,457,305 12,933,535

The annexed notes 1 to 48 and Annexure-I & II form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

&M B g o

PRESIDENT / CHIEF FINANCIAL CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Notes to and forming part of the unconsolidated

financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

1 STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS
The Group comprises of:
1.1  BanklIslami Pakistan Limited (Holding Company or The Bank)

BankIslami Pakistan Limited (The Holding Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on October
18, 2004 as a public limited company to carry out the business of an Islamic Commercial Bank in
accordance with the principles of Islamic Shariah.

The State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) granted a ‘Scheduled Islamic Commercial Bank’ license to The
Holding Company on March 18, 2005. The Holding Company commenced its operations as a
Scheduled Islamic Commercial Bank with effect from April 07, 2006, on receiving Certificate
of Commencement of Business from the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) under section 37 of the
State Bank of Pakistan Act, 1956. The Holding Company is principally engaged in corporate,
commercial, consumer, retail banking and investment activities.

The Holding Company is operating through 330 branches including 81 sub branches as at
December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017: 330 branches including 112 sub branches). The registered
office of The Holding Company is situated at 11th Floor, Dolmen City, Marine Drive, Block-4,
Clifton, Karachi. The shares of The Holding Company are quoted on the Pakistan Stock Exchange
Limited.

The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency (Private) Limited (PACRA) has maintained The Holding
Company’s long-term rating as ‘A+” and the short-term rating as ‘A1’".

1.2  Subsidiary Companies
1.2.1 BankIslami Modaraba Investments Limited - 100 percent holding

The subsidiary company was incorporated in Pakistan on January 22, 1986 as a public limited
company. Later on it was registered as a Modaraba Company with the Registrar of Modaraba
Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980. The principal activity of the
subsidiary company is to float and operate Modaraba. The subsidiary company is managing its
Modaraba with the name of Modaraba-Al-Mali. The principal place of business of the subsidiary
company is situated at 10th Floor, Progressive Square, Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi.

The financial statements of the subsidiary company have been consolidated on the basis of
reviewed condensed interim financial information for the half year ended December 31, 2018.

The financial statements of “Modaraba Al-Mali”, a modaraba floated by the subsidiary company
in which it has 13 percent holding, have not been consolidated although the Group has control
over Modaraba Al-Mali by virtue of management rights. The management of the Group is of
the view that consolidated financial statements are required to be prepared only for subsidiaries
as defined in the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (now Companies Act, 2017). “Modaraba Al-
Mali” is a modaraba floated under the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (floatation and
control) Ordinance, 1980 and does not fall under the definition of subsidiary as defined under
the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (now Companies Act, 2017). Hence, the financial statements of
“Modaraba Al-Mali” are not required to be consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

1.2.2 BIPL Securities Limited - 77.12 percent holding

BIPL Securities Limited was incorporated in Pakistan on October 24, 2000 and commenced its
operations effective January 01, 2003, on the transfer of assets and liabilities of the securities
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segment of the then Khadim Ali Shah Bukhari and Company Limited under a scheme of
arrangement approved by the High Court of Sindh. The shares of the Company are listed on the
Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited (PSX). The registered office of the company is situated at 5th
Floor, Trade Centre, LI. Chundrigar Road, Karachi.

The Company is a TREC holder of the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited (PSX) and Corporate
member of Pakistan Mercantile Exchange Limited (PMEL) and is principally engaged in the
business of stocks, money market, foreign exchange and commodity broking. Other activities
include investment in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities, economic research and
advisory services.

1.2.3 My Solutions Corporation Limited - 100 percent holding

My Solutions Corporation Limited (the Company) was incorporated as a private limited
company on November 05, 1995 and was converted into a public limited company on March 24,
2003. The Company is currently dormant. Its registered office is situated at the 9th floor, Trade
Centre, LI Chundrigar Road, Karachi.

1.2.4 Structured Ventures (Private) Limited - 77.12 percent holding - (Sub subsidiary)

Structured Venture (Private) Limited was incorporated in Pakistan on June 25, 2010. The
registered office of the company is situated at 5th floor, Trade Centre, I. I. Chundrigar Road,
Karachi. The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of BIPL Securities Limited. The ultimate
parent company is BanklIslami Pakistan Limited.

1.3 Material partly owned subsidiary

BIPL Securities Limited is the only significant subsidiary of the holding company that has a non-
controlling interest (2018: 22.88%, 2017: 22.88%). The following table summarises key information
relevant to the BIPL Securities Limited.

2018 2017
Rupees in ‘000

Operating fixed assets 44,247 48,108
Investments 487,409 664,238
Advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 569,527 578,400
Deferred tax asset - net 70,783 35,721
Taxation - net 111,479 92,425
Cash and bank balances 546,138 496,966
Total Assets 1,829,583 1,915,858
Long-term loan 150,000 150,000
Short term financing-secured 100,000 -
Trade and other payables 701,685 840,873
Total Liabilities 951,685 990,873
Net Assets 877,898 924,985
Accumulated non-controlling interests of the subsidiary 200,863 211,637
Profit after tax of the subsidiary company (26,959) 38,043
Intragroup eliminations (19,796) (3,602)

(46,755) 34,441
Profit allocated to non-controlling interest (10,698) 7,880
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2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

21 The Holding Company provides financing mainly through Murabahah, Ijarah, Istisna,
Diminishing Musharakah, Muswammah and other Islamic modes as briefly explained in note
6.4 to these financial statements.

The purchases and sales arising under these arrangements are not reflected in these financial
statements as such but are restricted to the amount of facility actually utilised and the appropriate
portion of profit thereon. The income on such financing is recognised in accordance with the
principles of Islamic Shariah. However, income, if any, received which does not comply with the
principles of Islamic Shariah is recognised as charity payable as directed by the Shariah Board of
The Holding Company.

2.2 Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of The Holding
Company and the financial statements of subsidiary companies from the date that control of the
subsidiary by the Group commences until the date that control ceases. The financial statements
of the subsidiary companies are incorporated on a line-by-line basis (except the profit and loss
account of BIPL Securities Limited which is disclosed as a single line item in Consolidated
Profit and Loss account as per letter No. BPRD(R&P-02)/625-112/2017 /4911 dated February 27,
2017, see note 2.2.1 and the investment held by The Holding Company is eliminated against the
corresponding share capital of subsidiaries in these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Holding
Company, using accounting polices that are generally consistent with those of the Holding
Company, except for non-banking subsidiaries in Pakistan which follow the requirements of
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39: Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement
IAS 40: Investment Property and IFRS - 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which are required
to comply with local regulations enforced within the respective jurisdictions.

Material intra-group balances and transactions are eliminated.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over
the financial and operating policies. Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the
Group has joint control established by contractual agreement. Associates and joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

2.2.1 The SBP vide its letter No. BPRD(R&P-02)/625-112/2017 /4911 dated February 27, 2017, has
allowed the Group to disclose financial results (net) of BIPL Securities Limited as a single line
item in the Consolidated Profit and Loss account as majority of the operations of BIPL Securities
Limited are of conventional nature and line by line consolidation would result in non-compliance
of Shariah requirements.

2.3 Effective May 07, 2015, the defunct KASB Bank Limited (amalgamated entity) was amalgamated
within and into The Holding Company. As the amalgamated entity operated as a conventional
bank, any assets or liabilities which are not Shariah compliant are shown separately within the
financial statement line items.

24 Adoption of new forms for the preparation of financial statements

During the year, the SBP, vide its BPRD Circular No. 02 dated January 25, 2018, issued the revised
forms for the preparation of the annual financial statements of The Holding Company’s which
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are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2018. The implementation
of the revised forms has resulted in certain changes to the accounting policies of The Holding
Company and the presentation and disclosures of various elements of the financial statements.
These changes are summarized below:

2.4.1 Changes in the accounting policies:

2411 As per the revised forms, “Surplus/deficit on revaluation of assets” is now required to be
presented as a component of the equity of The Holding Company. Previously, such surplus/
deficit was required to be presented separately from the equity of The Holding Company
and changes in such surplus/deficit were not recognized in the statement of comprehensive
income. Consequent upon the change in the presentation requirements, the surplus/deficit
on revaluation of assets and changes in such surplus/deficit during the year are reflected in
the relevant section of the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income
and statement of changes in equity for the current and prior years presented in these financial
statements. As a result, the comprehensive income and equity of The Holding Company have
increased by Rs. 881.518 million (2017: Rs.108.480 million) and Rs. 1,875.495 million (2017:
Rs.1,201.913 million) respectively.

2.4.1.2 The repealed Ordinance specified the accounting treatment for the surplus on revaluation on
fixed assets, wherein, a deficit arising on revaluation of a particular property was to be adjusted
against the total balance in the surplus account or, if no surplus existed, was to be charged to
the profit and loss account as an impairment of the asset. However, the Companies Act, 2017
removed the specific provisions allowing the above treatment and hence, a deficit arising on
revaluation of a particular property is now to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS, which
requires that such deficit is to be taken to the profit and loss account as an impairment.

Consequently, The Holding Company has changed its policy for accounting for a deficit arising
on revaluation of fixed assets and accordingly, any surplus/deficit arising on revaluation of
owned property and non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims is accounted for at
individual assets level. This change in accounting policy did not have any material effect on
these financial statements.

2.4.1.3 Acceptances representing undertakings by The Holding Company to pay bills of exchange
drawn on customers are now required to be recognized as liabilities of The Holding Company
at the date of acceptance. Previously, acceptances were only recognized as off-balance sheet
obligations and disclosed under contingent liabilities. As a result of the above change, the
other assets and other liabilities of The Holding Company increased by Rs. 944.025 million, Rs.
1,627.253 million and Rs. 1,983.434 million as of 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

2.4.2  Significant changes to the presentation and disclosures:

In addition, to above changes in accounting policies, certain changes to the presentation of
the financial statements have been made such as other reversal of provisions/write offs have
now been combined under provisions & write off - net (note 31), Business segments have been
identifed and reported as per the requirements of IFRS 8 - “Operating Segments” (note 42),
cost of conversion of foreign currency deposits is now included in “Cost of foreign currency
swaps against foreign currency deposits” which was previously reported under “Income from
dealing in foreign currencies” (note 25).

Further, certain, new disclosures have been introduced which include category of classification

for non-performing “Due from Financial Institutions” (Note 9.5) and “Investments” (note
10.6.2); movement in “Non-Banking Assets acquired in satisfaction of claims” (note 15.1.1); for
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“Non-Banking Assets acquired in satisfaction of claims” sold during the year, disposal
proceeds, cost of such asset, impairment/ depreciation and realized gains or losses (note 15.1.2
and note 28); composition of deposits (note 18.1); breakdown of Fee and Commission (note
26); presentation of operating expenses has been changed (note 29); Concentration of Islamic
financing and province wise disbursements and utilization of Islamic financing (note 46.1.5
and note 46.1.6); and assets split between trading and banking books (note 46.2.1).

The Holding Company has adopted the above changes in the presentation and made additional
disclosure to the extent applicable to its operations and corresponding figures have been
rearranged / reclassified to correspond to current year’s presentation. Such reclassifications/
re-arrangements are disclosed in note 47.1 to the concolidated financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting
and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards
comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the
Companies Act, 2017; and

- Directives issued by the SBP and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
(SECP).

Wherever the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act,
2017 or the directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the requirements of the IFRS
or IFAS, the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Companies Act,
2017 and the said directives, shall prevail.

The SBP, through its BSD Circular No. 10 dated August 26,2002, has deferred the implementation
of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39 - “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” and IAS 40 - “Investment Property” for Banking Companies in Pakistan,
till further instructions. Accordingly, the requirements of these Standards have not been
considered in the preparation of these financial statements. Further, the SECP has deferred the
applicability of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” through its S.R.O. 411(I) /2008 dated April 28, 2008. Accordingly, the requirements
of this standard have also not been considered in the preparation of these financial statements.
However, investments and non-banking assets have been classified and valued in accordance
with the requirements prescribed by the SBP through various circulars.

The SBP vide its BPRD Circular No. 04 dated February 25, 2015 has clarified that the reporting
requirements of IFAS-3 for Islamic Banking Institutions (IBIs) relating to annual, half yearly
and quarterly financial statements would be notified by SBP through issuance of specific
instructions and uniform disclosure formats in consultation with IBIs. These reporting
requirements have not been ratified to date. Accordingly, the disclosures requirements
under IFAS 3 have not been considered in these consolidated financial statements.
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3.4 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting standards
as applicable in Pakistan that are effective in the current year:

The Holding Company has adopted the following accounting standard and the amendments
and interpretation of IFRSs which became effective for the current year:

Standard or Interpretation

- IFRS2 - Share-based Payments — Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payments
Transactions (Amendments)

- IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts — (Amendments)
- IFRIC Interpretation 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Improvements to Accounting Standards Issued by the IASB in December 2016

- IAS28-Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Clarification that measuring investees
at fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice

The adoption of the above amendments, improvements to accounting standards and
interpretations did not have any effect on the financial statements.

3.5 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting standards
as applicable in Pakistan that are not yet effective:

3.5.1  The following standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to the accounting and
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan would be effective from the dates mentioned
there against:

Standard, Interpretations Effective date (accounting periods
and Amendments beginning on or after)

- IFRS 3 Definition of a Business (Amendments) January 01, 2020

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement July 01, 2018

- IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation — (Amendments) January 01, 2019

- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and
IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture (Amendment) Not yet finalized
- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers July 01, 2018
- IFRS 16 Leases January 01, 2019
- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments January 01, 2019
- TAS 1/ IAS 8 Definition of Material (Amendments) January 01, 2020
- TAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or

Settlement (Amendments) January 01, 2019

- IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
(Amendments) January 01, 2019
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The above standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have any material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application, other
than IFRS 9 and IFRS 16. With regard to IFRS 9, The Group considers that as the Prudential
Regulations and other SBP directives currently provide the accounting framework for the
measurement and valuation of investments and provision against non performing loans
and advances, the implementation of IFRS 9 may require changes in the regulatory regime.
Therefore, The Holding Company expects that the SBP would issue suitable guidance and
instruction on the application of IFRS 9 for The Banking sector of Pakistan. With regard to IFRS
16, The Holding Company is currently evaluating the impact of application of IFRS 16 on its
financial statements.

In addition to the above standards and amendments, improvements to various accounting
standards have also been issued by the IASB in December 2017. Such improvements are
generally effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The Holding
Company expects that such improvements to the standards will not have any impact on The
Holding Company’s financial statements in the period of initial application.

Further, following new standards have been issued by IASB which are yet to be notified by the
SECP for the purpose of applicability in Pakistan.

Standards
- IFRS 14 — Regulatory Deferral Accounts
- IFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts
3.6 Early adoption of standards
The Group has not early adopted any new or amended standard in 2018.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying The Holding
Company’s accounting policies. The significant accounting areas where various assumptions
and estimates are significant to The Holding Company’s financial statements or where
judgment was exercised in the application of the accounting policies are as follows:

(a) Classification and valuation of investments in accordance with The Holding Company’s
policy (notes 6.3 and 10).

(b) Provision for non-performing Islamic financing and related assets and advances (notes
6.4.2 and 11.14).

(c) Determination of forced sales value of underlying securities of non performing Islamic
financing and related assets (note 11.15.3.2).

(d)Impairment of investments in equity instruments of subsidiary, associates and non associate
entities (notes 6.3.5 and 10.6.2).

(e) Staff retirement benefits (notes 6.7 and 38).

(f) Revaluation and depreciation/amortization of operating fixed assets (notes 6.5,12.2 and 13).
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(g) Valuation of non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims (note 6.18 & 15.1)

(h) Assumption and estimation in recognition of provision for taxation (current and prior
years) and deferred taxation (notes 6.6, 14 and 33).

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
that certain fixed assets, certain investments, foreign currency balances, commitments in
respect of foreign exchange contracts and non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims
have been marked to market and are carried at fair value. Further, staff retirement benefits as
discussed in notes 6.7 and 38 to the financial statements have been carried at present values
as determined under the International Accounting Standards (IAS) 19 (revised) ‘Employee
Benefits’ .

Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees, which is The Group’s functional
and presentation currency.

Rounding off

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees unless otherwise stated.
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise specified.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and balances with treasury banks and balances
with other banks in current and deposit accounts.

Due to/from financial and other institutions

Bai Muajjal

In Bai Muajjal, The Holding Company sells sukuk on deferred payment basis to financial
institutions. The credit price is agreed at the time of sale and such proceeds are received at the

end of the credit period. The difference between the deferred payment amount receivable and
the carrying value at the time of sale is accrued and recorded as income over the credit period.
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Musharakah / Mudaraba

In Musharaka/Mudaraba, The Holding Company invests/accepts in the Shariah compliant
business pools of the financial institutions at the agreed profit and loss sharing ratio.

Musharaka from State Bank of Pakistan under IERS

Under IERS, The Holding Company accepts funds from the SBP under shirkat-ul-aqd to
constitute a pool for investment in export refinance portfolio of The Holding Company under
the guidelines issued by the SBP. The profit of the pool is shared as per the agreed weightages
between the partners.

Acceptances from State Bank of Pakistan for financial assistance

The Holding Company has recorded Acceptances from State Bank of Pakistan for financial
assistance at its fair value which is amortised over the period of the financing.

Commodity Murabahah
In Commodity Murabahah, The Holding Company sells commodities on credit to other
financial institutions. The credit price is agreed at the time of sale and such proceeds are
received at the end of the credit period.
Wakalah
In Wakalah, The Holding Company accepts/places funds from /with financial institutions by
entering into Investment Agency for the funds to be invested in profitable avenues as/on
behalf of the Muwakkil.

6.3 Investments

6.3.1 Classification

Investments of The Group, other than investments in associates and subsidiaries are classified
as follows:

(a) Held-for-trading
These are investments which are either acquired for generating profits from short-term
fluctuations in market prices or are securities included in a portfolio for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking.

(b) Held-to-maturity

These are investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity and The
Holding Company has the positive intent and ability to hold them till maturity.

(c) Available-for-sale

These are investments, other than those in subsidiaries and associates, which do not fall
under the ‘held for trading’ or ‘held to maturity’ categories.
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All purchases and sales of investments that require delivery within the time frame established
by regulation or market convention are recognised at the trade date, which is the date on
which The Holding Company commits to purchase or sell the investments.

6.3.2  Regular way contracts

6.3.3  Initial recognition and measurement

Investments other than those categorised as ‘held for trading’ are initially recognised at fair
value which includes transaction costs associated with the investment. Investments classified
as ‘held for trading’ are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in
the profit and loss account.

Premium or discount on debt securities classified as available for sale is amortised using the
effective profit rate method and taken to the profit and loss account.

6.3.4  Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition investments are valued as follows:

(a) Held-for-trading

These are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Gains and losses on re-
measurement are included in the net profit and loss for the year.

(b) Held-to-maturity

These are measured at amortised cost using the effective profit rate method, less any
impairment loss recognized to reflect irrecoverable amount.

(c) Available for sale

Quoted/Government securities are measured at fair value. Surplus/(deficit) arising on
re-measurement is included in the statement of comprehensive income and recognised
in the statement of financial position in equity. The surplus/(deficit) arising on these
securities is taken to the profit and loss account when actually realised upon disposal.

Unquoted equity securities are valued at the lower of cost (which in the case of business
acquisition would be the fair value at the acquisition date) and break-up value. Break
up value of equity securities is calculated with reference to the net assets of the investee
company as per the latest available audited financial statements. Investments in other
unquoted securities are valued at cost less impairment losses, if any.

(d) Investments in associates

Associates are all entities over which The Holding Company has significant influence
but not control. Investments in associate is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

6.3.5 Impairment
Available for sale and held to maturity investments

Impairment loss in respect of investments classified as available for sale and held to maturity
(except sukuk certificates) is recognised based on management’s assessment of objective
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evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that may have an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the investments. A significant or prolonged decline in fair value
of an equity investment below its cost is also considered as an objective evidence of impairment.
Provision for diminution in the value of sukuk certificates is made as per the Prudential
Regulations issued by the State Bank of Pakistan. In case of impairment of available for sale
securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognised directly in surplus on revaluation of
assets on the Statement of Financial Position in equity is removed therefrom and recognised in
the profit and loss account. For investments classified as held to maturity, the impairment loss
is recognised in the profit and loss account.

6.3.6  Gains or losses on sale of investments are included in profit and loss for the year.

6.4 Islamic financing and related assets

6.4.1 Islamicfinancing and related assets are financial products originated by The Holding Company
and principally comprise of Murabahah, Istisna, Ijarah, Salam, Muswammah, Diminishing
Musharakah and other Islamic modes of financing and the related assets.
As a general rule, funds disbursed under financing arrangements for purchase of goods/ assets
are recorded as advance. On culmination, financing are recorded at the deferred sale price net
of profit. Goods purchased but remaining unsold at the statement of financial position date are
recorded as inventories.

6.4.2  Islamic financing and related assets are stated net of general provisions and specific provisions
against non-performing Islamic financing and related assets which are charged to the profit
and loss account.

Specific provision

The Holding Company maintains specific provision for doubtful debts based on the
requirements specified in the Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP.

General provision

Consumer Financing

The Holding Company maintains general provision against consumer financing at varying
percentages based on the non-performing loan ratio present in the portfolio. These percentages
range from 1% to 2.5% for secured and 4% to 7% for unsecured portfolio.

Small Enterprise Financing

The Holding Company maintains general provision in respect of small enterprise financing at
the rate of 1% for unsecured portfolio.

The net provision made/reversed during the year is charged to the profit and loss account
and accumulated provision is netted off against Islamic financing and related assets. Islamic
financing and related assets are written off when there are no realistic prospects of recovery.

6.4.3  Ijarah Financing

Jjarah financing executed on or before December 31, 2008 have been accounted for under
finance method, thereafter all [jarah financing are accounted for under IFAS-2.
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(@) Under finance method, the present value of minimum Ijarah payments have been
recognised and shown under Islamic financing and related assets. The unearned income
i.e. the excess of aggregate Jjarah rentals over the cost of the asset and documentation
charges under Jjarah facility is deferred and then amortised over the term of the Ijarah,
so as to produce a constant rate of return on net investment in the Ijarah. Gains/losses
on termination of Jjarah contracts are recognised as income on a receipt basis. Income
on Jjarah is recognised from the date of delivery of the respective assets to the mustajir
(lessee).

(b) Under IFAS-2 method, assets underlying Ijarah financing have been carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any, and are shown under Islamic
financing and related assets. Rentals accrued from Ijarah financing net of depreciation
charge are taken to the profit and loss account. Depreciation on Ijarah assets is charged
by applying the straight line method over the Jjarah period which is from the date of
delivery of respective assets to mustajir up to the date of maturity/termination of Ijarah
agreement.

6.4.4 Murabahah

Murabahah is a sale transaction with the purchase orderer wherein the first party (The
Holding Company) sells to the client/customer Shariah compliant assets/goods for cost plus
a pre-agreed profit after getting title and possession of the same. In principle, on the basis of
an undertaking (Promise-to-Purchase) from the client (the purchase orderer), The Holding
Company purchases the assets/goods subject of the Murabahah from a third party and takes
the possession thereof. However, The Holding Company can appoint the client as its agent
to purchase and take possession of the assets/goods on its behalf. Thereafter, it sells it to the
client at cost plus the profit agreed upon in the promise.

6.4.5 Istisna

Istisna is a contract where the buyer (The Holding Company) orders the client (seller/
manufacturer) to manufacture and deliver specified goods at an agreed contract price
upon completion. Istisna is used with Wakalah agreement to provide financing mainly
to manufacturers. Thus the transaction consists of two stages: (i) Bai Istisna whereby The
Holding Company purchases goods from the client and (ii) Wakalah whereby The Holding
Company after receipt/possession of goods, appoints the client its agent to sell the goods in
the market.

6.4.6  Diminishing Musharakah

Diminishing Musharakah represents an asset in joint ownership whereby a partner promises
to buy the equity share of the other partner until the title to the equity is totally transferred
to him. The partner using the asset pays the proportionate rental of such asset to the other
partner (The Holding Company).

6.4.7 Import Murabahah

Import Murabahah is a product, used to finance a commercial transaction which consists of
purchase by The Holding Company (generally through an undisclosed agent) the goods from
the foreign supplier and selling them to the client after getting the title to and possession
of the goods. Murabahah financing is extended to all types of trade transactions i.e., under
Documentary Credits (LCs), Documentary Collections and Open Accounts.
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6.4.8 Salam

Salam is a sale transaction where the seller undertakes to supply some specific goods to the
buyer at a future date against an advance price fully paid on spot. In Salam financing, the
transaction consists of two stages: (i) Bai Salam whereby The Holding Company purchases
goods from the client and (ii) Wakalah whereby The Holding Company after receipt /
possession of goods, appoints the client its agent to sell the goods in the market.

6.4.9 Muswammah / Karobar Financing

Muswammah is a contract where The Holding Company purchases tangible identified goods
from client at an agreed purchase price. The Holding Company then sells the goods in the
market through agent (Client) at a higher price to earn its desired profit.

6.4.10 Musharakah / Mudarabah

Musharakah / Mudarabah are different types of partnerships in business with distribution of
profit in agreed ratio and distribution of loss in the ratio of capital invested.

6.4.11 Wakalah-tul-Istismar (Investment Agency Wakalah)

Wakalah—tul-Istismar means appointing another person to invest and grow one’s wealth, with
or without a fee. It covers contract for acquisition of services of a person or institution (Wakeel)
for making investments of Wakalah Funds, and accomplishment of certain task on behalf of
another person or institution (Muwakkil).

6.412 Running Musharakah

In Running Musharakah financing, The Holding Company enters into financing with the
customer based on Shirkat-ul-Aqd or Business Partnership in customers operating business.
Under this mechanism the customer can withdraw and return funds to The Holding Company
subject to its Running Musharakah Financing limit during the Musharakah Period. At the end
of each quarter / half year the customer pays the provisional profit as per the desired profit
rate which is subject to final settlement based on the relevant quarterly / half yearly / annual
accounts of the customer.

6.4.13 Ijarah

Jjarah is a contract where the owner of an asset transfers its usufruct (i.e. the usage right)
to another person for an agreed period, at an agreed consideration. The rentals received /
receivable on Jjarah are recorded as income / revenue. Depreciation on Jjarah assets is charged
to profit and loss account by applying the accounting policy consistent with the policy for
depreciation of operating fixed assets.

6.5 Operating fixed assets and depreciation

6.5.1  Property and equipment
Fixed assets other than freehold land and building on leasehold land are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Freehold land and

building on leasehold land are carried at revalued amount less any accumulated depreciation
and subsequent impairment losses. The revaluation exercise is carried out on periodic basis.
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Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method by taking into consideration the
estimated useful life of the related assets at the rates specified in note 12.2 to the financial
statements. Depreciation on additions / deletions during the year is charged for the
proportionate period for which the asset remained in use.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or are recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to The Holding Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to the profit and loss account as and when
incurred.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment, if any, are taken to the profit and loss
account.

6.5.2  Capital work in progress
These are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
6.5.3 Intangible assets

Intangible assets having a finite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such intangible assets are amortised using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. The useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date. Intangible assets having an
indefinite useful life are stated at acquisition cost, less impairment losses, if any.

Amortisation on additions / deletions during the year is charged for the proportionate period
for which the asset remained in use.

Software and other development costs are only capitalised to the extent that future economic
benefits are expected to be derived by The Holding Company.

6.54 Impairment

At each reporting date, The Holding Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of impairment loss. Recoverable amount is the greater of net selling price
and value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in the financial statements except for impairment loss
on revalued assets, which is adjusted against related revaluation surplus to the extent that the
impairment loss does not exceed the surplus on revaluation of that asset.
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Where an impairment loss reverses subsequently, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognized as income immediately except for impairment loss on revalued assets which is
adjusted against the related revaluation surplus to the extent that the impairment loss does not
exceed the surplus on revaluation of assets.

6.6 Taxation
6.6.1 Current

The provision for current taxation is based on taxable income for the year at current rates of
taxation, after taking into consideration available tax credits, rebates and tax losses as allowed
under the seventh schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. The charge for current tax
also includes adjustments, where considered necessary relating to prior years, which arises
from assessments / developments made during the year. Currently, The Holding Company
provides for minimum tax in accordance with the requirements of section 113 of the Income
Tax Ordinance, 2001.

6.6.2 Deferred

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method on all major temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities used for financial reporting
purposes and amounts used for taxation purposes. In addition, The Holding Company also
records deferred tax asset on available tax losses. Deferred tax is calculated using the rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Holding Company also recognises deferred tax asset / liability on deficit / surplus on
revaluation of securities and operating fixed assets which is adjusted against the related deficit
/ surplus in accordance with the requirements of the International Accounting Standard 12 -
Income Taxes.

6.7 Staff retirement benefits
6.7.1  Defined benefit plan

The Holding Company operates an approved funded gratuity scheme for its permanent
employees. The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined
benefit gratuity scheme, is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement
of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets. Contributions to the fund are
made on the basis of actuarial recommendations. The defined benefit obligation is calculated
periodically by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. The last
valuation was conducted as on December 31, 2018.
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6.7.2

6.8

6.8.1

6.8.2

6.8.3

6.8.4

6.8.5

6.8.6

6.8.7

6.8.8

6.8.9

Amounts arising as a result of “Remeasurements”, representing the actuarial gains and losses
and the difference between the actual investment returns and the return implied by the net
interest cost are recognised in the statement of financial position immediately, with a charge or
credit to “Other Comprehensive Income” in the periods in which they occur.

Defined contribution plan

The Holding Company operates a recognised contributory provident fund for all the
permanent employees. Equal monthly contributions are made both by The Holding Company
and the employees at the rate of 10 % of the basic salary. The Holding Company has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions made by The
Holding Company are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.

Revenue recognition

Profit on Murabahah and Commodity Murabahah is recognised over the life of Murabahah on
an accrual basis. Profit on Murabahah transactions for the period from the date of disbursement
to the date of culmination of Murabahah is recognised immediately on the culmination
date.

Profit from Istisna, Salam and Muswammah (Karobar Finance) are recorded on an accrual
basis commencing from the time of sale of goods till the realisation of proceeds by The Holding
Company. Profit from Diminishing Musharakah are recognised on a time proportionate
basis.

The Holding Company follows the finance method in recognising income on Ijarah contracts
written up to December 31, 2008. Under this method the unearned income i.e. excess of
aggregate Jjarah rentals over the cost of the asset and documentation charges under Jjarah
facility is deferred and then amortised over the term of the Ijarah, so as to produce a constant
rate of return on net investment in the Jjarah. Gains / losses on termination of Ijarah contracts
are recognised as income on a receipt basis. Income on Jjarah is recognised from the date of
delivery of the respective assets to the mustajir (lessee).

Rental from Jjarah contracts entered on or after January 01, 2009 is recognized in the profit and
loss account over the term of the contract net of depreciation expense relating to the Ijarah
assets.

Provisional profit of Musharakah / Mudarabah financing is recognised on an accrual basis.
Actual profit / loss on Musharakah and Mudarabah financing is adjusted after declaration of
profit by Musharakah partner / mudarib or on liquidation of Musharakah / Mudarabah.

Profit on Wakalah-tul-Istismar financings is booked on an accrual basis and is adjusted upon
declaration of profit by the Wakeel.

Profit on Running Musharakah financings is booked on an accrual basis and is adjusted upon
declaration of profit by Musharakah partners.

Profit on classified financing is recognised on a receipt basis.
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established.

Gains and losses on sale of investments are recognised in the profit and loss account.
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6.8.10 Fee on issuance of letter of credit and acceptance is recognised on receipt basis as generally
the transactions consummate within an accounting period. Commission on guarantees,
if considered material, is recognised over the period of guarantee. Fee, commission and
brokerage income are recognized on receipt basis.

6.8.11 Profit on Sukuks is recognised on an accrual basis. Where Sukuks (excluding held for trading
securities) are purchased at a premium or discount, the premiums / discounts are amortised
through the profit and loss account over the remaining life of Sukuk, using the effective yield
method.

6.8.12 Income earned from revenues that are not Shariah complaint are not recognised in the
profit and loss account. This income is classified as charity payable in accordance with the
recommendation of the Shariah Board of The Holding Company.

6.9 Revenue from Conventional products

OnMay 07, 2015, The Holding Company acquired operation of the defunct KASB Bank Limited
(the amalgamated entity) which was operating as a conventional bank in Pakistan. Keeping
in view the Shariah compliance, the Shariah Board of The Holding Company has approved
that any income accruing on conventional products is not to be transferred to profit and loss
statement and is classified as liability under the head “Receipt Appropriation Account” in
other liabilities. Further, expenses incurred in respect of legal & professional charges or other
expenses as approved by the Shariah Board that pertain to the aforesaid acquisition are to be
set off against such income.

6.10 Financial Instruments
6.10.1 Financial assets and financial liabilities

All financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when The Holding
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets
are derecognised when The Holding Company loses control of the contractual rights that
comprise the financial assets. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished,
i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. Any loss
on derecognition of the financial assets and financial liabilities is taken to income directly.
Financial assets carried on the statement of financial position include cash and balances
with treasury banks, balances with other banks, due from financial institutions, investments,
Islamic financing and related assets and certain receivables and financial liabilities include bills
payable, due to financial institutions, deposits and other payables. The particular recognition
methods adopted for significant financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the
individual policy statements associated with them.

6.10.2 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are off-set and the net amount is reported in the
financial statements only when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised
amount and The Holding Company intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the
assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously. Income and expense items of such assets and
liabilities are also reported on a net basis in the financial statements, only when permitted by
the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan.
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6.10.3 Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. In case of equity futures, the fair
value is calculated with reference to quoted market price. Derivatives with positive market
values (i.e. unrealised gains) are included in other receivables and derivatives with negative
market values (i.e. unrealised losses) are included in other liabilities in the statement of
financial position. The resultant gains and losses are taken to the profit and loss account.

6.11 Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which The Holding Company operates. The financial statements are
presented in Pakistani Rupee, which is The Holding Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into local currency at the exchange rates prevailing
on the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated
into rupees at the exchange rates prevailing at the statement of financial position date. Forward
exchange promises are revalued using forward exchange rates applicable to their respective
remaining maturities.

Translation gains and losses

Translation gains and losses are included in the profit and loss account.

Commitments

Commitments for outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts are disclosed at contracted
rates. Contingent liabilities / commitments for letters of credit and letters of guarantee
denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in rupee terms at the exchange rates prevailing
on the reporting date.

6.12 Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of The Holding Company in the
financial statements.

6.13 Deposits
Deposits are generated on the basis of two modes i.e. Qard and Mudaraba.

Deposits taken on Qard basis are classified as ‘Current non-remunerative accounts’ and
Deposits generated on Mudaraba basis are classified as ‘Current remunerative accounts’,
‘Savings deposits’ and ‘Fixed deposits’. No profit or loss is passed on to current non-
remunerative account depositors, however the funds of current accounts are treated as equity
for the purpose of profit calculation and any profit earned / loss incurred on those funds are
allocated to the equity of The Holding Company. No profit or loss is passed on to current
account depositors. While the product features of each product differ, there is usually no
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6.14

restriction on withdrawals or number of transactions in current and saving accounts. In case
of fixed deposits, pre-mature withdrawals can be made as per approved terms only.

Profits realised in investment pools are distributed in pre-agreed profit sharing ratio. Rab-ul-
Maal share is distributed among depositors according to weightages assigned at the inception
of profit calculation period.

Profits are distributed from the pool such that the depositors (remunerative) only bear the
risk of assets in the pool during the profit calculation period. In case of loss in a pool during
the profit calculation period, the loss is distributed among the depositors (remunerative)
according to their ratio of Investments.

Asset pools are created at The Holding Company’s discretion and The Holding Company can
add, amend, transfer an asset to any other pool in the interests of the deposit holders.

Pool Management

The Holding Company operates general and specific pools for deposits and inter-bank funds
accepted / acquired under Mudaraba, Musharakah and Wakalah modes.

Under the general deposits pools, The Holding Company accepts funds on Mudaraba basis
from depositors (Rab-ul-Maal) where The Holding Company acts as Manager (Mudarib) and
invests the funds in the Shariah Compliant modes of financings, investments and placements.
When utilising investing funds, The Holding Company prioritizes the funds received
from depositors over the funds generated from own sources after meeting the regulatory
requirement relating to such deposits.

Specific pools are operated for funds acquired / accepted from the State Bank of Pakistan,
high-net worth customers and other banks for Islamic Export Refinance to Bank’s customers
and liquidity management respectively under the Musharakah / Mudaraba modes. The profit
of each deposit pool is calculated on all the remunerative assets booked by utilising the funds
from the pool after deduction of expenses directly incurred in earning the income of such
pool along with related fee income, if any. The directly related costs comprise of depreciation
on ijarah assets, takaful premium, documentation charges etc. No expense of general or
administrative nature of expense is charged to the pools. No provisions against any non-
performing asset of the pool is passed on to the pool except on the actual loss / write-off of
such non-performing asset. The profit of the pool is shared between equity and other members
of the pool on the basis of Musharakah at gross level (before charging of mudarib fee) as per
the investment ratio of the equity. The profit of the pool is shared among the members of
the pool on pre-defined mechanism based on the weightages announced before the profit
calculation period after charging of mudarib share.

The risk characteristic of each pool mainly depends on the assets and liability profile of each
pool. As per Bank’s policy, relatively low risk / secured financing transactions and assets are
allocated to general depositors pool of PKR, USD, GBP and Euro. The Holding Company
maintains General Pools, FI Pools, IERS pool and Equity pool. The general pools are exposed
to general credit risk, asset ownership risk and profit rate risk of the underlying assets
involved.

General Pool

For General Pools, The Holding Company allocates PKR financing to Corporate, SME and
Consumer Finance customers in diversified sectors and avenues of the economy / business
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as mentioned in the note 46.1.3. Investments in Sovereign Guarantee Sukuk, Bai Muajjal with
State Bank of Pakistan, Bai Muajjal with Government of Pakistan are also done through General
Pools. All remunerative deposits are tagged to these general pools and their funds generated
from the depositors are invested on priority basis. Due to limited investment options in USD,
GBP and EURO pool, funds from FCY pools are invested in available International Sukuk,
Shariah Compliant Nostro accounts and remaining funds are taken out and invested in PKR
general pool as part of equity. In such cases return from PKR General pool is given back to FCY
pools, so that returns can be passed on to FCY pool customers accordingly.

Special Mudarabah Pool

Special Mudarabah Pools are created to attract and retain clients expecting specific returns.
The funds received against these deposits are invested in various Shariah compliant assets.

Islamic export refinance scheme Pool

The IERS pool assets comprise of Sovereign Guarantee Sukuks, and financings to / sukuks of
blue chip companies and exporters as allowed under the applicable laws and regulations, and
as such are exposed to lower credit risk. The Musharakah with SBP under IERS is tagged to the
IERS pool.

Financial Institution (FI) Pool

The FI pool assets generally comprise of Sovereign Guarantee Sukuks only and the related
liability of the FI pool comprise of Musharakah / Mudarabah / Wakalah Acceptance from other
banks and financial institutions. These pools are created to meet the liquidity requirements of
The Holding Company.

6.15 Provisions and contingent assets and liabilities

Provisions are recognized when The Holding Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

Contingent assets are not recognised, and are also not disclosed unless an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. Contingent liabilities are disclosed unless the probability of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefit is remote.

Provisions for guarantee claims and other off balance sheet obligations are recognised when
intimated and reasonable certainty exists for The Holding Company to settle the obligation.
Charge to the profit and loss account is stated net of expected recoveries.

6.16 Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The cost of
acquisition is measured as the fair value of assets given, equity instruments issued and the
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of acquisition. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
if any. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration transferred over the
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fair value of The Holding Company’s share of identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the profit and loss account.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured, subsequent to initial recognition, at
its cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Acquisition of non-controlling interests (NCI) is measured at the proportionate share of the
NCI in the fair value of the net assets acquired by The Holding Company. The excess of fair
value of consideration transferred over the proportionate share of the NCI in the fair value of
the net assets acquired is recognised in equity.

6.17 Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of The Holding Company that is engaged in
providing products or services (business segment) or in providing products or services within
a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other segments.

As disclosed in note 2.4 to the financial statements, during the year, the SBP issued the revised
forms for the preparation of the annual financial statements of the banks which are applicable
for annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2018. The implementation of the revised
forms also changed the segment disclosures which are now required to be prepared under
IFRS 8 - “Operating Segments”.

IFRS 8 requires the entity to define operating segment based on various factors including
the basis on which operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating
decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its
performance and for which discrete financial information is available.

The Holding Company, for its internal performance management purposes, assesses its
performance as a single business unit only. However, recently the Holding Company has
changed its internal management reporting system where it has introduced the business
segment wise performance information and therefore the management expect that the business
segment wise information would be available in future. Accordingly, the disclosure has been
prepared on the basis given under the previous requirements.

6.17.1 Business segments

Trading and sales

It includes equity, foreign exchanges, commodities, credit, funding, own position securities,
placements and Islamic financing and related assets.

Retail banking

It includes retail Islamic financing and related assets, deposits and banking services offered to
its retail customers and small and medium enterprises.

Commercial banking

It includes project finance, export finance, trade finance, Ijarah, guarantees and bills of
exchange relating to its corporate customers.
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It includes the assets and liabilities relating to support functions at Head Office and their
related income and expenses.

Support Centre

6.17.2 Geographical segment
The Group operates only in Pakistan.
6.18  Non-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Assets acquired in satisfaction of claims are initially recorded at cost and revalued at each
year-end date of the statement of financial position. An increase in market value over the
acquisition cost is recorded as a surplus on revaluation. A decline in the market value is
initially used to reduce the surplus account, if any, or if no surplus exists, is charged to the
profit and loss account as an impairment. A subsequent increase in the market value of an
impaired asset is reversed through the profit and loss account up to the extent of the original
impairment. All direct costs of acquiring title to the asset are charged immediately to the profit
and loss account.

Depreciation on assets acquired in satisfaction of claims is charged to the profit and loss
account in line with depreciation charged on operating fixed assets.

These assets are generally intended for sale. Gains and losses realised on the sale of such assets
are disclosed separately from gains and losses realised on the sale of operating fixed assets
in the notes to these financial statements. If such asset is subsequently used by The Holding
Company for its own operations, the asset, along with any related surplus, is transferred to
operating fixed assets.

6.19 Earnings per share

The Holding Company presents basic and diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) for its shareholders.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of The
Holding Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares, if any.

6.20 Acceptances
Acceptances representing undertakings by The Holding Company to pay bills of exchange
drawn on customers are recognized as liabilities of The Holding Company at the date of
acceptance. Previously, acceptances were only recognized as off-balance sheet obligations and
disclosed under contingent liabilities.

6.21  Dividend distribution and transfer between reserves
Dividends declared and transfers between reserves made subsequent to the balance sheet

date are considered as non-adjusting events and are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the year in which such dividends are declared / transfers are made.
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7.1

7.2

7.3

8.1

CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS

Note 2018 2017
In hand: Rupees in ‘000
- local currency 3,619,317 3,648,276
- foreign currency 332,378 525,763
3,951,695 4,174,039
With the State Bank of Pakistan in:
- local currency current account 7.1 7,642,125 5,516,757
- foreign currency deposit accounts:
- Cash Reserve Account 7.2 268,835 188,575
- Special Cash Reserve Account 7.3 323,828 227,477
- US Dollar Clearing Account 26,604 12,120
619,267 428,172

With National Bank of Pakistan in:
- local currency current account 2,079,665 1,665,212
14,292,752 11,784,180

This represents Rs. 7,642.125 million (2017: Rs. 5,516.757 million) held against Cash Reserve
Requirement and Statutory Liquidity Requirement.

As per BSD Circular No. 15 dated June 21, 2008, cash reserve of 5% is required to be maintained
with the State Bank of Pakistan on deposits held under the New Foreign Currency Accounts
Scheme (FE-25 deposits).

Special cash reserve of 6% is required to be maintained with SBP on FE-25 deposits as
specified in BSD Circular No. 15 dated June 21, 2008. Balance held under this account is non-
remunerative.

BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS

Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
In Pakistan:
- in current accounts 7,665 4,499
- in deposit accounts 8.1 331,258 345,553
338,923 350,052
Outside Pakistan:
- in current accounts 825,630 799,303
1,164,553 1,149,355

These represent deposits with various Islamic commercial banks under Musharakah and
Mudarabah arrangements. The expected profit rate on these arrangements is 3.5% (2017: 2.8%)
per annum.
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9 DUE FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS - NET
Note 2018 2017
Rupees in “000
Wakalah Placement 9.1 534,039 1,716,767
Commodity Murabahah 9.2 17,639,465 19,655,020
18,173,504 21,371,787
Other placements 32,400 32,400
18,205,904 21,404,187
Provision against placements (32,400) (32,400)
18,173,504 21,371,787
9.1 This represents foreign currency placements and the profit rates on these agreements range

between 0.25% to 2.80% (2017: 0.15% to 2.85%) per annum. The agreements have maturities
ranging from 62 days to 181 days (2017: 92 days to 365 days).

9.2 The Holding Company has entered into Commodity Murabahah agreements under which the
Holding Company purchases an underlying commodity from open market through an agent
and sells it to a financial institution on credit with profit. The profit rates on the agreements
range between 10% to 10.75% (2017: 5.80% to 6.50%) per annum and the agreements have
maturities ranging from 2 days to 55 days (2017: 4 days to 90 days).

9.3 Particulars of amounts due from financial institutions with respect to currencies:

2018 2017
Rupees in “000

- In local currency 17,671,865 19,687,420
- In foreign currency 534,039 1,716,767
18,205,904 21,404,187
9.4 Securities held as collateral against amounts due from financial institutions
2018 2017
Held by Given as Total Held by Given as Total
the Bank collateral the Bank collateral

Rupees in ‘000

GOP Jjarah Sukuks 1,950,000 - 1,950,000 - - -
2018 2017
9.5 Category of classification Classified  Provision held Classified  Provision held
Placements Placements
Rupees in “000

Domestic

Other assets especially mentioned - - - -
Substandard - - - -
Doubtful - - - -
L